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Section 1: Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Macadamia Processing Co Ltd (MPC or the Company), it is our pleasure to invite you
to meetings of Shareholders to be held at 6pm (the Class Meeting) and 7pm (the Extraordinary General
Meeting) (AEDT) on 26 March 2019 at the Ballina RSL Club, 1 Grant Street, Ballina, New South Wales.
This booklet contains notices of meetings and explains the resolutions to be considered by Shareholders
at those meetings.
On 11 February 2019, MPC announced a transaction to acquire all the shares in Pacific Gold Macadamias
Pty Ltd (PGM) that it does not already own (Transaction). The resolutions to be considered at the meetings
are required to be passed in order to facilitate this Transaction.
Further details regarding the Transaction and a Proxy Form for each meeting are set out in this booklet.
The following meetings will be held:
1. a meeting of the holders of Ordinary Shares (Voting Shareholders) to approve variations to the
Ordinary Share class rights; and
2. an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to approve:
a.

the adoption of a new constitution (Replacement Constitution) in place of the Company’s existing
constitution (Current Constitution); and

b.

certain aspects of the Transaction for which approval is required under the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth), being:
i.

the issue of shares in the Company to entities associated with directors of the Company; and

ii.

the issue of shares in the Company to, and the acquisition of a Relevant Interest in Voting Shares
by, Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd.

The Transaction provides a number of benefits to the Company and its Shareholders, and represents the first
stage of a growth plan that MPC believes will assist its Growers to remain profitable and maintain farm values.
MPC was established 35 years ago to service the needs of macadamia growers who desired control over how
their crop was processed and marketed. Through the hard work of its growers, management and directors,
it is today a very efficient processor, well positioned both operationally and financially, and a company that
remains focussed on the needs of our Growers.
It would be a mistake, however, to think that MPC’s work was complete. World macadamia production
is expected to double over the next five years, and the majority of that growth will be outside Australia.
In order to maintain its influence and ability to help stabilise prices and protect farm values, MPC must
continue to grow.
The Transaction provides MPC with an avenue to grow by securing additional nut supply from Queensland,
the industry’s fastest growing domestic region.
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In addition, production efficiencies have been identified at PGM and work has commenced on achieving
these efficiencies. MPC management will oversee the continued implementation of this work once PGM
is acquired. These efficiencies will result in cost savings, which together with an increase in purchasing
power due to greater scale, make the combined business more profitable.
The Directors have also identified future opportunities to achieve operational efficiencies with the ability
to build shared infrastructure facilities, such as storage facilities, as both processors grow.
The Company encourages you to read this booklet and Explanatory Memorandum carefully for details about
the proposed resolutions. Should you have any queries relating to the shareholder meetings, please contact
the Transaction Manager, Andrea Lemmon, at alemmon@mpcmacs.com.au, or on 0407 417 286 or the
Company Secretary, Tim Gilmore, at tgilmore@mpcmacs.com.au, or on +61 2 6625 6359.
All of the proposed resolutions are conditional upon each of the other resolutions. Consequently, all of
the resolutions must be passed in order for the Transaction to proceed.
We look forward to continuing to work with Shareholders to position the Company for a strong future.

Chris Ford
Chairman

Larry McHugh
Chief Executive Officer
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Section 2: Location of meetings
and what you need to do
Location of meetings
6pm (the Class Meeting) and 7pm (the Extraordinary General Meeting) (AEDT) on 26 March 2019 at the
Ballina RSL Club, 1 Grant Street, Ballina, New South Wales.

What you need to do
Step 1: Read the Notice of Meetings and Explanatory Memorandum
This Explanatory Memorandum is intended to provide Shareholders with information about the proposed
Resolutions contained in the Notice of Meetings. You should read this Explanatory Memorandum in full
before making any decision in relation to the Resolutions.
Please refer to the Glossary in section 5 for the meaning of any defined terms in this Explanatory
Memorandum.

Step 2: Vote on the Resolutions
The Meetings will be held at 6pm (the Class Meeting) and 7pm (the Extraordinary General Meeting)
(AEDT) on 26 March 2019 at the Ballina RSL Club, 1 Grant Street, Ballina, New South Wales.
You can vote on the Resolutions by attending the Meetings and voting in person (or for a body corporate,
by a corporate representative voting for you) or by completing and returning the enclosed Proxy Forms.
Proxy Forms must be received by the Registry by 6pm (the Class Meeting) and 7pm (the Class Meeting)
(AEDT) on 24 March 2019. For details on how to complete and lodge the Proxy Forms, please refer to
the instructions on the Proxy Forms.

If you will be attending the meetings, please RSVP by telephoning 02 6624 3900
or emailing reception@mpcmacs.com.au for catering purposes.
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Section 3: Important notices
1.

Purpose of this document
This document is important and requires your immediate attention. If you are unsure what to
do or have any questions in relation to the Extraordinary General Meeting or the Class Meeting,
you should contact your legal, financial or other professional adviser as soon as possible.
Shareholders should carefully read this document and the risks set out in paragraph 9 of section 4.
This document has been prepared by MPC to provide Shareholders with information regarding
the Resolutions to be considered at the Meetings.

2.

Not investment advice
The information contained in this Explanatory Memorandum does not constitute financial advice
and has been prepared without taking into account the objectives, financial situation or needs
of individuals, including financial and taxation issues. If you are in any doubt in relation to these
matters, you should consult your financial, legal, taxation or other professional adviser.

3.

Disclaimer as to forward-looking statements
This Explanatory Memorandum contains certain “forward-looking” statements.
The forward-looking statements in this Explanatory Memorandum reflect views held only as
at the date of this Explanatory Memorandum, and generally may be identified by the use of
forward-looking words, such as ‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘expect’, ‘project’, ‘forecast’, ‘estimate’, ‘likely’,
‘intend’, ‘should’, ‘could’, ‘may’, ‘target’, ‘predict’, ‘guidance’ ‘plan’ or other similar words. Indications
of and guidance on, future earnings distributions, financial position and performance are also
forward-looking statements.
Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which are beyond the control of MPC, its officers,
employees, agents and advisers, that may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied in any forward-looking statements. Those risks and uncertainties include factors and risks
specific to the industry in which MPC operates, as well as general economic conditions, prevailing
exchange rates and conditions in the financial markets. The historical performance of MPC is no
assurance of its future financial performance. Actual events and results may differ materially from
the events or results expressed or implied in any forward-looking statement. MPC does not guarantee
any particular rate of return, repayment of capital or any particular tax treatment.

Section 4:
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Section 4: Explanatory Memorandum
1.

What is being considered at the Meetings?

1.1.

On 11 February 2019, MPC announced that it intended to acquire all shares in Pacific Gold
Macadamias Pty Ltd (PGM) that is does not already own (Transaction). This acquisition will
build upon its current holding of approximately 37% interest in PGM.

1.2.

The Directors have convened two meetings to consider the necessary Resolutions to complete the
Transaction. The first meeting seeks approval to vary the rights of Ordinary Shareholders and only
Ordinary Shareholders are entitled to attend and vote. The second meeting is an Extraordinary
Meeting which all Shareholders, including A and preference class Shareholders, may attend.
Only Ordinary Shareholders are entitled to vote.

2.

Transaction rationale

2.1.

MPC is the largest macadamia processor in Australia, and one of the largest in the world.
Its pre-eminent position, particularly in conjunction with its part ownership of Macadamia Marketing
International Pty Ltd ACN 147 689 987 (MMI), has afforded it the ability to influence the orderly
marketing and sale of a material portion of the global macadamia crop. MPC, because of its size,
has fulfilled an important role in opening new markets, growing demand for kernel, and directing nut
to customers who are expanding market share.

2.2.

MPC’s influence in the market place will only continue whilst it has scale, and with world macadamia
production set to double over the next five years, MPC must keep pace with this growth by increasing
its own access to nut, or risk being relegated in terms of its influence and contribution to the market.

2.3.

MPC seeks to be a significant contributor in creating a stable market with competitive pricing.
This in turn, has historically supported farm values, which is important for every MPC shareholder
and one of the main drivers of this Transaction.

2.4.

The acquisition of PGM, an asset which is well known to MPC, represents a low risk growth path that is
expected to provide MPC with the scale it requires to remain a significant player in the global market.

2.5.

In addition to maintaining relevance and influence within the global industry, the Transaction is also
expected to bring efficiencies and cost savings between the two entities. At present MPC provides back
office services to PGM. However, should the Transaction be approved, MPC will become responsible for
processing operations and it has identified efficiencies that can be achieved during this process.

2.6.

The cost of processing at PGM is higher on a per kilogram basis compared to MPC, and the improvement
of processing efficiencies is expected to deliver lower operating costs and improved profitability.

2.7.

Importantly, management will also have increased operational flexibility with the ability to direct nut
to where it can be processed most efficiently. This means that issues, such as factory breakdowns or
renovations, can be catered for within the combined group.

2.8.

There is also the opportunity to establish combined facilities, such as storage facilities, at central
locations that could serve both processors. This sharing of infrastructure is anticipated to result
in lower costs on a per unit basis.

2.9.

In summary, this Transaction provides a low risk growth path for MPC to ensure it retains its relevance
and scale within the global industry. This means that MPC expects to materially contribute to,
and influence, an orderly market, fostering long term stable prices. In addition, it is expected that
efficiencies and cost savings will be achieved by combining the management of the two processors,
with future opportunities to benefit from centralised, combined infrastructure and facilities.
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2.10. Figure 1 below demonstrates the entities that are part of the Transaction and shows how the
Transaction changes the relationship between those entities. As a consequence of the Transaction,
MPC would grow its asset base by approximately 50%, with PGM becoming a wholly owned
subsidiary of MPC. Further, MMI will upon Completion, be a subsidiary of MPC. MMI will continue
to market the nuts from both processors.

Figure 1: High level view of ownership changes
Before Transaction
Costi entity

Growers

10.12%

Zadro entities

27.32%

Zadro entity

62.56%

Costi entity
18.52%

37.04%
37.04%

MPC

PGM

50%

7.41%

Manera joint
holding

50%

MMI

Other suppliers

Market Place

After Transaction
Costi entity
14.48%

Zadro entities

Manera joint
holding

Growers

34.43%

48.43%

2.66%

MPC

100%

50%

PGM
50%

MMI

Market Place

Other suppliers

MPC
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3.

Details of Pacific Gold Macadamias Pty Ltd (PGM)

3.1.

PGM was established at its current site in Bundaberg in 2011. It encompasses 6.25 hectares (ha)
of land, including 4 ha of macadamia orchard, which is currently operated by one of its shareholders.
Queensland is the fastest growing domestic macadamia region with orchards stretching from the
Glasshouse Mountains in the south to Rockhampton and Emerald in the north. All nut processed
by PGM is marketed through MMI.

3.2.

PGM is currently jointly owned by MPC and three other shareholders. Two of those shareholders
are entities associated with Zadro family entities and Costi Consolidated Pty Ltd, who are also
shareholders of MPC via associated entities.

Figure 2: Current PGM ownership

MPC

37.04%

Capital
Commercial
Pty Ltd 1

Costi
Consolidated
Pty Ltd2
18.52%

37.04%

Manera joint
holding
7.41%

PGM

1. Controlled by the Zadro family. Holding in PGM may be transferred to a related entity,
Saratoga Holdings, prior to Completion.
2. Controlled by the Costi family.
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The PGM process is similar in operation to MPC; however, it has the benefit of a retail packaging
line that is used for a major Australian supermarket. The amount of nut processed by PGM has
grown rapidly over the past five years and is expected to continue to grow with Queensland
experiencing the highest rate of growth in macadamia plantings.

Figure 3: PGM and MPC production (actual and forecast) compared to Australian
production (tonnes)
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019(f)

PGM

6,855

8,894

10,303

9,370

11,531

12,000

MPC

9,846

10,728

11,257

11,150

12,907

13,500

Combined production

16,701

19,622

21,560

20,520

24,438

25,500

Australian production

43,600

48,300

52,000

46,000

52,900

55,000

% of Aust production

38%

41%

41%

45%

46%

46%

4.

Key terms of the Transaction

4.1.

It is proposed that MPC acquire the shares in PGM that it does not own by issuing new MPC
shares in exchange for PGM shares. No cash would be exchanged. The two parties have agreed
to undertake the exchange at a ratio based on the respective forecast net asset values of MPC
and PGM at 31 March 2019.

4.2.

The auditor of both MPC and PGM has undertaken a review of each entities’ accounts as at
30 September 2018. MPC’s reviewed accounts are attached at Annexure C and further financial
information is contained in this section and in the Independent Expert report.
The key terms of the Transaction are set out in Figure 4 below.

Figure 4: Key terms of Transaction
Description

All PGM shares on issue that are not currently owned by MPC will be acquired
by MPC

Consideration

One MPC share for each 5.359 PGM shares owned based on forecast net asset
value of MPC and PGM at 31 March 2019. A total of 634,415 new MPC shares
would be issued. The equivalent cash on this basis is $8,577,285

Conditions precedent

MPC obtaining any necessary statutory approvals of the Transaction
MPC obtaining shareholder approval to execute the Transaction and
undertake the necessary constitutional changes
PGM shareholders executing a Supply Agreement with MPC

Completion

Expected to be four weeks after MPC shareholder meetings

Costs

Each party bears its own costs in the Transaction

MPC
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The main Transaction document is a Share Sale Agreement that each Seller will execute. The Share
Sale Agreement with Capital Commercial Pty Ltd (the Zadro family controlled entity) has also been
entered into with Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd (another entity which is controlled by the Zadro family),
as the Zadro family have indicated that they may undertake a restructure of their holding in PGM
prior to Completion. This will have no impact on the Transaction.
As at the date of this Explanatory Memorandum, the Company has received confirmation from the
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission that it has no objection to the Transaction.

Figure 5: MPC shareholdings pre and post Transaction
Pre Transaction
Growers

Zadro entity

Saratoga Holdings
Pty Ltd1

62.56%

27.32%

10.12%

MPC

Post Transaction
Growers

Saratoga Holdings
Pty Ltd1

48.43%

Costi Consolidated
Pty Ltd2

34.43%

14.48%

MPC

1. Controlled by the Zadro family and includes the interests of related entities.
2. Controlled by the Costi family.

Manera joint
holding
2.66%
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Advantages of the Transaction
The anticipated advantages to MPC of completing the Transaction include:
a. Relevance and reliability – a larger MPC is expected to provide greater influence to support
the industry through stable, competitive prices paid to farmers as well as continued investment
into infrastructure.
b. Efficiencies and savings – an increase in purchasing power and the identification of synergies
across the combined business is anticipated to lower costs on a per unit basis.
c. Operational flexibility – it is intended that MPC and PGM would be managed as a joint
operation, with nut directed to where it can be processed most efficiently.
d. Combined facilities – the acquisition of PGM is expected to provide the opportunity to
establish joint infrastructure such as storage facilities at central locations.
e. Income return – at present MPC does not receive a dividend from PGM; instead, the change
in its investment value is recognised on MPC’s capital account. Once PGM is 100% owned by
MPC, profits from PGM will flow to MPC.
f. Reduced cost of capital – MPC benefits from co-operative taxation status, making capital investments
and improvement very cost effective. It is expected that the acquisition would result in this benefit
being extended to any capital expansion undertaken by the combined group, resulting in new capital
projects having a lower cost of capital than if undertaken outside the co-operative status.

6.

Disadvantages of the Transaction
The anticipated disadvantages to MPC of completing the Transaction include:
a. Debt – PGM has a higher level of debt than MPC and thus MPC’s debt will increase.
Management has undertaken extensive modelling and is confident that the level of debt
post-Transaction is within acceptable limits and manageable within normal budgetary constraints.
b. Concentration of ownership – At present, the largest shareholding in MPC is a Zadro controlled
entity holding 27.32%. Zadro entities also own shares in PGM and thus its shareholding will
increase to 34.43% as a result of the Transaction. Securing the Zadro production is critical to
the success of MPC and thus, in the view of the Directors, this concentration of ownership is
necessary and acceptable.
c. Performance of the merged group – MPC has historically paid a dividend to its shareholders
whereas PGM has reinvested all profits back into its business to support its growth. There will
be more shares on issue following the Transaction and if management are not able to deliver
the identified synergies and all other operating costs at both processors were unchanged,
the dividend may be reduced.
d. Transaction costs – MPC management estimates that costs associated with the Transaction
will be approximately $1m. This amount includes approximately $450,000 of stamp duty that
will only be incurred if the Transaction proceeds.

7.

What happens if the Transaction is approved?
If the Resolutions are approved by Shareholders at the Meetings, and all conditions precedent are
completed, MPC will acquire all shares in PGM that it does not already own. It will then operate
MPC and PGM as one business for the benefit of MPC Shareholders.

Section 4: Explanatory Memorandum
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What happens if the Transaction is not approved?
If the Resolutions are not approved by Shareholders at the Meetings, MPC will not acquire PGM and
it will continue to manage the company in its normal manner. It is possible that MPC will become
less influential in the global macadamia industry as that industry grows.

9.

Risks associated with the Transaction
Competition

9.1.

It is possible that another processor could seek to take market share by attracting growers who
currently deliver to MPC or PGM. If a lower amount of nut is processed, the cost per kilogram
increases and profit decreases.

9.2.

MPC and PGM seek to mitigate this risk by being efficient processors that pay competitive prices for
macadamias. In addition, they offer additional services to macadamia growers such as agronomic advice.

Industry risk
9.3.

The acquisition of PGM increases MPC’s exposure to the macadamia industry. There is a risk that
there could be a prolonged downturn in this industry due to a number of factors including reduced
demand for macadamias, drought, disease and the like, which may result in lower prices for growers.
Given that there are fixed costs in operating the processing infrastructure, lower prices result in
proportionately higher costs which in turn potentially decreases profitability.

9.4.

MPC and PGM seek to mitigate this risk through their ownership of MMI. MMI plays an active
part in developing new markets for macadamias and ensuring large customers, such as national
supermarkets, have reliable supply of product.

Variation in climatic risk profile
9.5.

Acquiring PGM will give MPC a greater exposure to Queensland macadamia production.
Whilst overall climatic risk profile is reduced due to the increase in the number of production
areas that MPC will source nuts from, any adverse weather events in the Queensland region
may have a greater impact on MPC than they currently do.

9.6.

This risk is mitigated through the different Queensland regions that are currently supplying PGM.
It is highly unlikely that the entire area from the Glasshouse mountains in the south to Rockhampton
and Emerald in the north would be affected by one climatic event.

Concentration of shareholding
9.7.

The largest MPC shareholder also has ownership in PGM and will move from 27% ownership to 34%
ownership as a result of the Transaction. Shareholders should be aware that a larger Shareholding may
also (depending upon the number of Shareholders who vote upon an ordinary resolution of MPC)
enable that shareholder to possibly pass or block an ordinary resolution of MPC by virtue of their
voting power.

9.8.

It is noted that the largest MPC shareholder (Zadro controlled entities) currently deliver around 36%
of the crop processed at MPC and PGM. This large amount of crop is important in terms of reducing
the fixed cost of processing which benefits all shareholders.

18
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10. Directors interests
Figure 6: Directors interests as at 1 March 2019
Director

Christopher Robert Ford
Peter John Costi
& associated entities
Scott David Norval*
Peter Michael Zadro
& associated entities
Andrew Jon Leslie**

No of
shares preTransaction

% ownership
(rounded to 2
decimal points)

No of
shares postTransaction

% ownership
(rounded to 2
decimal points)

3,713

0

3,713

0

220,196

10.12

406,789

14.48

0

0

0

0

594,180

27.32

967,365

34.43

1,229

0

1,229

0

* Scott David Norval manages the 259 ha of orchards owned Rural Funds Management who hold 63,072 Ordinary Shares.
** Certain family members of Andrew Jon Leslie also own 990 Ordinary Shares.

11. Financial Impact
11.1. It is anticipated that following the successful completion of the Transaction, certain synergies
between MPC and PGM will result in cost savings across the group. The realisation of each cost
saving noted below is subject to a number of factors, some of which are beyond the control of
management, and potential cost savings may or may not be realised.
11.2. The most significant cost saving that has been identified is the potential to reduce the cost of processing
at PGM to a similar level to that of MPC. As part of the due diligence that MPC has undertaken, it has
identified that the cost of processing at PGM is higher than MPC. Every processor has different costs
due to a number of reasons, including the age of processing infrastructure, the intellectual property
of the processor operators, and the quality of the crop that is delivered (which can be influenced by
a variety of factors, including the climate and pests); however, MPC management has identified a
number of areas where it is believed that PGM processing costs can be reduced.
11.3. Processing costs are commercially sensitive information and, as Shareholders would expect,
each processor keeps details of their processing costs confidential. The Independent Expert has
been provided with the assumptions that relate to the cost savings in the processing operation,
including the rate and timing at which cost savings may be achieved.
11.4. Further ongoing costs savings have been identified through the abolition of the PGM board, as it
is intended the MPC board will provide oversight of both MPC and PGM and from an increase in
purchasing power as a result of the increased scale of MPC. The Independent Expert has reviewed
the proposed costs savings and notes that the cost savings identified by management are expected
to deliver $1.45million per annum within three years from the completion of the Transaction.
11.5. Annexure C contains the 30 September 2018 accounts reviewed by MPC’s auditor, RSM Bird
Cameron. As Shareholders would be aware, MPC’s business and its cash flows are driven by
harvest cycles and the subsequent sale of the macadamias. By the end of March each year,
the sales have been finalised and associated revenue received.  Given this cyclical nature,
and the fact that completion of the Transaction, if approved by Shareholders, is likely to occur
in April, the financial information below uses 31 March 2018 accounts in order to reflect the
Transaction at the most logical point in the annual cycle.

MPC

Section 4: Explanatory Memorandum

19

11.6. Figures 7 and 8 provide information from the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement
of Financial Position for MPC from statutory accounts as at 31 March 2018 (MPC Consolidated
2018 includes MPC’s 50% share of MMI and 37% share of PGM). The Post-Acquisition column
includes the impact of the Transaction had it occurred at 31 March 2018. The proforma is simply
an aggregation of MPC, PGM (100% ownership) and MMI (100% ownership). It does not reflect
synergies that may be achieved.

Figure 7: Proforma Statement of Comprehensive Income
MPC Consolidated
statutory accounts

MPC Pro-forma
post-Acquisition

31 March 2018

31 March 2018

$

$

85,272,938

169,573,791

115,674

130,561

-68,112,812

-138,567,228

626,498

5,757,916

Employee benefits expense

-8,884,742

-16,434,841

Storage and transport costs

-353,318

-3,227,995

Depreciation and amortisation expense

-1,218,098

-2,678,393

Other expenses

-3,931,342

-8,460,668

-267,077

-938,641

756,733

0

4,004,454

5,154,502

Income tax expense

-1,003,304

-1,596,387

Profit for the year

3,001,150

3,558,115

Comments

Continuing operations
Revenue
Other income
Raw materials and consumables used
Changes in inventories on hand

Finance costs
Share of net profits of associates
and joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method

Profit before income tax expense

Acquisition costs of
$1m included

Change of
accounting treatment
for PGM and MMI
shares from equity
accounting to reflect
accounting treatment
for 100% ownership
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Figure 8: Proforma Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018
MPC Consolidated
statutory accounts

MPC Pro-forma
post-Acquisition

31 March 2018

31 March 2018

$

$

192,287

1,203,320

Trade and other receivables

11,007,004

16,906,563

Inventories

11,875,400

26,544,690

Comments

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets
Other assets

26,544,690
82,634

185,354

23,157,325

44,877,519

4,630,321

0

300,000

300,000

Property, plant and
equipment

11,099,227

25,007,635

Deferred tax assets

620,778

704,173

Total non-current assets

16,650,326

26,011,808

Total assets

39,807,651

70,889,327

Trade and other payables

4,836,234

16,508,611

Borrowings

3,995,000

11,044,503

942,925

942,925

1,424,981

1,852,962

681,848

716,062

11,880,988

31,065,063

Total current assets

Includes an allowance
for estimated $1m in
acquisition costs

Non-current assets
Investments accounted for
using the equity method

Trade and other receivables

Current liabilities

Deferred revenue
Short-term provisions
Current tax payable
Total current liabilities

Investment in PGM
& MMI currently
accounted for using
equity accounting
method. Post acquisition
consolidation on
actual basis

MPC
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MPC Pro-forma
post-Acquisition

31 March 2018

31 March 2018

$

$
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Comments

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

2,400,000
1,475,000

Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term provisions

3,490,000
306,257

57,343

87,257

1,532,343

6,283,514

Total liabilities

13,413,331

37,348,577

Net assets

26,394,320

33,540,750

4,404,013

10,408,013

Retained earnings

21,990,307

23,132,737

Total equity

26,394,320

33,540,750

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Issued capital

Includes elimination of
loan from MPC to PGM
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12. Opinion of the Independent Expert
12.1. The Independent Expert Report is at Annexure B. The Independent Expert Report has concluded
that the Transaction is NOT FAIR BUT REASONABLE to Non-Associated Shareholders (as that
term is defined in the Independent Expert Report).
12.2. This opinion is based on the value per MPC share before the Proposed Transaction (on a control
basis) to the assessed value of the Merged Group after the Proposed Transaction (on a minority
basis), as required by ASIC guidelines for the preparation of these type of reports.
Note that the Independent Expert Report goes on to state1 that:
In our opinion, the rationale of the Proposed Transaction is to formally combine the operations of the two
businesses to enhance the ability of the Merged Group to withstand the structural changes in the industry,
rather than strictly a change of control of MPC, especially as both companies have a similar shareholder base.
Accordingly, we believe it is appropriate to also illustrate to the Non-Associated Shareholders a
comparison of the value per MPC share before and after the Proposed Transaction on a like-for-like
basis (i.e. control basis).
Fairness assessment

Section reference*

Low

High

Value of MPC shares before the
Proposed Transaction (on a control basis)

8

23.69

28.27

Value of the Merged Group
(on a control basis)

9

27.98

33.57

4.29

5.30

18.1%

18.8%

$A per share

Premium (discount)
Premium (discount) %

Note: The value of the Merged Group (on a control basis) consists of the equity value (on a control basis) divided by shares outstanding.

As set out in the table above, the Proposed Transaction is value accretive and compelling for the
existing MPC Shareholders subject to the realisation of the anticipated cost synergies arising from
the combination of the two businesses which are included in our valuation assessment of the
Merged Group (refer to section 9.1.5 for further details).
The comparison on a like for like basis also indicates that no financial benefit is provided to the
Related Parties.
* Refers to a section reference of the Independent Expert Report.

1

Page 4 of the Independent Expert Report.

Notice of
Class Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd
ACN 002 607 972
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Notice of Class Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd ACN 002 607 972
Notice is given that a meeting of the Ordinary Shareholders of Macadamia Processing Co Ltd (Company)
will be held at:
Location

Ballina RSL Club, 1 Grant Street, Ballina, New South Wales

Date

26 March 2019

Time

6pm (AEDT)

The accompanying Explanatory Memorandum further describes the matter to be considered. Definitions in
section 5 of that Explanatory Memorandum also apply to this Class Notice.

Special Business
Variation of class rights
1. To consider and, if in favour, to pass the following as a special resolution of Ordinary Shareholders:
‘Pursuant to section 246B(2) of the Corporations Act and subject to the adoption of the Replacement
Constitution at the Extraordinary General Meeting, any variation to the rights attaching to ordinary shares
in the Company which arise as a result of the adoption of the Replacement Constitution (as set out in
Resolution 1 of the Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting) be approved.’
Dated 1 March 2019
By order of the Board

Tim Gilmore
Company secretary

Notes
a.

A member who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy.

b.

The proxy need not be a member of the Company. A member who is entitled to cast two or more votes may appoint two proxies
and may specify the proportion or number of votes each proxy is appointed to exercise.

c.

If you wish to appoint a proxy and are entitled to do so, then complete and return the attached proxy form.

d.

A corporation may elect to appoint a representative in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) in which case the Company will
require written proof of the representative’s appointment which must be lodged with or presented to the Company before the meeting.

e.

If you have any queries on how to cast your votes then call Andrea Lemmon, Transaction Manager, 0407 417 286 during business hours.

Additional
information –
Class Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd
ACN 002 607 972
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Additional information –
Class Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd ACN 002 607 972
Resolution 1: Class Resolution
Variation of class rights
1. If the proposed Replacement Constitution is adopted, the rights attaching to Ordinary Shares
will be modified.
2. Details of the changes to the rights attaching to Ordinary Shares are set out in the Schedule.
Some key changes that should be noted include:
a.

under rule 4.6 of the Replacement Constitution, if a Voting Shareholder who (together with
its Associates) is entitled to appoint a Director under rule 15.3(a) wishes to dispose of any
shares it holds in the Company, it must comply with the pre-emptive rights procedure in rule 11;

b.

under rule 15.3(a) of the Replacement Constitution, a Voting Shareholder (together with its
Associates) may appoint and remove, by notice to the Company, one Director for every 11%
of Ordinary Shares it (together with its Associates) holds in the Company (up to a maximum of
three Directors); and

c.

under rule 15.3(c) of the Replacement Constitution, a Voting Shareholder who (together with its Associates)
is entitled to appoint a Director under rule 15.3(a) is not entitled to vote upon a resolution for the
appointment or re-election of a Director nominated by the Board or a Shareholder under rule 18.3.

Voting
3. Pursuant to section 246B of the Corporations Act and rule 3.7(a) of the Current Constitution, any
consequential variation to the rights attaching to any share class as a result of modification to the
Company’s Current Constitution can only be effected if passed by a special resolution at a separate
meeting of the shareholders who hold shares in the class being varied (being, in the current
circumstances, Ordinary Shareholders).

Conditions
4. Resolution 1 (the Class Resolution) is subject to:
a.

the adoption of the Replacement Constitution at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company;

b.

the issue of shares to Related Parties of the Company; and

c.

the acquisition of a Relevant Interest in Voting Shares by Saratoga Holdings (as the adoption of
the Replacement Constitution is subject to the approval of the resolutions regarding the entry
into the Transaction and issue of the Consideration Shares).

Additional information – Class Meeting
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Date of effect
5. If the Class Resolution is approved by Ordinary Shareholders, the Company intends to adopt the
Replacement Constitution with effect from the date that is one month from the date of the Extraordinary
General Meeting, subject to all resolutions being passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting.
6. The Company will notify Ordinary Shareholders of the variation of the class rights attaching to ordinary
shares within seven days of the conclusion of the Extraordinary General Meeting, and subject to the
approval of the Resolutions proposed to be passed at that Extraordinary General Meeting.

Recommendation
7. The Directors recommend that the holders of Ordinary Shares vote in favour of the Class Resolution.

Schedule
Summary of key variations of Ordinary Share class rights
Rule

Amendment

Effect on Ordinary Share class rights

4.6 and 11

Voting Shareholders who (together
with their Associates) are entitled to
appoint a Director must comply with
the pre-emptive rights in rule 11.

The class rights of Ordinary Shares are varied by the
amendment as Shareholders, in certain circumstances,
are restricted from disposing of their shares in their
own discretion, in particular circumstances being
where that Shareholder holds a sufficient number
of Ordinary Shares, such that it (together with its
Associates) is entitled to appoint a Director.

15.3(a)

Voting Shareholders (together with their
Associates) may appoint and remove one
Director for each 11% of Ordinary Shares
which that Voting Shareholder (together
with its Associates) holds in the Company,
up to a maximum of three Directors.

The class rights of Ordinary Shares are varied by
the amendment as holders of Ordinary Shares are
granted the right to appoint a Director, subject
to and conditional upon, holding the prescribed
threshold of Ordinary Shares.

15.3(c)

Voting Shareholders who (together with
their Associates) are entitled to appoint
a director are not entitled to vote on the
appointment, or re-election of, directors
appointed by the Board or otherwise
nominated for election by Shareholders.

The class rights of Ordinary Shares are varied by
the amendment as holders of Ordinary Shares are
restricted from voting upon specific resolutions
in particular circumstances. A Voting Shareholder
who holds 11% or more of Ordinary Shares will
be restricted from voting on any resolution for the
appointment or re-election of a Director to fill a
casual vacancy or as nominated by Shareholders
under rule 18.3.

Notice of
Extraordinary
General
Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd
ACN 002 607 972

Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting
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Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd ACN 002 607 972
Notice is given that an extraordinary general meeting of Macadamia Processing Co Ltd (Company) will be held at:
Location

Ballina RSL Club, 1 Grant Street, Ballina, New South Wales

Date

26 March 2019

Time

7pm (AEDT)

The accompanying Explanatory Memorandum further describes the matter to be considered. Definitions
in section 5 of that Explanatory Memorandum also apply to this Notice of Meeting.

Special Business
Replacement of constitution
1. To consider, and if in favour, pass the following as a special resolution:
‘For the purposes of section 136(2) of the Corporations Act 2001, the Company’s Current Constitution
be repealed and replaced with the Replacement Constitution (as that term is defined in the Explanatory
Memorandum), subject to the approval of the Class Resolution and Resolutions 2 and 3.’

Giving of a financial benefit to a Related Party
2. To consider, and if in favour, pass the following as an ordinary resolution:
‘For the purposes of section 208 of the Corporations Act, and for all other purposes, approval is given
to the Company to give a financial benefit to related parties of the Company, being:
a.

Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 000 636 859, an entity associated with Mr Peter Zadro, a director of
the Company; and

b.

Costi Consolidated Pty Ltd ACN 141 272 522, an entity associated with Mr Peter Costi, a director of
the Company,

subject to the approval of the Class Resolution and Resolutions 1 and 3.’
For the purposes of section 208 Corporations Act, an Independent Expert’s Report prepared by
Grant Thornton (Independent Expert) is included as Annexure B to this Notice of Meeting.
The Independent Expert has concluded that the Proposed Transaction (as that term is defined in
the Independent Expert’s Report) is not fair but reasonable to the Non-Interested Shareholders.
Further details regarding the Proposed Transaction (as that term is defined in the Independent Expert’s
Report) and the conclusion of the Independent Expert are set out in the Independent Expert’s Report and in
the accompanying Explanatory Memorandum. The Non-Interested Directors recommend that Shareholders
read the Explanatory Memorandum and Independent Expert’s Report in full before making any decision on
how to vote on Resolution 2. If Shareholders have any queries regarding the Transaction or how to vote on
Resolution 2, they should contact their professional adviser.
A copy of this Notice of Meeting, together with the Explanatory Memorandum and other accompanying
documents, has been lodged with ASIC in accordance with section 218 of the Corporations Act.
Neither ASIC nor its officers take any responsibility for the contents of this Explanatory Memorandum.

30

MPC

Notices of shareholders’ meetings and explanatory memorandum

Voting exclusion statement for Resolution 2
The Company will disregard any votes cast on Resolution 2 by:
a.

a Related Party of the Company to whom the resolution would permit a financial benefit to be given;

b.

any Associate of such a Related Party,

in contravention of section 224 Corporations Act. However, the Company need not disregard a vote
cast on Resolution 2 if:
c.

it is cast by the person as a proxy appointed in writing that specifies how the proxy is to vote on
the proposed resolution; and

d.

it is not cast on behalf of a Related Party or an Associate of a Related Party of the Company to whom
the resolution would permit a financial benefit to be given or any Associate of such a Related Party.

Approval of issue of Consideration Shares and acquisition of a Relevant Interest in
Voting Shares
3. To consider and, if in favour, pass the following as an ordinary resolution:
‘For the purposes of item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act, and for all other purposes, approval
is given for the Company to enter into and give effect to the Transaction (as that term is defined in the
Explanatory Memorandum), including:
a.

an increase in the Voting Power of Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 000 636 859 (including its
Associates) from 30.90% to 37.83%: and

b.

the issue of the Consideration Shares to and the acquisition of a Relevant Interest in those shares by
Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 000 636 859,

(each more fully described in the Explanatory Memorandum), subject to the approval of the Class Resolution
and Resolutions 1 and 2.’
For the purposes of item 7 of section 611 Corporations Act, an Independent Expert’s Report prepared
by Grant Thornton (Independent Expert) is included as Annexure B to this Notice of Meeting.
The Independent Expert has concluded that the Proposed Transaction (as that terms is defined in the
Independent Expert’s Report) is not fair but reasonable to the Non-Interested Shareholders.
Further details regarding the Proposed Transaction (as that term is defined in the Independent Expert’s
Report) and conclusion of the Independent Expert are set out in the Independent Expert’s Report
and in the accompanying Explanatory Memorandum. The Non-Interested Directors recommend that
Shareholders read the Explanatory Memorandum and Independent Expert’s Report in full before making
any decision on how to vote on Resolution 3. If Shareholders have any queries regarding the Transaction
or how to vote on Resolution 3, they should contact their professional adviser.

Voting exclusion statement for Resolution 3
The Company will disregard any votes cast in favour of Resolution 3 by the person proposing to make
the acquisition of Voting Shares and their Associates.
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Dated 1 March 2019
By order of the Board

Tim Gilmore
Company secretary

Notes
a.

A member who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy.

b.

The proxy need not be a member of the Company. A member who is entitled to cast two or more votes may appoint two proxies
and may specify the proportion or number of votes each proxy is appointed to exercise.

c.

If you wish to appoint a proxy and are entitled to do so, then complete and return the attached proxy form.

d.

A corporation may elect to appoint a representative in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) in which case the Company will
require written proof of the representative’s appointment which must be lodged with or presented to the Company before the meeting.

e.

If you have any queries on how to cast your votes then call Andrea Lemmon, Transaction Manager on 0407 417 286 during
business hours.

Additional
information –
Extraordinary
General
Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd
ACN 002 607 972
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Additional information –
Extraordinary General Meeting
Macadamia Processing Co Ltd ACN 002 607 972

Brief overview
This meeting is open for all MPC Shareholders to attend and is designed to consider three resolutions:
the replacement of the MPC Constitution (resolution one), the giving of a financial benefit to entities
related to MPC (resolution two), and the issue of new MPC shares to a substantial shareholder in MPC,
Saratoga Holdings (resolution three). Only the holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to vote upon these
resolutions.

Resolution 1: Amendments to constitution
Background
1. The Current Constitution was adopted on 30 November 2009 at an Extraordinary Meeting.
2. The Board proposes to repeal the Company’s Current Constitution by replacing it with the
Replacement Constitution.
3. The Replacement Constitution will be tabled by the Chairman at the Extraordinary General Meeting,
and is available on the Company’s website at https://mpcmacs.com.au/about-us/pgm-purchaseproposal/. Annexure A to the Notice of Meeting contains a copy of the Current Constitution, which
has been marked-up to incorporate the amendments proposed in the Replacement Constitution.
4. To incorporate the amendments, for simplicity the Company proposes that the Current Constitution
be repealed and the Replacement Constitution adopted.
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Summary of changes
5. Complete details of all the changes to be made to the Current Constitution are set out in Annexure A
of this Explanatory Memorandum which Shareholders are encouraged to read in full. The table below
summarises the key proposed changes:
Rule

Topic

Effect of amendment

1.1

Definitions

A number of new definitions have been inserted as a result of the
amendments to the operative provisions listed below, including the
change of the Prohibited Shareholding Interest from 30% to 45%.

4.6

Restriction
on transfer

If a Voting Shareholder who (together with its Associates) is entitled to
appoint a Director under rule 15.3(a) wishes to dispose of any shares it
holds in the Company, it must first comply with the pre-emptive rights
provision in rule 11.

4.7

Provision of
information

In order for the Board to review the entitlement of Shareholders to
appoint a Director under rule 15.3(a), Shareholders must notify the
Board of any change to its Relevant Interest in Ordinary Shares within
seven days after the date on which the relevant change occurred.

11

Pre-emptive rights

Where a Voting Shareholder who (together with its Associates) is entitled
to appoint a Director under rule 15.3(a) wishes to dispose of any shares
it holds in the Company, that Shareholder must first offer the shares it
wishes to dispose of, to other shareholders, in proportion to their existing
holding of shares in that class. The offer must be on the same terms and
at the same price as those to the proposed transferee. Where the offers
are not accepted for the full amount of shares to be transferred, the
shares may be transferred to the proposed transferee.
Rule 11 does not apply to a transfer between Associates.

15.1(a)

Board composition

The number of Directors is seven.
The composition of the Board is determined firstly by the Voting Shareholders
in accordance with clause 15.3(a). Where the number of Directors appointed
under rule 15.3(a) is less than seven, additional Directors are appointed firstly
by Shareholders in accordance with clause 18.3 and then by the Board under
clause 15.2 to take the total number of Directors to seven.

15.1(c)

Increase in number
of Directors

The number of Directors may only be increased with the approval of at
least 75% of the Directors.

15.3(a)

Nominee Director
appointment

A Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) may appoint and
remove, by notice to the Company, one Director for every 11% of Ordinary
Shares it holds in the Company (up to a maximum of three Directors).

15.3(c)

Restriction
on voting

A Voting Shareholder who (together with its Associates) is entitled to
appoint a Director under clause 15.3(a) is not entitled to vote upon a
resolution for the appointment or re-election of a Director nominated
by the Board or a Shareholder under clause 18.3.
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Rule

Topic

Effect of amendment

16.3

Vacation of office
of nominee
Director

Subject to the Corporations Act, a Director appointed by a Voting
Shareholder (together with its Associates) under clause 15.3(a) may only
be removed by the appointing Shareholder, and automatically ceases as
a Director if the appointing Shareholder (together with its Associates)
ceases to hold the required percentage of Ordinary Shares.
Where more than one Director is appointed by that Voting Shareholder
(together with its Associates), that Voting Shareholder must nominate
the Director to cease within three days of it ceasing to hold the required
number of Ordinary Shares. If no nomination has provided, the Director
most recently appointed by that Voting Shareholder (together with its
Associates) automatically ceases.

18.1

Exception to
retirement by
rotation

A Director appointed by a Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates)
is exempt from the requirement to retire at the conclusion of the second
annual general meeting after which that Director was elected or re-elected.

20.1

Quorum

The quorum for Directors’ meetings has been increased from two to four.

21.9

Disposal of
substantial asset

The disposal of a substantial asset (being an asset equal to or greater
than 20% of the Company’s net equity or the net equity of the applicable
Subsidiary of the Company) requires the approval of at least 75% of
the Directors.

Director appointment
6. A Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) is entitled to appoint a nominee Director to the
Board for each 11% of Ordinary Shares that it holds (but may nominate no more than three Directors).
Any such nominee Directors remain subject to the Corporations Act, and the duties that a Director
owes to a company at law.
7. The number of Directors is increased to seven, to be filled firstly by any nominee Directors (if any
Voting Shareholder and its Associates is entitled to appoint a Director). The remaining Board positions
are then to be filled, where the number of Voting Shareholder nominee Directors is less than seven,
as nominated by Shareholders under rule 18.3, and if not filled as nominated by Shareholders, by the
Board under rule 15.2.
8. Any Voting Shareholder (and its Associates) who is entitled to appoint a Director is restricted from voting
on the appointment of a Director nominated by the remaining Shareholders of the Company, so as to
ensure that the interests of the remaining Shareholders are represented by that Director or Directors.
9. The number of Directors may only be increased by a decision of the Directors having in aggregate at
least 75% of the votes capable of being cast at a Board meeting if all Directors are present.
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Restriction on disposal
10. Any Voting Shareholder who is entitled to appoint a Director will be restricted from disposing of shares
in the Company, without first complying with the pre-emptive rights procedure in rule 11 of the
Replacement Constitution.
11. Under rule 11 of the Replacement Constitution, such a Voting Shareholder must first offer any of its
shares that it wishes to transfer to existing shareholders, in proportion to their existing holding of
shares in that class. The shareholders in that class may also elect to over-accept the offer. The offer
must be made on the same terms as to the proposed transferee.
12. If the shares to be transferred are not accepted by existing shareholders in that class in full, those
shares may be transferred to the proposed transferee.
13. Rule 11 does not apply to transfers between Associates.
14. These provisions are inserted to provide protection from a substantial shareholder in the Company
disposing of their interest to a third party who may then be entitled to appoint a Director, and to
ensure that the members of the Company remain predominantly its growers.

Prohibited Shareholding Interest
15. The Current Constitution places a restriction upon any one Shareholder holding more than 30%
of the capital of the Company, being a Prohibited Shareholding Interest (and requires any such
Shareholder to take steps to dispose of such number of shares as to reduce its shareholding to
below the Prohibited Shareholding Interest).
16. The Prohibited Shareholding Interest threshold is required to be increased from 30%, as the
consideration under the Transaction is the issue of the Consideration Shares to the Sellers which will
result in the interests of a Shareholder of the Company becoming a Prohibited Shareholding Interest
under the Current Constitution.
17. The concept of the Prohibited Shareholding Interest is designed to maintain protections for minority
Shareholders, and to ensure that there are limitations on the ability for any one Shareholder to control
or exert significant influence on the activities of the Company.
18. Under the Replacement Constitution, the Prohibited Shareholding Interest is increased from 30%
to 45%. The Directors are of the view that the increased threshold of the Prohibited Shareholding
Interest is necessary for the Transaction to proceed.

Approval requirements
19. Section 136(2) of the Corporations Act requires that the Company pass a special resolution at a
general meeting to replace the Current Constitution. Accordingly, at least 75% of the votes cast
by Voting Shareholders at the Meeting must vote in favour of the resolution for it to be passed.
20. Resolution 1 is conditional upon Resolutions 2 and 3 and the Class Resolution being passed. If any
of these resolutions are not approved, the Replacement Constitution will not be adopted.

Recommendation
21. For the reasons set out above, the Directors believe that the Replacement Constitution should be
adopted.
22. Accordingly, the Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 1.
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Resolution 2: Giving of a financial benefit to a Related Party
23. As part of the Transaction, certain arrangements will be effected with Related Parties of the Company.
All Directors, in the interest of good governance, believe that it is prudent to seek Shareholder
approval for the purposes of section 208 of the Corporations Act.

Background
24. Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act regulates the provision of ‘financial benefits’ to Related Parties of
a public company (such as the Company). Section 208 of the Corporations Act provides that, for the
Company to give a ‘financial benefit’ to a Related Party of the Company, the Company must obtain
the approval of Shareholders in the manner set out in Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act and give
the benefit within 15 months of such approval, unless:
a.

the giving of the ‘financial benefit’ falls within one of the exemptions set out in Chapter 2E of the
Corporations Act; or

b.

the giving of the ‘financial benefit’ is required under a contract that was approved by Shareholders
in the manner set out in Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act.

Related Parties
25. For the purposes of Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act:
a.

Saratoga Holdings is a Related Party of the Company because Mr Peter Zadro, who controls
Saratoga Holdings, is also a director of the Company;

b.

Costi Consolidated is a Related Party of the Company because Mr Peter Costi, who controls
Costi Consolidated (which is the trustee of the PJC Trust), is also a director of the Company; and

c.

various aspects of the Transaction (as outlined below), if completed, will involve the ‘giving of a
financial benefit’ to both Saratoga Holdings and Costi Consolidated.

Giving a financial benefit to a Related Party
26. MPC is of the view that the following aspects of the Transaction may constitute the giving of a
‘financial benefit’ to Saratoga Holdings and Costi Consolidated for the purposes of Chapter 2E
of the Corporations Act:
a.

the issue of the Consideration Shares to the Sellers; and

b.

acquiring the PGM Shares from the Sellers.

27. Further detail regarding the Consideration Shares to be issued as part of the Transaction are set
out below.
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Value of financial benefit
28. Each Consideration Share to be issued has a deemed value of 5.359 PGM Shares, determined by
comparing the forecast net asset values of both the Company ($29,408,063) and PGM ($13,624,349)
per share as at 31 March 2019.
29. The Consideration Shares are to be issued to each of the Sellers, relative to their existing shareholding
in PGM. A summary of the value of the Consideration Shares is included in the table below:
Shareholder

PGM Shares

Ownership of PGM

Consideration Shares

Deemed Value

Saratoga Holdings

2,000,000

37.04%

373,185

$5,045,462

Costi Consolidated

1,000,000

18.52%

186,593

$2,522,731

400,000

7.41%

74,637

$1,009,092

3,400,000

62.96%

634,415

$8,577,285

Manera joint holding
Total

30. The terms of the Transaction and the consideration payable under the Transaction with respect to the
relevant Related Party are no more favourable than the terms that are offered to the remaining Seller
which is not a Related Party of the Company.
31. The Consideration Shares will be issued upon the same terms and rank equally with existing Ordinary Shares.

Interests of Non-Interested Shareholders
32. The table below sets out the interests in Voting Shares of Saratoga Holdings, Costi Consolidated
(including their Associates) and the Non-Interested Shareholders both before and after Completion
of the Transaction:
Before Transaction
Shareholder2

Following Transaction

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Voting
Power

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Voting
Power

1,360,631

57.65%

1,435,268

46.26%

Saratoga Holdings

594,181

30.90%

967,365

37.83%

Costi Consolidated

220,196

11.45%

406,789

15.91%

Non-Interested Shareholders

Total

100%

100%

33. Shareholders should be aware that, depending on the number of Shareholders which elect to vote
on future resolutions of the Company, the voting of Saratoga Holdings and Costi Consolidated may
significantly influence the outcome of any proposed resolution of the Company.

2

Includes the interest of Associates.
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Approval requirements
34. At least 50% of votes cast by Voting Shareholders at the Meeting must vote in favour of resolution 2
for it to be passed. No votes may be cast by:
a.

a Related Party of the Company to whom the resolution would permit a financial benefit to be given;

b.

any Associate of such a Related Party,

in contravention of section 224 of the Corporations Act.
35. This means that Saratoga Holdings and Costi Consolidated and any of their Associates are excluded
from voting upon Resolution 2.
36. Resolution 2 is conditional upon Resolutions 1 and 3 and the Class Resolution being passed.

Recommendation of Non-Interested Directors
37. Having regard to the fact that these financial benefits form part of the overall Transaction and the
finding of the Independent Expert, the Non-Interested Directors consider that the financial benefits
to be given to Saratoga Holdings and Costi Consolidated are reasonable in the circumstances.
38. Accordingly, the Non-Interested Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 2.
39. Mr Peter Zadro and Mr Peter Costi refrain from making a recommendation as to how to vote upon
resolution 2, on the basis that they each have a material personal interest in the outcome of the
resolution as a Related Party to whom the resolution would permit a financial benefit to be given.
40. Mr Peter Zadro and Mr Peter Costi did not participate in Board resolutions regarding the negotiation
of and the approval of the Transaction.

Resolution 3: Issue of the Consideration Shares to Saratoga Holdings
41. Section 606 of the Corporations Act prohibits a person from acquiring a Relevant Interest in voting
shares in the Company, if that acquisition would result in that person or someone else’s Voting
Power increasing:
a.

from 20% or below to more than 20%; or

b.

from a starting point that is above 20% and below 90%.

42. For the purposes of calculating Voting Power for a particular person, that person’s interests in voting
shares are aggregated with that of the interests of its Associates. Voting shares in the Company are
Ordinary Shares. There are several exceptions to the prohibition in section 606, as set out in section
611 of the Corporations Act. Relevantly, item 7 of section 611 allows Shareholders to approve an
acquisition of Relevant Interests in voting shares that would otherwise contravene the prohibition in
section 606 of the Corporations Act.

Issue of Consideration Shares
43. Saratoga Holdings and Associates currently hold 594,181 Ordinary Shares.
44. The issue of the Consideration Shares to Saratoga Holdings under the Transaction will cause the
Voting Power of Saratoga Holdings to increase from a starting point that is above 20% and below 90%.
45. Accordingly, the approval of Voting Shareholders is sought for the acquisition of a Relevant Interest
by Saratoga Holdings in 373,185 shares under item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act.
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Voting Power and dilutive effect of the Transaction
46. As at the date of this Explanatory Memorandum, Saratoga Holdings has Voting Power in the Company
of 30.90%. Following the completion of the Transaction, Saratoga Holdings will have Voting Power of
37.83% in the Company.
47. The Voting Power in MPC of Saratoga Holdings, listed by its Associates, is determined as follows:
Saratoga Holdings
Entity

Ordinary Shares

Voting Power

319,690

16.63%

62,600

3.26%

211,890

11.02%

1

0% (rounded to 2 decimal places)

594,181

30.90%

Saratoga Holdings
New Line Investments Pty Ltd
UniFact Pty Ltd
Zadro F.C.
Total

48. The interests in Voting Shares of Saratoga Holdings (including its Associates) and other Shareholders,
both before and following Completion, are set out in the table below:
Before Transaction
Shareholder3

Saratoga Holdings
Other Shareholders
Total

Following Transaction

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Voting
Power

Number of
Ordinary Shares

Voting Power

594,181

30.90%

967,365

37.83%

1,580,827

69.10%

1,842,057

62.17%

100%

100%

49. Shareholders should be aware that the Voting Power of Saratoga Holdings, together with its Associates,
both before and after completion of the Transaction, gives Saratoga Holdings the ability to block any
proposed special resolution of the Company (which must be approved by 75% of the votes cast).
50. Depending on the number of Shareholders which elect to vote on future resolutions of the Company,
the Voting Power of Saratoga Holdings, together with its Associates, may also give Saratoga Holdings
the ability to pass or block any proposed resolution of the Company (which must be approved by 50%
of the votes cast). For example, where only 50% of Shareholders (including Saratoga Holdings and its
Associates) vote upon a proposed ordinary resolution, the Voting Power of Saratoga Holdings will be
sufficient to mean that Saratoga Holdings may determine the outcome of such resolution.

3

Includes the interest of Associates.
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Intentions of Saratoga Holdings
51. The intentions of Saratoga Holdings as set out in this section have been formed on the basis of facts
and information concerning the Company and its subsidiaries, and the general business environment,
which are known to Saratoga Holdings at the time of preparing this Explanatory Memorandum.
Final decisions will only be reached by Saratoga Holdings in light of material information and circumstances
at the relevant time. Accordingly, the statements set out in this section are statements of current
intention only and accordingly may vary as new information becomes available or circumstances
change. Saratoga Holdings reserves the right to depart from any of the stated intentions below.
52. Saratoga Holdings has indicated that, if the Transaction is approved and completed, Saratoga Holdings
intends for the Company to continue to execute its current growth strategy. In particular, Saratoga Holdings
has no current intention to:
a.

change the business of the Company;

b.

inject further capital into the Company;

c.

change the future employment of employees;

d.

undertake proposals where assets will be transferred between the Company and Saratoga Holdings
or its associates;

e.

otherwise redeploy the fixed assets of the Company;

f.

make any further changes to the composition of the Board, other than as described in this section; and

g.

significantly change the financial or dividend distribution policies of the Company.

53. Subject to the completion of the Transaction, Saratoga Holdings intends to appoint the following people
as a Director of the Company:

Peter Zadro
Mr Peter Zadro is an existing Director of the Company and the Chairman of Macadamia
Marketing International.
Peter is the General Manager of Hinkler Park Plantation in Queensland and Victoria Park Plantation
in NSW, in Australia. The Zadro family Australian macadamia operations have over 7,000 acres
of macadamia orchards and two nurseries in Queensland with approx. 700,000 trees. Peter is
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Saratoga Holdings group. In South Africa Peter is a director of
Barberton Valley Plantation with over 2,000 acres of macadamia orchards and a director of Global
Macadamias Pty Ltd, a processing company in South Africa. Saratoga Holdings also has shares in
Suncoast Gold Macadamias.   
His introduction to the macadamia industry began when he helped his father, Phil Zadro, convert a
dairy farm to macadamias in 1980 at Victoria Park Plantation. After obtaining an Honours Degree
in Agriculture he worked for the Department of Agriculture and did further studies in Information
Technology. Following this Peter was engaged by multi-national tele-communication Corporations
undertaking project management positions in Australia and Europe. In 2005 Peter made a decision
to return to the family businesses to assist with its growth and expansion, succession planning and
eventually a progression to the CEO position.
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Fermino (Phil) Zadro
Carpentry, Joinery & Clerk of Works San Vito Al Tagliamento, Italy
Diploma in Industrial Design-East Sydney TAFE
Mr Phil Zadro has been a company Director and managing director of a number of construction
companies and businesses from 1958 to present. He has also been a grower and developer of
farms and nurseries in the macadamia industry since 1979.
Phil is a founding member of and was a director of MPC until 2003, and a founding member
(through related entities) of and director of Pacific Gold Macadamia Pty Ltd to the present.
He is also a founding member (through related entities) and current director of Macadamia Marketing
International Pty Ltd and Global Macadamias Pty Ltd and related entities.
Phil is a director and shareholder of Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd, and its related entities, being a key
supplier to MPC and PGM. He oversees farming and nursery operations of macadamia nuts for holdings
totalling approximately 9,000 acres worldwide in Australia and South Africa.

Annette Fontana
Bachelor of Arts/Master of Laws-University of Technology, Sydney
Graduate Member of Australian Institute of Company Directors since 2003
Ms Fontana has 28 years’ experience as a practising lawyer and is currently a partner with a law firm
in the Sydney CBD, as the leader of the Property and Commercial Law team. Her areas of practice
include corporations law and all aspects of business and commercial law.
Ms Fontana is a shareholder and director of Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd, and its related entities, and
oversees its operations in Australia and South Africa. Annette was previously a director of MPC
from 2003 until 2012, and is currently a director of Pacific Gold Macadamia Pty Ltd and Macadamia
Marketing International Pty Ltd.
She has been involved as a shareholder and director in the macadamia industry since the 1980s.
54. The table below includes a summary of information required to be given to Shareholders under the
Corporations Act, or recommended to be provided to Shareholders under ASIC’s Regulatory Guide 74:
Information
Identity of the person proposing to make the
acquisition and their Associates

Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd
The Associates of Saratoga Holdings are set out
in the table in paragraph 47.

Maximum increase in that person’s Voting Power
in the Company

The maximum increase in Voting Power is from
30.90% to 37.83%.

Voting Power that person would have as a result
of the acquisition

37.83%

Maximum increase in the Voting Power of that
person’s Associates as a result of the Acquisition

The maximum increase in the Voting Power of the
Associates of Saratoga Holdings is from 30.90%
to 37.83%.

Voting Power that each of that person’s Associates
would have as a result of the acquisition

37.83%
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Approval requirements
55. At least 50% of votes cast by Voting Shareholders at the Meeting must vote in favour of Resolution 3
for it to be passed. No votes may be cast in favour of the resolution by the person proposing to make
the acquisition of Voting Shares (or their Associates).
56. This means that Saratoga Holdings any of its Associates are excluded from voting upon Resolution 3.
57. Resolution 3 is conditional upon Resolutions 1 and 2 and the Class Resolution being passed.

Recommendation of Non-Interested Directors
58. Having regard to the fact that these financial benefits form part of the overall Transaction and the
finding of the Independent Expert, the Non-Interested Directors recommend that Shareholders vote
in favour of Resolution 3.
59. Mr Peter Zadro refrains from making a recommendation as to how to vote upon Resolution 3, on
the basis that he has a material personal interest in the outcome of Resolution 3 as an Associate of
Saratoga Holdings, being the person proposing to make the acquisition of Voting Shares for which
approval is sought under Resolution 3.

Section 5:
Glossary
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Section 5: Glossary
Capitalised terms contained in this Explanatory Memorandum will have the same meaning as provided in
the Replacement Constitution and otherwise as defined below.
Term

Definition

Agreements

means the three share sale agreements entered into between the Company and the
Sellers on substantially the same terms, for the sale to the Company of all of the issued
shares in PGM which each Seller holds. A reference to an ‘Agreement’ correspondingly
refers to a single one of the Agreements.

ASIC

means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Associate

has the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act.

Board

means the Board of Directors of the Company.

Class Meeting

means the meeting of the holders of Ordinary Shares to be held immediately prior to the
Extraordinary General Meeting, to approve the Class Resolution.

Class Notice

means the notice of meeting of Ordinary Shareholders contained within this booklet and
accompanied by the Explanatory Memorandum and proxy forms and instruction sheets.

Class Resolution

means a resolution approving the consequential variations to the rights attaching to
Ordinary Shares as a result of the adoption of the Replacement Constitution.

Company

means Macadamia Processing Co Ltd ACN 002 607 972.

Completion

means the completion of the Transaction under the Agreements.

Consideration Shares

means the Ordinary Shares to be issued to the Sellers as consideration for the sale of
the PGM Shares, determined at a ratio of one new Ordinary Share for each 5.359 PGM
Shares the relevant Seller holds.

Corporations Act

means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Costi Consolidated

means Costi Consolidated Pty Ltd ACN 141 272 522 as trustee for the PJC Trust.

Current Constitution

means the constitution of the Company adopted on 30 November 2009, as amended
from time to time.

Directors

means the Directors of the Company.

Explanatory
Memorandum

means the explanatory memorandum and accompanying material contained in and
forming part of this Notice of Meeting and Class Notice.

Extraordinary General
Meeting

means the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be held immediately
following the Class Meeting, to approve Resolutions 1 to 3.

Independent Expert

means Grant Thornton Corporate Finance Pty Limited ACN 003 265 987.

46

MPC

Notices of shareholders’ meetings and explanatory memorandum

Term

Definition

Independent Expert
Report

means the report of the Independent Expert dated 6 February 2019 and contained in
Annexure B.

Non-Interested
Directors

means:

Non-Interested
Shareholders

means:

a. in respect of resolution 2, Christopher Ford, Scott Norval, and Andrew Leslie; and
b. in respect of resolution 3, Christopher Ford, Scott Norval, Peter Costi and Andrew Leslie,
as the context requires.

a. in respect of resolution 2, all Shareholders other than Saratoga Holdings
and Costi Consolidated and their Associates; and
b. in respect of resolution 3, all Shareholders other than Saratoga Holdings
and its Associates,
as the context requires.

Notice of Meeting

means the notice of extraordinary general meeting of the Company contained in this
booklet, and accompanied by the Explanatory Memorandum and proxy forms and
instruction sheet.

Ordinary Share

means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Prohibited
Shareholding Interest

has the meaning given to that term in the Current Constitution.

Related Party

has the meaning given to that term in section 228 of the Corporations Act.

Relevant Interest

has the meaning given to that term in section 608 of the Corporations Act.

Replacement
Constitution

means the clean copy replacement constitution which incorporates the amendments
made in mark-up to the Current Constitution, as set out in Annexure A, to be
tabled by the Chairman at the Extraordinary General Meeting and available at
https://mpcmacs.com.au/about-us/pgm-purchase-proposal/.

PGM

means Pacific Gold Macadamias Pty Ltd ACN 131 614 408.

PGM Shares

means all of the issued capital in PGM which is not already held by the Company.

Saratoga Holdings

means Saratoga Holdings Pty Ltd ACN 000 636 859.

Shareholder

means a shareholder of the Company.

Sellers

means:
a. Saratoga Holdings and Capital Commercial Pty Ltd ACN 002 560 474;
b. Costi Consolidated; and
c. John Joseph Manera, John Manera, T Manera and K.M. Manera,
as at the date of this Explanatory Memorandum, and for the avoidance of doubt,
includes any entity to whom a Seller transfers any of its interests in the PGM Shares
to after the date of this Explanatory Memorandum.
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Term

Definition

Transaction

means the acquisition of the PGM Shares by the Company, in consideration for
the issue of the Consideration Shares to the Sellers.

Voting Power

has the meaning given to that term in section 610 of the Corporations Act.

Voting Shareholder

means the holder of an Ordinary Share.
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Annexure A
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Constitution of Macadamia Processing Co Limited
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vii

A company limited by shares
Constitution of Macadamia Processing Co Limited ACN 002 607 972

1

General

1.1

Name of company
The name of the Company is Macadamia Processing Co Limited ACN 002 607 972.

1.2

Liability of members
The liability of the Shareholders is limited.

1.3

Replaceable Rules
The Replaceable Rules do not apply to the Company.

1.4

Objects of the Company
The objects for which the Company is established are:
(a)

to acquire macadamia nuts from Shareholders for disposal or distribution;

(b)

to acquire any other commodities from Shareholders for disposal or distribution;

(c)

to acquire commodities for disposal or distribution amongst Shareholders;

(d)

to store, market, package or process macadamia nuts and other commodities acquired or
otherwise received from Shareholder;

(e)

to render services to Shareholders;

(f)

to undertake such further or other activities and do all such other acts, matters and
things as in the opinion of the Board may be incidental or conducive to the attainment of
any of the objects stated in rules 1.4(a) to 1.4(e).

2

Definitions and interpretation

2.1

Definitions
In this document:
Term

Definition

Acceptance Notice

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.3.

Acceptance Period

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.3.

Active Grower

has the meaning provided in rules 4.2 and 4.3 of this document.

Allocation

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.2.
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Term

Definition

ASIC

means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission or its
successors in title.

Associate

has the meaning given to that term by section sections 10 to 17 of
the Corporations Act as if sections 10 to 17 of the Corporations Act
included a reference to this document.

Board

means the board of directors of the Company.

Business Day

means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in
Lismore, New South Wales.

Call

includes any instalment of a call and any amount due on allotment
of any share.

Chairman

includes an acting Chairman under rule 13.612.6.

Committee

means a committee to which powers have been delegated by the
Board pursuant to rule 20.719.7.

Company

means Macadamia Processing Co Limited ACN 002 607 972.

Corporations Act

means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Designated Shares

has the meaning set out in rule 25.2(b)24.2(b).

Director

means a director of the Company.

Directors’ Special
Resolution

means a resolution of the Board having, in aggregate, at least 75%
of all votes capable of being cast at a Board meeting if all Directors
are present.

Dispose

means sell, transfer, assign, alienate, surrender, dispose of,
deposit, lease, part with possession of and enter into any
agreement or arrangement to do or allow any of these things.
Disposal has a corresponding meaning.

Dispute

has the meaning provided in rule 26.125.1.

Dispute Notice

has the meaning provided in rule 26.225.2.

Expert

has the meaning provided in rule 26.5(a)25.5(a).

Expert Determination
Notice

has the meaning provided in rule 26.425.4.

Financial Year

means a period of 12 consecutive calendar months ending on
31 March each year.

Force Majeure Event

means any occurrence or omission outside a party’s reasonable
control, as a direct or indirect result of which the party relying on
the event is prevented from or delayed in performing its obligations
under this document (other than a payment obligation), and
includes:

50821916v11

|

(a)

a physical natural disaster including fire, flood, lightning,
drought or earthquake;

(b)

war or other state of armed hostilities (whether war is
declared or not), insurrection, riot, civil commotion, act of
public enemies, national emergency (whether in fact or in
law) or declaration of martial law;

(c)

epidemic, disease, plague or quarantine restriction;

(d)

ionising radiation or contamination by radioactivity from
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any nuclear waste or from combustion of nuclear fuel;

Government Agency

(e)

confiscation, nationalisation, requisition, expropriation,
prohibition, embargo, restraint or damage to property by or
under the order of any Government Agency;

(f)

law taking effect after the date of this document; and

(g)

strike, lock-out, stoppage, labour dispute or shortage
including industrial disputes that are specific to a
Shareholder or the Shareholder’s subcontractors.

means:
(a)

a government or government department or other body;

(b)

a government, semi-governmental or judicial person; or

(c)

a person (whether autonomous or not) who is charged
with the administration of a law.

Managing Director

means the person appointed to that position under rule 19.118.1.

Meeting Date

has the meaning provided in rule 26.3(c)25.3(c).

Personal Hardship

means circumstances where a shareholder is:
(a)

unable to supply nuts;

(b)

unable to produce nuts; or

(c)

it is uneconomic to do (a) or (b) and the shareholder can
demonstrate this to the Board.

Prescribed Period

has the meaning provided in rule 4.84.7.

Prohibited Shareholding
Interest

a person has a Prohibited Shareholding Interest if the person
has a Relevant Interest in more than 3045% of the shares on issue
in the Company.

Notified person

has the meaning provided in rule 4.84.7.

Offeree

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.1.

Office

means the registered office of the Company.

Register

means the register of Shareholders of the Company and includes a
branch register of Shareholders established pursuant to rule 2221.

Registered Address

means the address of a Shareholder specified on a transfer in the
Register or any other address of which the Shareholder notifies the
Company as a place at which the Shareholder will accept service of
notices.

Relevant Interest

has the meaning given to that term by sections 608 and 609 of the
Corporations Act as if sections 608 and 609 of the Corporations Act
included a reference to this document.

Replaceable Rules

means all or any of the replaceable rules contained in the
Corporations Act from time to time and includes any replaceable
rule that was or may become, a provision of the Corporations Act.

Respective Proportions

means:
(a)
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Security, the proportions which their respective
shareholdings bear to the shares in the class of a Transfer
Security; or
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Definition
(b)

when used about less than all of the Shareholders in the
class of a Transfer Security, the proportions which their
respective shareholdings bear to their aggregate
shareholdings in the class of the Transfer Security.

Retiring Director

means a Director who is required to retire under rule 18.117.1 and
a Director who ceases to hold office under rule 18.217.2.

Seal

means the common seal, if any, of the Company.

Season

means a period commencing on the date of adoption of this
document up until 31 January 2010 and thereafter for a period of
12 consecutive months commencing on 1 February each year and
ending on 31 January in the following year.

Secretary

means a person appointed as secretary of the Company and
includes any person appointed to perform the duties of secretary.

Securities

includes shares, rights to shares, options to acquire shares and
other securities with rights of conversion to equity.

Security Holder

means a holder of Securities of the Company in accordance with
the Corporations Act.

Seller

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.1.

Share Issue Agreement

means an agreement entered into between a Shareholder and the
Company, in a form prescribed by the Board from time to time,
where a Shareholder agrees to purchase shares in the Company on
the terms and conditions set out in the agreement.

Shareholder

means a member in accordance with the Corporations Act.

Shareholders Present

means Shareholders present and entitled to vote at a general
meeting of the Company in person or by duly appointed
representative, proxy or attorney.

Shareholding Account

means an entry made in the Register in respect of a Shareholder
for the purpose of providing a separate identification of some or all
of the shares registered from time to time in the name of the
Shareholder.

Specified Price

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.1(c).

Specified Shares

has the meaning provided in rule 4.84.7.

Subsidiary

has the meaning given to that term in the Corporations Act.

Substantial Asset

means any asset representing more than 20% of the net equity of
the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company.

Supply Agreement

means an agreement entered into between a Shareholder and the
Company, in a form prescribed by the Board from time to time, for
the supply and purchase of macadamia nuts, where the terms of
the Supply Agreement must include that the number of shares held
by a Shareholder does not exceed 200 shares for each 4047 square
metres of land planted with macadamia trees at a commercially
viable density and owned, leased or otherwise in possession of
such Shareholder and on other terms.

Supply Conditions

means the conditions of supply of macadamia nuts by a
Shareholder to the Company as provided for in this Constitution
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Surplus Assets

in the event of the winding up of the Company, means any net
assets and any undistributed profits that the Company’s liquidator
determines, in its absolute discretion, may be returned to
Shareholders after all debts and claims have been discharged by
the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act (including
any share capital subscribed in respect of redeemable preference
shares which are required to be repaid in accordance with this
document).

Transfer Notice

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.1

Transfer Securities

has the meaning given to that term in rule 11.1(a).

Voting Shareholder

means any Shareholder that holds ordinary class shares in the
Company.

and in the Supply Agreement.

2.2

Interpretation
In this document:
(a)

a singular word includes the plural and vice versa;

(b)

a word which suggests one gender includes the other gender;

(c)

a reference to a rule, schedule, annexure or party is a reference to a rule of, and a
schedule, annexure or party to, this document and references to this document include
any schedules or annexures;

(d)

a reference to a party to this document or any other document or agreement includes the
party’s successors, permitted substitutes and permitted assigns;

(e)

if a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding
meaning;

(f)

a reference to a document or agreement (including a reference to this document) is to
that document or agreement as amended, supplemented, varied or replaced;

(g)

a reference to this document includes the agreement recorded by this document;

(h)

a reference to legislation or to a provision of legislation (including subordinate legislation)
is to that legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced, and includes any subordinate
legislation issued under it;

(i)

if any day on or by which a person must do something under this document is not a
Business Day, then the person must do it on or by the next Business Day;

(j)

a reference to a person includes a corporation, trust, partnership, unincorporated body,
government and local authority or agency, or other entity whether or not it comprises a
separate legal entity; and

(k)

a reference to ‘month’ means calendar month.

(l)

the headings do not affect the construction of these rules; and
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(m)

an expression used in a particular part, division, schedule or regulation of the
Corporations Act that is given a special meaning has, in any of these rules that deals with
a matter dealt with by that part, division, schedule or regulation, unless the contrary
intention appears, the same meaning as in that part, division, schedule or regulation.

3

Shares

3.1

Issue of shares and options
Without prejudice to any special rights conferred on the holders of any shares, any share in the
capital of the Company may be issued with preferred, deferred or other special rights, obligations
or restrictions, whether in regard to dividends, voting, return of share capital, payment of Calls or
otherwise, as the Board may from time to time determine. Except as provided by contract or
these rules to the contrary, all unissued shares are under the control of the Board which may
grant options to any person to subscribe for such shares, issue option certificates in respect of
the shares, allot or otherwise dispose of the shares on the terms and conditions and for the
consideration it thinks fit. The Company is to maintain a register of options in accordance with
the Corporations Act.

3.2

Power to pay commission and brokerage
The Company may pay a commission to any person in consideration of the person subscribing or
agreeing to subscribe, whether absolutely or conditionally, for any shares in the Company, or
procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions, whether absolutely or conditionally, for any
shares in the Company. The commission may be paid or satisfied in cash or in shares,
debentures or debenture stock of the Company or otherwise. The Company may in addition to or
instead of commission pay any brokerage permitted by law.

3.3

Surrender of shares
In its discretion, the Board may accept a surrender of shares by way of compromise of any
question as to whether or not those shares have been validly issued or in any other case where
the surrender is within the powers of the Company. Any shares surrendered may be sold or
re-issued in the same manner as forfeited shares.

3.4

Joint holders
Where two or more persons are registered as the holders of any shares, they are deemed to hold
the shares as joint tenants with benefits of survivorship subject to the following provisions:
(a)

(number of holders) the Company is not bound to register more than three persons
as the holders of the shares (except in the case of trustees, executors or administrators
of a deceased Shareholder);

(b)

(liability for payments) the joint holders of the shares are liable severally as well as
jointly in respect of all payments which ought to be made in respect of the shares;

(c)

(death of joint holder) on the death of any one of the joint holders, the survivor is
the only person recognised by the Company as having any title to the shares but the
Board may require evidence of death;

(d)

(power to give receipt) any one of the joint holders may give a receipt for any
dividend, bonus or return of capital payable to the joint holders;
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3.5

(e)

(notices and certificates) only the person whose name stands first in the Register as
one of the joint holders of the shares is entitled, if the Company is required by the
Corporations Act to issue certificates for shares, to delivery of a certificate relating to the
shares or to receive notices from the Company and any notice given to that person is
deemed notice to all the joint holders; and

(f)

(votes of joint holders) any one of the joint holders may vote at any meeting of the
Company either personally or by duly authorised representative, proxy or attorney, in
respect of the shares as if that joint holder was solely entitled to the shares. If more
than one of the joint holders are present at any meeting personally or by duly authorised
representative, proxy or attorney, the joint holder who is present whose name stands
first in the Register in respect of the shares is entitled alone to vote in respect of the
shares.

Non-recognition of equitable interests, etc.
Except as otherwise provided in these rules, the Company is entitled to treat the registered
holder of any share as the absolute owner of the share and is not, except as ordered by a Court
or as required by statute, bound to recognise (even when having notice thereof) any equitable or
other claim to or interest in the share or the part of any other person.

3.6

Issue of redeemable preference shares
Subject to the Corporations Act, any redeemable preference shares are liable to be redeemed at
the option of the Company and otherwise on such terms and in such manner as the Board
determines before the issue.

3.7

Variation of rights
(a)

The rights attached to any class of shares (unless otherwise provided by the terms of
issue of the shares of that class) may, whether or not the Company is being wound up,
be varied with the consent in writing of members with at least 75% of the votes in the
class, or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the
holders of the shares of that class.

(b)

The rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or
other rights are, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of the shares
of that class, deemed not to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking
equally with the first-mentioned shares.

4

Restrictions on Shareholdings

4.1

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares must only be held by persons reasonably determined by the Board to be Active
Growers in accordance with rules 4.2 and 4.3.

4.2

Supply Conditions
(a)

Unless determined otherwise by the Board under rule 4.2(b), a Shareholder must meet
certain Supply Conditions in order to be deemed an Active Grower. These Supply
Conditions include supplying:
(i)
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(ii)

(b)

4.3

the Company with macadamia nuts grown on land the subject of the Share Issue
Agreement and the Supply Agreement which is owned or leased by or otherwise
in the possession of the holder of the shares (or its Associate), and not from any
other source, provided the macadamia nuts are of a standard acceptable to the
Company.

In the event a person is unable to meet any of the Supply Conditions as a direct or
indirect consequence of a Force Majeure Event or Personal Hardship, then the Board
may, in its absolute discretion, waive any of the Supply Conditions, such that the person
will be deemed to be an Active Grower, notwithstanding any failure to supply macadamia
nuts.

Active Growers
A person will be deemed to be an Active Grower if the Board is satisfied that they:

4.4

(a)

are a grower of macadamia nuts in Australia;

(b)

are a party to a Supply Agreement with the Company and remain a party to a Supply
Agreement for so long as they hold shares; and

(c)

have met the Supply Conditions.

Prohibited Shareholding Interests
A person must not have a Prohibited Shareholding Interest.

4.5

Requirement to dispose of shares that are a Prohibited Shareholding Interest
A person who has a Prohibited Shareholding Interest must dispose of, or cause to be disposed of,
as many of the shares in the Company so as to ensure that, after the disposal, the person no
longer has a Prohibited Shareholding Interest.

4.6

Restriction on Disposal of shares by Voting Shareholders
If a Shareholder is a Voting Shareholder (and together with its Associates is entitled to appoint
one or more Directors under rule 15.3(a)) and wishes to dispose of any shares in the Company,
that Shareholder must comply with the provisions of rule 11.

4.64.7 Board may requestProvision of information
(a)

A Shareholder must notify the Board of any change to its Relevant Interest in ordinary
shares (either directly or through its Associates) as soon as is reasonably practicable and
no later than seven days after the date on which the relevant change occurred.

(a)(b) The Board may, by notice in writing served on a person who has, or is suspected by the
Board of having, any legal or beneficial interest in any shares in the Company or any
voting power in the Company, require the person to furnish information specified in the
notice for the purpose of determining whether that person or any other person has, or is
taking action to acquire, a Prohibited Shareholding Interest. A person served with such a
notice must provide the required information within seven days of receiving the notice
(unless the Board specifies a longer period).
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4.74.8 Board may give Shareholder notice
If the Board becomes aware that a person has a Prohibited Shareholding Interest, the Board
must serve a notice on that person (or an Associate of that person) requiring the person served
(Notified Person) to dispose of, or cause to be disposed of, the number of shares specified in
the notice (Specified Shares). The number of the Specified Shares must be that number
which, in the opinion of the Board, is required to be disposed of to ensure that after the disposal
no person is in breach of this rule 4.4. The notice must also specify that the Specified Shares
must be disposed of:
(a)

within a period (Prescribed Period) specified in the notice by the Board (being a period
not less than 3 months and not more than 6 months); and

(b)

to a person other than an Associate of the Notified Person.

4.84.9 Board may exercise power of attorney to sell Specified Shares
If the Notified Person fails to comply with the notice within the Prescribed Period, the Board must
use all reasonable endeavours, to sell the Specified Shares on behalf of the relevant holder within
1 month of the end of the Prescribed Period or within such longer period as the Board requires to
sell the Specified Shares and for the purposes of such a sale, the Notified Person:
(a)

irrevocably appoints any Director as its agent and attorney with power to complete any
sale of the Specified Shares held by that Notified Person under this document and to do
anything on behalf of the Notified Person that it is required to do, but has failed to do,
under this document, including the power for that Director on behalf of that Shareholder
to:
(i)

sign all necessary documentation to complete the sale;

(ii)

warrant and represent, and it is a condition of this document, that the Notified
Person has the capacity to enter into the documents and has good title to all its
Specified Shares, free from any encumbrance;

(iii)

receive the purchase money and hold it on trust for that Notified Person; and

(iv)

sign a receipt for the purchase money as a good discharge of the purchaser’s
obligations;

(b)

declares that it is bound by, and will ratify and confirm, anything done by any Director
under this power of attorney; and

(c)

declares that this power of attorney is given for valuable consideration and is irrevocable.

4.94.10

Sale of Specified Shares to Directors

The Specified Shares sold in accordance with this rule may not be sold to a Director or an
Associate of a Director unless those shares:
(a)

have first been offered for sale to all other Shareholders and have not been taken up by
them; and

(b)

are sold or disposed of on the same terms and conditions on which they were offered to
the other Shareholders.
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4.104.11

Consideration for shares

The holder of the shares divested under this rule 4 is entitled to the consideration from the sale
of the shares, less any expenses incurred by the Board in selling, or otherwise dealing with, those
shares.
4.114.12

Rights attaching to Prohibited Shareholding Interest

Notwithstanding any other rule set out in this document, where a person has a Prohibited
Shareholding Interest, any voting and dividend rights attaching to those shares in the Company
in which the person and the person’s Associates have a Relevant Interest are suspended.
4.124.13

Shareholders’ acknowledgement

The exercise of the powers given to the Board under this rule 4 may cause individual
Shareholders considerable disadvantage but the Shareholders acknowledge that such a result
may be necessary to enable the enforcement of the prohibitions referred to in this rule.

5

Classes of shares

5.1

Share classes
The share capital of the Company is divided into classes as follows:

5.2

(a)

A class shares;

(b)

ordinary shares;

(c)

redeemable preference shares; and

(d)

any other share classes issued by the Board from time to time in accordance with rule
3.1.

Rights attaching to A class shares
Rights, privileges and conditions attaching to A class shares are as follows:
(a)

holders of A class shares will have the right to a return of capital after holders of
redeemable preference shares, and then pari passu with holders of ordinary shares, in
the event of winding up of the Company;

(b)

holders of A class shares will be entitled to participate in a distribution of Surplus Assets
in the event of winding up of the Company;

(c)

holders of A class shares will not be entitled to participate in any dividends;

(d)

holders of A class shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend any general
meeting of the Company but will not be entitled to any right to vote at such meetings
except in one or more of the following circumstances:
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(i)

on proposal to reduce share capital of the Company;

(ii)

on a proposal that affects rights attaching to A class shares;
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(e)

5.3

(iii)

on a proposal for disposal of the whole property, business and undertaking of the
Company;

(iv)

on a resolution to approve the terms of a buy back agreement; or

(v)

during the winding up of the Company;

if the Board determines that the A class shares of a Shareholder should be converted to
ordinary shares on terms set out in the constitution, then the Board must serve the
holder of A class shares with a notice deeming the holder of A class shares to be an
Active Grower, and then all A class shares held by the Shareholder must be converted
into ordinary shares by resolution of the Board within 42 days after the notice has been
served.

Rights attaching to ordinary shares
Rights, privileges and conditions attaching to ordinary shares are as follows:

5.4

(a)

holders of ordinary shares will have the right to a return of capital after holders of
redeemable preference shares, and then pari passu with holders of A class shares, in the
event of winding up of the Company;

(b)

holders of ordinary shares will be entitled to participate in a distribution of Surplus Assets
in the event of winding up of the Company;

(c)

holders of ordinary shares will be entitled to participate in any dividends declared by the
Board;

(d)

holders of ordinary shares will be entitled to cast one vote for each ordinary share held at
a general meeting of the Company;

(e)

if the Board determines that the ordinary shares of a Shareholder should be converted to
A class shares on terms set out in the constitution, then the Board must serve the holder
of ordinary shares with a notice deeming the holder of ordinary shares to no longer be an
Active Grower, and then all ordinary shares held by the Shareholder must be resolved to
be converted into A class shares by resolution of the Board within 42 days after the
notice has been served.

Rights attaching to redeemable preference shares
Rights, privileges and conditions attaching to redeemable preference shares are as follows:
(a)

holders of redeemable preference shares will have the right to a return of capital up to
the amount of the total issue price paid or credited as being paid on the shares in
priority, ahead of the holders of any other class of shares, in the event of winding up of
the Company;

(b)

holders of redeemable preference shares will not participate in a distribution of Surplus
Assets in the event of winding up of the Company;

(c)

holders of redeemable preference shares will be entitled to participate in any dividend
declared by the Board:
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those dividends will be non-cumulative.
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(d)

holders of redeemable preference shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend
any general meeting of the Company but will not be entitled to any right to vote at such
meetings except in one or more of the following circumstances:

(e)

(i)

on proposal to reduce share capital of the Company;

(ii)

on a proposal that affects rights attaching to redeemable preference shares;

(iii)

on a proposal for disposal of the whole property, business and undertaking of the
Company;

(iv)

on a resolution to approve the terms of a buy back agreement; or

(v)

during the winding up of the Company;

subject to the Corporations Act, redeemable preference shares are liable to be redeemed
at the option of the Company.

6

Certificates

6.1

Availability of certificates
Notwithstanding rule 3.4(e), it is a condition of issue of any shares that the Company need not
have ready for delivery any certificate relating to those shares unless the person who is
registered as the current holder of the shares makes a request in writing for the Company to
complete and deliver the share certificates in which case the Company must do so within one
calendar month of receipt by the Company of such a request. Where the Company is required to
issue certificates for shares, every Shareholder is entitled, without payment, to one certificate for
the shares registered in that Shareholder’s name or to several certificates in reasonable
denominations, each for a part of the shares.

6.2

Forwarding of certificates
The Company may send any certificate to a Shareholder by prepaid post addressed to the
Shareholder at that Shareholder’s Registered Address or as is otherwise directed by the
Shareholder and every certificate so sent shall be at the risk of the Shareholder entitled thereto.

6.3

How certificates are issued
If the Board wishes to issue certificates for shares, or where the Company is required by the
Corporations Act to issue certificates for shares, share certificates may be issued under the Seal
or by authority of the Board (whether or not in accordance with rule 23.322.3) in any form
prescribed by the Board permitted under the Corporations Act and are to be signed in any
manner determined by the Board.

6.4

Old or defaced certificates
If a certificate is worn out or defaced, upon production of the certificate to the Company, the
Board may order it to be cancelled and may issue a new certificate.

6.5

Indemnity to Company
If a certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the giving of such indemnity (if any) and any
evidence that the certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed which the Board may require and
upon the payment of any fee the Board may from time to time determine, a new certificate may
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be issued instead of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate. A certificate issued to replace a
certificate which has been lost, stolen or destroyed may be endorsed as having been issued
instead of a lost, stolen or destroyed certificate.

7

Calls

7.1

Power to make Calls
Subject to the terms upon which any shares may have been issued, the Board may make Calls
from time to time upon the Shareholders in respect of all moneys unpaid on their shares. Each
Shareholder is liable to pay the amount of each Call in the manner, at the time and at the place
specified by the Board. Calls may be made payable by instalments.

7.2

Obligation for Calls
The Company may make different arrangements for Shareholders in respect of the amount to be
paid on Calls and the time for payment of the Calls.

7.3

When a Call is made
A Call is deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Board authorising the
Call was passed. The Call may be revoked or postponed at the discretion of the Board at any
time prior to the date on which payment in respect of the Call is due.

7.4

Interest on the late payment of Calls
If any sum payable in respect of a Call is not paid on or before the date for payment, the
Shareholder from whom the sum is due is to pay interest on the unpaid amount from the due
date to the date of payment at the rate the Board from time to time determines. The Board may
waive the whole or part of any interest paid or payable under this rule.

7.5

Instalments
If, by the terms of an issue of shares, any amount is payable in respect of any shares by
instalments, every instalment is payable as if it is a Call duly made by the Board of which due
notice had been given, and all provisions of these rules with respect to the payment of Calls and
of interest or to the forfeiture of shares for non-payment of Calls or with respect to liens or
charges apply to the instalment and to the shares in respect of which it is payable.

7.6

Payment in advance of Calls
If the Board thinks fit it may receive from any Shareholder all or any part of the moneys unpaid
on all or any of the shares held by that Shareholder beyond the sums actually called up and then
due and payable either as a loan repayable or as a payment in advance of Calls. The Company
may pay interest on the moneys advanced at the rate and on the terms agreed by the Board and
the Shareholder paying the sum in advance.

7.7

Non-receipt of notice of Call
Notice of any Call is to be in writing including such information as the Corporations Act may
require, but the non-receipt of a notice of any Call by, or the accidental omission to give notice of
any Call to, any Shareholder does not invalidate the Call.
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8

Forfeiture and lien

8.1

Notice requiring payment of sums payable
If any Shareholder fails to pay any sum payable on or in respect of any shares, either for
allotment money, Calls or instalments, on or before the day for payment, the Board may, at any
time after the day specified for payment whilst any part of the sum remains unpaid, serve a
notice on the Shareholder requiring that Shareholder to pay the sum together with interest
accrued and all expenses incurred by the Company by reason of the non-payment.

8.2

Time and place for payment
The notice referred to in rule 8.1 is to name a day on or before which the sum, interest and
expenses (if any) are to be paid and the place where payment is to be made. The notice is also
to state that, in the event of non-payment at or before the time and at the place specified, the
shares in respect of which the sum is payable will be liable to be forfeited.

8.3

Forfeiture on non-compliance with notice
If there is non-compliance with the requirements of any notice given pursuant to rule 8.1, any
shares in respect of which notice has been given may, at any time after the day specified in the
notice for payment whilst any part of allotment moneys, Calls, instalments, interest and expenses
(if any) remains unpaid, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect. The forfeiture is
to include all dividends, interest and other moneys payable by the Company in respect of the
forfeited shares and not actually paid before the forfeiture.

8.4

Notice of forfeiture
When any share is forfeited, notice of the resolution of the Board is to be given to the
Shareholder in whose name it stood immediately prior to the forfeiture, and an entry of the
forfeiture and the date of forfeiture is to be made in the Register. Failure to give notice or make
the entry as required by this rule does not invalidate the forfeiture.

8.5

Disposal of forfeited shares
Any forfeited share is deemed to be the property of the Company and the Board may sell or
otherwise dispose of or deal with the share in any manner it thinks fit and with or without any
money paid on the share by any former holder being credited as paid up.

8.6

Annulment of forfeiture
The Board may, at any time before any forfeited share is sold or otherwise disposed of, annul the
forfeiture of the share upon any condition it thinks fit.

8.7

Liability notwithstanding forfeiture
Any Shareholder whose shares have been forfeited is, notwithstanding the forfeiture, liable to
pay and is obliged forthwith to pay to the Company all sums of money, interest and expenses
owing upon or in respect of the forfeited shares at the time of forfeiture, together with expenses
and interest from that time until payment at the rate the Board from time to time determines.
The Board may enforce the payment or waive the whole or part of any sum paid or payable
under this rule as it thinks fit.
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8.8

Company’s lien or charge
The Company has a first and paramount lien or charge for unpaid Calls, instalments, interest due
in relation to any Calls or instalments and any amounts the Company is called upon by law to pay
in respect of the shares of a Shareholder upon shares registered in the name of the Shareholder
in respect of which the Calls, instalments and interest are due and unpaid (whether presently
payable or not) or in respect of which the amounts are paid and upon the proceeds of sale of the
shares. The lien or charge extends to all dividends and bonuses from time to time declared in
respect of the shares provided that, if the Company registers a transfer of any shares upon which
it has a lien or charge without giving the transferee notice of any claim it may have at that time,
the shares are freed and discharged from the lien or charge of the Company in respect of that
claim.

8.9

Sale of shares to enforce lien
The Company may do all such things as may be necessary or appropriate for it to do to effect a
transfer or to protect any lien, charge or other right to which it may be entitled under any law or
these rules.

8.10

Title of shares forfeited or sold to enforce lien
(a)

In a sale or a re-allotment of forfeited shares or in the sale of shares to enforce a lien or
charge, an entry in the Board’s minute book that the shares have been forfeited, sold or
re-allotted in accordance with these rules is sufficient evidence of that fact as against all
persons entitled to the shares immediately before the forfeiture, sale or re-allotment of
the shares. The Company may receive the purchase money or consideration (if any)
given for the shares on any sale or re-allotment.

(b)

In a re-allotment, a certificate signed by a Director or the Secretary to the effect that the
shares have been forfeited and the receipt of the Company for the price of the shares
constitutes a good title to them.

(c)

In a sale, the Company may appoint a person to execute or effect a transfer in favour of
the person to whom the shares are sold.

(d)

Upon the issue of the receipt or the execution of the transfer the person to whom the
shares have been re-allotted or sold is to be registered as the holder of the shares,
discharged from all Calls or other money due in respect of the shares prior to the
re-allotment or purchase and the person is not bound to see to the regularity of the
proceedings or to the application of the purchase money or consideration; nor is the
person’s title to the shares affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings
relating to the forfeiture, sale or re-allotment.

(e)

The net proceeds of any sale or re-allotment are to be applied first in payment of all
costs of or in relation to the enforcement of the lien or charge or the forfeiture (as the
case may be) and of the sale or re-allotment, next in satisfaction of the amount in
respect of which the lien exists as is then payable to the Company (including interest)
and the residue (if any) paid to, or at the direction of, the person registered as the holder
of the shares immediately prior to the sale or re-allotment or to the person’s executors,
administrators or assigns upon the production of any evidence as to title required by the
Board.

(f)

If a certificate for the shares is not produced to the Company, the Board may, where the
Company is required by the Corporations Act to issue certificates for shares, issue a new
certificate distinguishing it from the certificate (if any) which was not produced.
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9

Payments by the Company

9.1

Payments by the Company
If any law of any place imposes or purports to impose any immediate or future or possible
liability on the Company to make any payment or empowers any government or taxing authority
or government official to require the Company to make any payment in respect of any Securities
held either jointly or solely by any holder or in respect of any transfer of those Securities or in
respect of any interest, dividends, bonuses or other moneys due or payable or accruing due or
which may become due or payable to the holder by the Company on or in respect of any
Securities or for or on account or in respect of any holder of Securities, whether in consequence
of:
(a)

the death of the holder;

(b)

the non-payment of any income tax or other tax by the holder;

(c)

the non-payment of any estate, probate, succession, death, stamp or other duty by the
holder or the trustee, executor or administrator of that holder or by or out of the holder’s
estate;

(d)

any assessment of income tax against the Company in respect of interest or dividends
paid or payable to the holder; or

(e)

any other act or thing,

the Company may exercise any of the rights set out in rule 9.2.
9.2

Rights of the Company
In each of the situations described in rules 9.1(a) to 9.1(e) the Company:
(a)

is to be fully indemnified from all liability by the holder or the holder’s trustee, executor
or administrator and by any person who becomes registered as the holder of the
Securities on the distribution of the deceased holder’s estate;

(b)

has a lien or charge upon the Securities for all moneys paid by the Company in respect of
the Securities under or in consequence of any law;

(c)

has a lien upon all dividends, bonuses and other moneys payable in respect of the
Securities registered in the Register as held either jointly or solely by the holder for all
moneys paid or payable by the Company in respect of the Securities under or in
consequence of any law, together with interest at a rate the Board may determine from
time to time from the date of payment to the date of repayment, and may deduct or set
off against any dividend, bonus or other moneys payable any moneys paid or payable by
the Company together with interest;

(d)

may recover as a debt due from the holder or the holder’s trustee, executor or
administrator or any person who becomes registered as the holder of the Securities on
the distribution of the deceased holder’s estate, any moneys paid by the Company under
or in consequence of any law which exceed any dividend, bonus or other money then
due or payable by the Company to the holder together with interest at a rate the Board
may determine from time to time from the date of payment to the date of repayment;
and
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(e)

9.3

may, if any money is paid or payable by the Company under any law, refuse to register a
transfer of any Securities by the holder or the holder’s trustee, executor or administrator
until the money and interest is set off or deducted or, in case the money and interest
exceeds the amount of any dividend, bonus or other money then due or payable by the
Company to the holder, until the excess is paid to the Company.

Rights not prejudiced
Nothing in rules 9.1 or 9.2 prejudices or affects any right or remedy which any law confers on the
Company, and, as between the Company and each holder, each holder’s trustee, executor,
administrator and estate, any right or remedy which the Corporations Act confers on the
Company is enforceable by the Company.

10

Transfer and transmission of Securities

10.1

Instrument of transfer
Subject to these rules, a Security Holder may transfer all or any of the Security Holder’s Securities
by any instrument in writing in any usual or common form or in any other form that the Directors
approve.

10.2

Registration procedure
Where an instrument of transfer referred to in rule 10.1 is to be used by a Security Holder to
transfer Securities the following provisions apply:

10.3

(a)

it must be executed by or on behalf of both the transferor and the transferee unless it is
a sufficient transfer of marketable Securities within the meaning of the Corporations Act;

(b)

the instrument of transfer must be left for registration with the Company, or, if
applicable, at the share registry of the Company, accompanied by the certificate for the
Securities to which it relates (if any) and such information as the Directors properly
require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer, and in that event, the
Company must, subject to the powers vested in the Directors by these rules, register the
transferee as a Security Holder;

(c)

the Company must register all registrable transfer forms, split certificates, renunciations
and transfers, issue certificates and transmission receipts and mark or note transfer
forms without charge except in the case the Company issues a certificate for Securities
where the issue of a certificate is to replace a lost or destroyed certificate; and

(d)

on registration of a transfer of Securities, the Company must cancel the old certificate (if
any).

Entry in the Register
A transferor of Securities remains the holder of the Securities transferred until the transfer (if
any) is registered and the name of the transferee is entered in the Register in respect of the
Securities. The right to any dividends declared on any shares subject to a transfer will be
determined by reference to the record date for the purposes of that dividend and the date of
registration of the transfer.
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10.4

Closing Register
Subject to the provisions of the Corporations Act, the Register may be closed at any time the
Board thinks fit.

10.5

Right to refuse registration
Notwithstanding any other provisions contained in these rules, the Company may, in the
Directors’ absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefore, refuse to register or
may prevent or interfere with the registration of a transfer of Securities in the Company.

10.6

Transmission by death
The trustee, executor or administrator of a deceased Shareholder (who is not one of several joint
holders) is the only person recognised by the Company as having any title to Securities registered
in the name of the deceased Shareholder provided that the Board may, subject to compliance by
the transferee with these rules, register any transfer signed by a Shareholder prior to the
Shareholder’s death notwithstanding that the Company has notice of the Shareholder’s death.

10.7

Transmission by operation of law
A person who establishes to the satisfaction of the Board that the right to any Securities has
devolved on the person by will or by operation of law may be registered as a Shareholder in
respect of the Securities or may (subject to the provisions in these rules relating to transfers)
transfer the Securities provided that the Board has the same right to refuse to register the person
as if the person was the transferee named in an ordinary transfer presented for registration.

11

Transfer by a Shareholder

11.1

Transfer Notice
A Voting Shareholder who (together with its Associates) is entitled to appoint a Director under
rule 14.3(a) and wanting to transfer any of its shares (Seller) must give the Board notice and
the Board must, on behalf of that Voting Shareholder, give each other Shareholder (Offeree)
notice (Transfer Notice) setting out:
(a)

that the Seller wants to transfer a specified number (which may be all or some only of its
total holding) of shares (Transfer Securities);

(b)

the class or classes of Transfer Securities;

(c)

the cash price per Transfer Security (Specified Price);

(d)

the name of the proposed transferee (if known); and

(e)

any other terms of sale of the Transfer Securities,

and attaching a copy of the offer (if any) from the proposed transferee.
11.2

Entitlement of Offerees to the Transfer Securities
The Transfer Notice is an offer by the Seller to each Offeree to sell on the terms set out in the
Transfer Notice, which is subject to rule 10.5 and also conditional on the Seller receiving
acceptances from one or more of the Offerees for the Transfer of all of the Transfer Securities.
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Each Offeree may buy the number of Transfer Securities calculated in accordance with the
following formula:
N = A×

B
C-D

where:

11.3

N

= the number of Transfer Securities the Offeree may buy (Allocation);

A

= the total number of Transfer Securities;

B

= the number of Shares held by the Offeree in the class of the Transfer Securities on the
date of the Transfer Notice;

C

= the total number of Shares in the class of the Transfer Securities held by all Shareholders
on the date of the Transfer Notice; and

D

= the number of Shares in the class of the Transfer Security held by the Seller on the date
of the Transfer Notice, including the Transfer Securities.

Response by Offerees
Within 20 Business Days after receiving a Transfer Notice (Acceptance Period), each Offeree
whose entitlement calculated under rule 11.2 is at least one Transfer Security must give the
Seller an unconditional notice (Acceptance Notice) (with a copy to the Board) stating:

11.4

(a)

whether it accepts its Allocation or a specified lesser number of Transfer Securities, or
rejects in full the offer made to it in the Transfer Notice; and

(b)

if it wants to buy more than its Allocation, that it offers to buy an additional specified
number of Transfer Securities (not exceeding the total number of Transfer Securities
minus the number of Transfer Securities accepted by it under rule 11.3(a)) if the other
Offerees do not accept in full their Allocations.

Entitlement of Offerees to Transfer Securities above their Allocations
If the total number of Transfer Securities offered to be purchased under rule 11.3(b) exceeds the
number of Transfer Securities for which acceptances have not been received under rule 11.3(a),
then the Transfer Securities available must be allocated between all accepting Offerees who have
given notice under rule 11.3(b) in their Respective Proportions, until all of the Transfer Securities
for which acceptances have not been received under rule 11.3(a) are allocated, or until all offers
under rule 11.3(b) have been satisfied.

11.5

Offeree’s failure to respond
An Offeree must give the Seller notice under rule 11.3 within the Acceptance Period to participate
in that sale of Transfer Securities, otherwise it is taken to have rejected the offer.
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11.6

Where Offerees agree to buy all Transfer Securities
If the Offerees agree to buy all Transfer Securities and the Board has not exercised its right
under rule 10.5, then on the fifth Business Day after the Acceptance Period, each Offeree must
buy from the Seller and the Seller must sell to the Offerees the Transfer Securities:

11.7

(a)

at the Specified Price; and

(b)

(unless otherwise agreed between the Offerees) in the proportions calculated under
rule 11.2 adjusted, as applicable, under rule 11.4.

Where Offerees do not agree to buy all Transfer Securities
If the Offerees do not agree to buy all Transfer Securities or the Board has exercised its right
under rule 10.5, the Seller must within five Business Days after the Acceptance Period give notice
to the Offerees (with a copy to the Board) withdrawing all offers in the Transfer Notice and may
advise that it wishes to sell the Transfer Securities to another person under rule 11.8 to another
person of those Transfer Securities.

11.8

Sale to another person
If the Seller gives a notice under rule 11.7 advising that it wishes to sell the Transfer Securities to
another person, the Seller may sell those Transfer Securities to another person:

11.9

(a)

at any time within 90 Business Days after giving the Transfer Notice;

(b)

at a price per Transfer Security not less than the Specified Price; and

(c)

on terms no more favourable to the buyer than those offered to the Offerees, including
such sale being conditional on rule 10.5.

Permitted transfer
Rule 11 does not apply to a transfer of shares:
(a)

to an Associate of the Shareholder or the transfer from an Associate of the Shareholder
to another Associate of the Shareholder, but if the transferee ceases to be an Associate
of the Shareholder, then the relevant shares must be promptly transferred by the
transferee back to the transferring Shareholder; or

(b)

under rules 10.6 or 10.7.

1112 General meetings
11.112.1

General meetings

(a)

General meetings of the Company may be called and held at the times and places and in
the manner determined by the Board. Except as permitted by the Corporations Act, the
Shareholders may not convene a meeting of the Company. By resolution of the Board
any general meeting (other than a general meeting which has been requisitioned or
called by Shareholders in accordance with the Corporations Act) may be cancelled or
postponed prior to the date on which it is to be held.

(b)

The Chairman of a general meeting may refuse admission to, or require to leave and
remain out of, the meeting any person:
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(c)

(i)

in possession of a pictorial-recording or sound-recording device;

(ii)

in possession of a placard or banner;

(iii)

in possession of an object considered by the Chairman to be dangerous,
offensive or liable to cause disruption;

(iv)

who refuses to produce or to permit examination of any object, or the contents
of any object or container, in the person’s possession;

(v)

who behaves or threatens to behave in a dangerous, offensive or disruptive
manner; or

(vi)

who is not a Shareholder (or a proxy, attorney or representative of a
Shareholder), a Director, or an auditor of the Company.

A person, whether or not a Shareholder, who is invited by the Board or the Chairman to
attend a general meeting, is entitled to be present.

11.212.2

Notice of general meeting

(a)

Not less than 21 days’ notice of a general meeting must be given by the Board in the
form and in the manner the Board thinks fit including notice of any general meeting at
which the Board proposes or these rules require that an election of Directors be held.
Notice of meetings shall be given to the Shareholders and to such persons as are entitled
under these rules or the Corporations Act to receive notice. The non-receipt of a notice
of any general meeting by, or the accidental omission to give notice to, any person
entitled to notice does not invalidate any resolution passed at that meeting.

(b)

If the meeting is to be held at two or more places the notice is to set out details of the
technology that will be used to facilitate such a meeting and any other matters required
to be stated by the Corporations Act in relation to the use of such technology.

1213 Proceedings of meetings
12.113.1

Business of general meetings

(a)

The business of an annual general meeting is to receive and consider the financial and
other reports required by the Corporations Act to be laid before each annual general
meeting, to elect Directors in the place of those retiring under these rules, when relevant
to appoint an auditor, and to transact any other business which, under these rules, is
required to be transacted at any annual general meeting. All other business transacted
at an annual general meeting and all business transacted at other general meetings is
deemed to be special. Except with the approval of the Board, with the permission of the
Chairman or pursuant to the Corporations Act, no person may move at any meeting
either:

(b)
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(i)

in regard to any special business of which notice has not been given under
rule 12.211.2, any resolution or any amendment of a resolution; or

(ii)

any other resolution which does not constitute part of special business of which
notice has been given under rule 12.211.2.

The auditors and their representative are entitled to attend and be heard on any part of
the business of a meeting which concerns the auditors. The auditors or their
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representative, if present at the meeting, may be questioned by the Shareholders, as a
whole, about the audit.
12.213.2

Powers of general meeting

The Company may, subject toin addition to any right pursuant to the provisions of the
Corporations Act from time to time, by ordinary resolution:
alter the number of Directors under rule 14.1;
remove any Director (other than a Director appointed under rule 15.3(a)) from office or appoint a
Director as provided for at rules 1514 and 1716.
12.313.3

Quorum

Ten Shareholders Present constitute a quorum for a general meeting except if the Company is a
wholly owned subsidiary or otherwise has only one Shareholder or where a class of members is
constituted by one member. No business may be transacted at any meeting except the election
of a Chairman and the adjournment of the meeting unless the requisite quorum is present at the
commencement of the business.
12.413.4

Adjournment in absence of quorum

If, within 30 minutes after the time specified for a general meeting, a quorum is not present, the
meeting, if convened upon a requisition or called by Shareholders, is to be dissolved and in any
other case it is to be adjourned to the same day in the next week (or, where that day is not a
Business Day, the Business Day next following that day) at the same time and place and if, at the
adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time specified for
holding the meeting, the meeting is to be dissolved.
12.513.5

Chairman

(a)

The Chairman of the Board is entitled to take the chair at every general meeting.

(b)

If, at any general meeting:
(i)

the Chairman of the Board is not present at the specified time for holding the
meeting; or

(ii)

the Chairman of the Board is present but is unwilling to act as Chairman of the
meeting,

the deputy Chairman of the Board is entitled to take the chair at the meeting.
(c)

If, at any general meeting:
(i)

there is no Chairman of the Board or deputy Chairman of the Board;

(ii)

the Chairman of the Board and deputy Chairman of the Board are not present at
the specified time for holding the meeting; or

(iii)

the Chairman of the Board and the deputy Chairman of the Board are present but
each is unwilling to act as Chairman of the meeting,

the Directors present may choose another Director as Chairman of the meeting and if no
Director is present or if each of the Directors present are unwilling to act as Chairman of
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the meeting, a Shareholder chosen by the Shareholders Present is entitled to take the
chair at the meeting.
12.613.6

Acting Chairman

If during any general meeting the Chairman acting pursuant to rule 13.512.5 is unwilling to act
as chairman for any part of the proceedings, the Chairman may withdraw as Chairman during the
relevant part of the proceedings and may nominate any person who immediately before the
general meeting was a Director or who has been nominated for election as a Director at the
meeting to be Acting Chairman of the meeting during the relevant part of the proceedings. Upon
the conclusion of the relevant part of the proceedings the Acting Chairman is to withdraw and the
Chairman is to resume acting as Chairman of the meeting.
12.713.7

General conduct of meeting

Except as provided by the Corporations Act, the general conduct of each general meeting of the
Company and the procedures to be adopted at the meeting are as determined by the Chairman.
The Chairman may at any time the Chairman considers it necessary or desirable for the proper
and orderly conduct of the meeting demand the cessation of debate or discussion on any
business, question, motion or resolution being considered by the meeting and require the
business, question, motion or resolution to be put to a vote of the Shareholders Present. The
Chairman may require the adoption of any procedure which is in the Chairman’s opinion
necessary or desirable for the proper and orderly casting or recording of votes at any general
meeting of the Company, whether on a show of hands or on a poll.
12.813.8

Adjournment

The Chairman may at any time during the course of the meeting adjourn from time to time and
place to place the meeting or any business, motion, question or resolution being considered or
remaining to be considered by the meeting or any debate or discussion and may adjourn any
business, motion, question, resolution, debate or discussion either to a later time at the same
meeting or to an adjourned meeting. If the Chairman exercises a right of adjournment of a
meeting pursuant to this rule, the Chairman has the sole discretion to decide whether to seek the
approval of the Shareholders Present to the adjournment and, unless the Chairman exercises that
discretion, no vote may be taken by the Shareholders Present in respect of the adjournment. No
business may be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at
the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
12.913.9

Voting

(a)

Each question submitted to a general meeting is to be decided in the first instance by a
show of hands of the Shareholders Present. Subject to rule 13.9(b)12.9(b), in the case
of an equality of votes, the Chairman has, both on a show of hands and at a poll, a
casting vote in addition to the vote or votes to which the Chairman may be entitled as a
Shareholder or as a proxy, attorney or duly appointed representative of a Shareholder.

(b)

On a show of hands, where the Chairman has two or more appointments that specify
different ways to vote on a resolution, the Chairman must not vote as proxy but has a
casting vote in the case of an equality of votes cast by Shareholders entitled to vote at
the meeting.

12.1013.10

Declaration of vote on a show of hands

At any meeting, unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has
been passed or lost, having regard to the majority required, and an entry to that effect in the
book to be kept of the proceedings of the Company signed by the Chairman of that or the next
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succeeding meeting, is conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or proportion
of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. A poll may be demanded:
(a)

before a vote is taken;

(b)

before the voting results on a show of hands are declared; or

(c)

immediately after the voting results on a show of hands are declared.

12.1113.11

When poll demanded

No poll may be demanded on the election of a Chairman of a meeting. Otherwise, a poll may be
demanded by:
(a)

the Chairman;

(b)

at least five Shareholders Present entitled to vote on the resolution;

(c)

by a Shareholder or Shareholders Present with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast
on the resolution on a poll.

12.1213.12

Taking a poll

If a poll is demanded as provided in rule 13.1112.11, it is to be taken in the manner and at the
time and place as the Chairman directs, and the result of the poll is deemed to be the resolution
of the meeting at which the poll was demanded. The demand for a poll may be withdrawn. In
the case of any dispute as to the admission or rejection of a vote, the Chairman’s determination
in respect of the dispute made in good faith is final.
12.1313.13

Continuation of business

A demand for a poll does not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any
business other than the question on which a poll has been demanded. A poll demanded on any
question of adjournment is to be taken at the meeting immediately and without adjournment.
12.1413.14

Special meetings

All the provisions of these rules as to general meetings apply to any special meeting of any class
of Shareholders which may be held pursuant to the operation of these rules or the Corporations
Act.

1314 Votes of Shareholders
13.114.1

Voting rights

Subject to the restrictions on voting from time to time affecting any class of shares and subject to
rules 3.4(f), 14.413.4 and 14.813.8:
(a)

on a show of hands, each Shareholder Present and entitled to vote has one vote;

(b)

where a Shareholder has appointed two persons as proxies for that Shareholder, neither
proxy may vote on a show of hands;

(c)

where a person is entitled to vote by virtue of rule 14.313.3 in more than one capacity,
that person is entitled only to one vote on a show of hands;
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(d)

if the person appointed as proxy has two or more appointments that specify different
ways to vote on the resolution, the proxy must not vote on a show of hands; and

(e)

on a poll, each Shareholder Present and entitled to vote:

13.214.2

(i)

has one vote for each fully paid share held; and

(ii)

has for each share which is not fully paid a fraction of a vote equivalent to the
proportion which the amount paid up on that share bears to the total issue price
for that share.

Voting rights of personal representatives

Any person entitled under rules 10.6 and 10.7 to transfer any shares may vote at a general
meeting in the same manner as if the person were the registered holder of the shares provided
that at least 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting at which the person proposes to
vote the person has satisfied the Board of the person’s right to transfer the shares, unless the
Board has previously admitted the person’s right to vote at the meeting in respect of the shares.
13.314.3

Appointment of proxies

(a)

Any Shareholder entitled to vote at a general meeting may appoint a proxy. Any
Shareholder who is entitled to cast two or more votes at a general meeting may appoint
not more than two proxies to vote at a general meeting on that Shareholder’s behalf and
may, but need not, direct the proxy or proxies how to vote in relation to each or any
resolution.

(b)

A proxy need not be a Shareholder in the Company.

(c)

Where a Shareholder appoints two proxies and each proxy is not appointed to represent
a specified proportion or number of the Shareholder’s voting rights, then each proxy may
exercise half of the Shareholder’s voting rights.

(d)

The instrument appointing a proxy (and the power of attorney, if any, under which it is
signed or proof of the power of attorney to the satisfaction of the Board) must be
deposited duly stamped (if necessary) at the Office, faxed to the Office or deposited,
faxed or sent by electronic mail to any other place specified in the notice of meeting, at
least 48 hours (or a lesser period as the Directors may determine and stipulate in the
notice of meeting) before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting or poll
at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote.

(e)

No instrument appointing a proxy is, except as provided in this rule, valid after the
expiration of 12 months after the date of its execution. Any Shareholder may deposit at
the Office an instrument duly stamped (if necessary) appointing a proxy and the
appointment is valid for all or any stipulated meetings of the Company until revocation.

13.414.4

Voting by corporation

Any corporation, being a Shareholder and entitled to vote, may by resolution of its directors or
other governing body or by an instrument of proxy authorise any person, though not a
Shareholder of the Company, or any person occupying a particular office from time to time, to
act as its representative, and such representative is, in accordance with their authority and until
their authority is revoked by the corporation which they represent, entitled to exercise the same
powers at meetings on behalf of the corporation which they represent as that corporation could
exercise if it were a natural person who was a Shareholder and exercise any other powers
permitted to be exercised by a body corporate representative under the Corporations Act.
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13.514.5

Validity of vote

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy or power of attorney is valid
notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the principal or revocation of the
instrument of proxy or power of attorney or transfer of the shares in respect of which the vote is
given, provided no notice in writing of the death, unsoundness of mind, revocation or transfer
has been received at the Office before the meeting or any adjourned meeting. A proxy is not
revoked by the principal attending and taking part in the meeting, unless the principal actually
votes at the meeting on the resolution for which the proxy is proposed to be used.
13.614.6

Form and execution of instrument of proxy

(a)

An instrument appointing a proxy is required to be in writing signed by the appointor or
the attorney of the appointor or, if the appointor is a corporation, under its common seal
or signed by a duly authorised officer and in the form which the Board may from time to
time prescribe to accept.

(b)

The instrument of proxy is deemed to include the right to demand or join in demanding a
poll and (except to the extent to which the proxy is specifically directed to vote for or
against any proposal) the power to act generally at the meeting for the person giving the
proxy.

(c)

An instrument appointing a proxy, unless the contrary is stated, is valid for any
adjournment of the meeting, as well as for the meeting to which it relates. Any duly
signed proxy which is incomplete may be completed by the Secretary on authority from
the Board and as permitted by the Corporations Act and the Board may authorise
completion of the proxy by the insertion of the name of any member of the Board as the
person in whose favour the proxy is given.

13.714.7

Board to issue forms of proxy

Subject to rule 5, the Board may issue with any notice of general meeting of Shareholders or any
class of Shareholders forms of proxy for use by the Shareholders. Each form is to make provision
for the Shareholder to write in the name of the person or persons to be appointed as proxy and
may provide that, if the Shareholder does not so write in one or more names, the proxy are to be
one or more persons named on the form. The form may include the names of any of the
Directors or of any other persons as suggested proxies. The forms are to be worded so that a
proxy may be directed to vote either for or against each or any of the resolutions to be proposed
or as the proxy sees fit.
13.814.8

Attorneys of Shareholders

Any Shareholder may, by duly executed power of attorney, appoint an attorney to act on the
Shareholder’s behalf at all or certain specified meetings of the Company. Before the attorney is
entitled to act under the power of attorney, the power of attorney or proof of the power of
attorney to the satisfaction of the Board must be produced for inspection at the Office or any
other place the Board may determine from to time together, in each case, with evidence of the
due execution of the power of attorney as required by the Board. The attorney may be
authorised to appoint a proxy for the Shareholder granting the power of attorney.
13.914.9

Rights of Shareholder indebted to company in respect of other shares

Subject to any restrictions from time to time affecting the right of any Shareholder or class of
Shareholders to attend any meeting, a Shareholder holding a share in respect of which for the
time being no moneys are due and payable to the Company is entitled to be present at any
general meeting and to vote and be reckoned in a quorum notwithstanding that moneys are then
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due and payable to the Company by the Shareholder in respect of any other share held by the
Shareholder provided that, upon a poll, a Shareholder is only entitled to vote in respect of shares
held by the Shareholder upon which, at the time when the poll is taken, no moneys are due and
payable to the Company.
13.1014.10

Written approval to resolutions

(a)

Subject to any contrary provision in the Corporations Act, any resolution which is required
to be passed or approved at a general meeting of Shareholders or any class of
Shareholders is deemed to have been passed or approved if a written instrument
containing the resolution is approved or consented to by the execution of the instrument
by the requisite majority all Shareholders or, as applicable, any class of Shareholders,
and the resolution is deemed to have been passed or approved on the date when the last
Shareholder executes the instrument.

(b)

A circular resolution instrument is deemed to have been passed or approved:
(i)

in the case where an ordinary resolution is required where not less than 50% of
all Shareholders, or as applicable, any class of Shareholders, have executed the
instrument; and

(ii)

in the case where a special resolution is required, where not less than 75% of all
Shareholders, or as applicable, any class of Shareholders, have executed the
instrument.

(c)

Separate copies of an instrument may be used for execution purposes if the wording of
the resolution contained in the instrument is the same in all copies.

(d)

A facsimile transmission or other document produced by mechanical or electronic means
under the name of a Shareholder with the Shareholder’s authority is deemed to be a
written instrument executed by the Shareholder.

1415 Directors
14.115.1

Number and appointment of Directors

(a)

The number ofmaximum number of Directors (not including alternate Directors) is
required to be the number, not being less than three nor more than fiveseven (unless
increased by the Directors under rule 15.1(c)), which is determined:
(i)

firstly, by the Voting Shareholders in accordance with rule 15.3(a);

(ii)

secondly, up to the prescribed maximum number, by the Shareholders in
accordance with rule 18.3; and

(iii)

finally, by any Director appointed in accordance with rule 15.2.
(A)

the Board may from time to time determine provided that the Board may
not reduce the number below the number of Directors in office at the
time of the reduction.

(b)

All Directors are required to be natural persons.

(c)

The maximum number of Directors may only be increased by a Directors’ Special
Resolution. Where the number of Directors to be appointed under rule 15.3(a) is more
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than the prescribed maximum number, the Directors must increase the prescribed
maximum number of Directors to such a number as would be required to enable the
appointment of all Directors under rule 15.3(a).

14.215.2

Power to appoint Directors

The Board has the power at any time to appoint any person as a Director, either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board but so that the number of Directors does not exceed the
maximum number determined pursuant to rule 15.114.1(a). Any Director appointed under this
rule may hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company and is then eligible for
election at that meeting but is not to be taken into account in determining the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation at the meeting.
15.3

Voting Shareholder entitlement to appoint Directors
(a)

A Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) may appoint and remove, by notice to
the Company, up to one Director for every 11% of ordinary class shares it (together with
its Associates) holds in the Company, to a maximum of three Directors.

(b)

Any Director appointed under rule 15.3(a) is not required to be a Voting Shareholder, or
an Associate of the appointing Voting Shareholder.

(c)

A Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) entitled to appoint one or more
Directors under rule 15.3(a) is not entitled to vote on any resolution to approve the reelection, election or removal of a director appointed by the Board under rule 15.2 or
nominated for election by a Shareholder under rule 18.3.

(d)

A Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) seeking to appoint a Director under
rule 15.3(a) must provide sufficient evidence of its entitlement do so, to the satisfaction
of the Board, acting reasonably.

14.315.4

Remuneration of Directors

(a)

Subject to rule 15.414.3(b), the Directors are to be paid out of the funds of the Company
as remuneration for their services as Directors, such sum accruing from day to day as the
Shareholders determine, to be divided among them in such proportion and manner as
they agree or in default of agreement, equally.

(b)

The Directors’ remuneration for their services as Directors is by fixed sum and not a
commission on or percentage of profits or operating revenue and may not be increased
except in accordance with the Corporations Act.

14.415.5

Remuneration of Directors for extra services

Any Director who serves on any Committee, or who devotes special attention to the business of
the Company, or who otherwise performs services which in the opinion of the Board are outside
the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director, or who at the request of the Board engages in any
journey on the business of the Company, may be paid extra remuneration as determined by the
Board and any such extra remuneration must be disclosed in the financial reports of the
Company.
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14.515.6

Travelling and other expenses

Every Director is, in addition to any other remuneration provided for in these rules, entitled to be
paid from Company funds all reasonable travel, accommodation and other expenses incurred by
the Directors in attending meetings of the Company or of the Board or of any Committees or
while engaged on the business of the Company.
14.615.7

Directors may contract with Company

(a)

A Director is not disqualified by the office of Director from contracting or entering into
any arrangement with the Company or any other person either as vendor, purchaser or
otherwise and no contract or arrangement entered into with the Company or any other
person by a Director or any contract or arrangement entered into by or on behalf of the
Company or any other person in which a Director is in any way interested may be
avoided for that reason. A Director is not liable to account to the Company for any profit
realised by any contract or arrangement, by reason of holding the office of Director or of
the fiduciary relationship established by the office.

(b)

No Director may as a Director vote in respect of any contract or arrangement in which
the Director has directly or indirectly any material personal interest if to do so would be
contrary to the Corporations Act and if the Director does vote his vote may not be
counted nor shall the Director be counted in the quorum present at the meeting but
either or both of these prohibitions may at any time be relaxed or suspended to any
extent by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting, if permitted by the
Corporations Act.

(c)

A Director who is interested in any contract or arrangement may, notwithstanding the
interest, attest the affixing of the Seal to, or otherwise execute any document evidencing
or otherwise connected with the contract or arrangement.

14.715.8

Director may hold other office

(a)

A Director may hold any other office or position under the Company (except that of
auditor) in conjunction with the office of Director, on terms and at a remuneration in
addition to remuneration (if any) as a Director, as the Board approves.

(b)

A Director may be or become a director of or hold any other office or position under any
corporation promoted by the Company, or in which it may be interested, whether as a
vendor or Shareholder or otherwise, or with any other corporation or organisation, and
the Director is not accountable for any benefits received as a director or Shareholder of
or holder of any other office or position under that corporation or organisation.

14.815.9

Exercise of voting power in other corporations

The Board may exercise the voting power conferred by the shares in any corporation held or
owned by the Company as the Board thinks fit (including the exercise of the voting power in
favour of any resolution appointing the Directors or any of them directors of that corporation or
voting or providing for the payment of remuneration to the directors of that corporation) and a
Director of the Company may vote in favour of the exercise of those voting rights
notwithstanding that the Director is, or may be about to be appointed, a director of that other
corporation and may be interested in the exercise of those voting rights.
14.915.10

Directors may lend to the Company

Any Director may lend money to the Company at interest with or without security or may, for a
commission or profit, guarantee the repayment of any money borrowed by the Company and
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underwrite or guarantee the subscription of shares or other Securities of the Company or of any
corporation in which the Company may be interested without being disqualified in respect of the
office of Director and without being liable to account to the Company for the commission or
profit.

1516 Alternate Directors
15.116.1

Director may appoint alternate Director

(a)

Subject to these rules, each Director has power to appoint a person to act as an alternate
Director in the Director’s place, whether for a stated period or periods or until the
happening of a specified event or from time to time; when through absence, illness or
otherwise the Director is unable to attend to duties as a Director.

(b)

The Director must first obtain the consent of the Board to the appointment, and consent
is not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The appointment is to be in writing and
signed by the Director and a copy of the appointment is to be given by the appointing
Director to the Company at the Office.

(c)

The appointment takes effect immediately upon receipt of the appointment at the Office.

15.216.2

Conditions of office of alternate Director

The following provisions apply to an alternate Director:
(a)

the alternate Director may be removed or suspended from office upon receipt at the
Office of written notice, letter, facsimile transmission or other form of visible
communication from the Director by whom the alternate Director was appointed to the
Company;

(b)

the alternate Director is entitled to receive notice of meetings of the Board and to attend
and vote at the meetings if the Director by whom the alternate Director was appointed is
not present;

(c)

the alternate Director is entitled to exercise all the powers (except the power to appoint
an alternate Director) and perform all duties of a Director, in so far as the Director by
whom the alternate Director was appointed had not exercised or performed them;

(d)

the alternate Director is not, unless the Board otherwise determines, (without prejudice
to the right to reimbursement for expenses pursuant to rule 15.614.5) entitled to receive
any remuneration as a Director from the Company, and any remuneration (not including
remuneration authorised by the Board or reimbursement for expenses) paid to the
alternate Director by the Company is to be deducted from the remuneration of the
Director by whom the alternate Director was appointed;

(e)

the office of the alternate Director is vacated upon vacation of office by the Director or
written resignation being given to the Company by the Director, by whom the alternate
Director was appointed;

(f)

the alternate Director is not to be taken into account in determining the number of
Directors or rotation of Directors; and

(g)

the alternate Director is, while acting as a Director, responsible to the Company for the
alternate Director’s own acts and defaults and is not to be deemed to be the agent of the
Director by whom the alternate Director was appointed.
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1617 Vacation of office of Director
16.117.1

Vacation of office by Director

(a)

The office of a Director is vacated:
(i)

under rule 17.3;

(i)(ii)

upon the Director becoming an insolvent under administration, suspending
payment generally to creditors or compounding with or assigning the Director’s
estate for the benefit of creditors;

(ii)(iii) upon the Director becoming a person of unsound mind or a person who is a
patient under laws relating to mental health or whose estate is administered
under laws relating to mental health;
(iii)(iv) upon the Director being absent from meetings of the Board during a period of
three consecutive calendar months without leave of absence from the Board
where the Board has not, within 14 days of having been served by the Secretary
with a notice giving particulars of the absence, resolved that leave of absence be
granted;
(iv)(v) upon the Director resigning office by notice in writing to the Company;
(v)(vi) upon the Director being removed from office pursuant to the Corporations Act; or
(vi)(vii) upon the Director being prohibited from being a Director by reason of the
operation of law.
(b)

In addition to the removal of a Director pursuant to the Corporations Act, the Company
may by resolution remove any Director (other than a Director appointed under rule
15.3(a)) before the expiration of his period of office, and may by resolution appoint
another person in their place.

(c)

The incoming Director is subject to retirement at the same time as if they had become a
Director on the day on which the removed Director was last elected a Director.

(d)

A Director who vacates office pursuant to rule 17.116.1(a) is not to be taken into account
in determining the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at any annual
general meeting.

16.217.2

Directors who are employees of the Company

The office of a Director who is an employee of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries,
becomes vacant upon the Director ceasing to be employed (so that they are no longer employed
by the Company or any subsidiary of the Company) but the person concerned is eligible for
reappointment or re-election as a Director of the Company.
17.3

Vacation of office of Shareholder appointed Directors
(a)

Subject to the Corporations Act and rule 17.1, a Director appointed by a Voting
Shareholder (together with its Associates) under rule 15.3(a)
(i)
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shares specified in rule 15.3(a) to appoint the number of Directors the Voting
Shareholder (together with its Associates) has appointed.
(b)

Where a Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) has appointed more than one
Director in under rule 15.3(a) and it, along with its Associates, ceases to hold the
percentage of the issued capital in the Company specified in rule 15.3(a) to appoint the
number of Directors the Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) has appointed:

(a)(c)

(i)

that Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) may nominate the Director
to cease as a Director; and

(ii)

if no nomination is provided to the Company by that Voting Shareholder
(together with its Associates) within three Business Days of the Voting
Shareholder (together with its Associates) ceasing to hold the percentage of
ordinary class shares specified in rule 15.3(a), the Director most recently
appointed by that Voting Shareholder (together with its Associates) under rule
15.3(a) automatically ceases to be a Director.

The Board may appoint a Director under rule 15.2 to fill any casual vacancy arising as a
result of a Director ceasing as a Director under rule 17.3. Such Director holds office until
the next annual general meeting after the Director is appointed.

1718 Election of Directors
17.118.1

Retirement of Directors

Without prejudice to rules 15.214.2, and 17.1(b)16.1(b) and 17.3(c), and excluding any Director
appointed under rule 15.3(a), a Director must retire from office at the conclusion of the second
annual general meeting after which the Director was elected or re-elected. A Retiring Director
retains office until the dissolution or adjournment of the meeting at which the Retiring Director
retires.
(a)
17.218.2

Who must retire?

For the purposes of rule 18.117.1, the length of time a Director has been in office is calculated
from the Director’s last election or appointment. A Retiring Director is eligible for re-election.
17.318.3

Nomination of Directors

No person (other than a Retiring Director) is eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting unless the person or some Shareholder intending to nominate the person has
given notice in writing signed by the nominee giving consent to the nomination and signifying
either candidature for the office or the intention of the Shareholder to nominate the nominee. To
be valid, the notice is required to be left at the Office not less than 30 Business Days nor more
than 65 Business Days before the meeting unless the nominee has been recommended by the
Board for election, in which case the notice is required to be left at the Office at least 25 Business
Days before the meeting.
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1819 Managing Director
18.119.1

Appointment of a Managing Director

The Board may from time to time appoint one of the Board to be Managing Director (who may
bear that title or any other title determined by the Board) for a period ending on the happening
of events (if any) stipulated by the Board, at a remuneration which may be by way of salary or
commission on or participation in profits or by any or all of these methods (but not by a
commission on or percentage of operating revenue) and otherwise on terms as determined by
the Board from time to time. The Board may confer upon a Managing Director any of the powers
exercisable under these rules by the Board as it thinks fit and upon any conditions it thinks
expedient but the conferring of powers by the Board upon a Managing Director does not exclude
the exercise of those powers by the Board.
18.219.2

Managing Director not to be subject to retirement by rotation

A Managing Director is not subject to retirement as a Director by rotation while continuing to hold
the office of Director and is not to be taken into account in determining the rotation or retirement
of Directors or the number of Directors to retire, but is subject to the same provisions as to
resignation and removal as the other Directors of the Company. A Managing Director ceases to
be a Managing Director if the Managing Director ceases to hold office as a Director.

1920 Proceedings of Directors
19.120.1

Procedures relating to directors’ meetings

(a)

The Board may meet together, upon each Director being given reasonable notice, for the
dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit.

(b)

Until otherwise determined by the Board, fourtwo Directors form a quorum.

(c)

Notice is deemed to have been given to a Director, and all Directors are hereby deemed
to have consented to the method of giving notice, if notice is sent by mail, personal
delivery, facsimile transmission or by electronic mail to the usual place of residence, fax
number or electronic address of the Director (if any fax number or electronic address is
notified to the Company) or at any other address given to the Secretary by the Director
from time to time subject to the right of the Director to withdraw such consent within a
reasonable period before a meeting.

19.220.2

Meetings by telephone or other means of communication

The Directors may meet either in person or by telephone or by other means of communication
consented to by all Directors subject to the right of a Director to withdraw their consent within a
reasonable period before a meeting. All persons participating in the meeting must be able to
hear and be heard by all other participants. A meeting conducted by telephone or other means
of communication is deemed to be held at the place agreed upon by the Directors attending the
meeting, provided that at least one of the Directors present at the meeting is at that place for the
duration of the meeting.
19.320.3

Votes at meetings

Questions arising at any meeting of the Board are decided by a majority of votes.
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19.420.4

Convening of meetings

The Chairman or the Board may at any time, and the Secretary, upon the request of any one
Director, must, convene a meeting of the Board.
19.520.5

Chairman

The Board must elect a Chairman and a deputy Chairman of its meetings and determine the
period for which each is to hold office. If no Chairman or deputy Chairman is elected or if at any
meeting the Chairman and the deputy Chairman are not present at the time specified for holding
the meeting (or, if being present, the relevant Directors refuse to act as Chairman or deputy
Chairman), the Directors present must choose one of their number to be Chairman of the
meeting.
19.620.6

Powers of meetings

A meeting of the Board or any adjournment of a meeting at which a quorum is present is
competent to exercise any of the authorities, powers and discretions for the time being vested in
or exercisable by the Board.
19.720.7

Delegation of powers to Committees

The Board may, subject to the constraints imposed by law, delegate any of its powers to
Committees consisting of one or more Directors or any other person or persons as the Board
thinks fit. Any Committee formed or person or persons appointed to the Committee must, in the
exercise of the powers delegated, conform to any regulations that may from time to time be
imposed by the Board. A delegate of the Board may be authorised to sub-delegate any of the
powers for the time being vested in the delegate.
19.820.8

Proceedings of committees

The meetings and proceedings of any Committee are to be governed by the provisions of these
rules for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Board so far as they are applicable and
are not superseded by any regulations made by the Board under rule 20.719.7.
19.920.9

Validity of acts

(a)

All acts done at any meeting of the Board or by a Committee or by any person acting as
a Director are, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some
defect in the appointment of any of the Directors or the Committee or the person acting
as a Director or that any of them were disqualified, as valid as if every person had been
duly appointed and was qualified and continued to be a Director or a member of the
Committee (as the case may be).

(b)

If the number of Directors is reduced below the minimum number fixed pursuant to these
rules, the continuing Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of
Directors to that number or of calling a general meeting of the Company but for no other
purpose.

19.1020.10

Resolution in writing

(a)
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(b)

For the purposes of this rule the references to ‘Directors’ include any alternate Director
for the time being present in Australia who is appointed by a Director not for the time
being present in Australia but does not include any other alternate Director.

(c)

A facsimile transmission or other document produced by mechanical or electronic means
under the name of a Director with the Director’s authority is deemed to be a document in
writing signed by the Director.

19.1120.11

Nominee Directors

If at any time the Company is or becomes a wholly owned subsidiary of a corporation then the
Directors appointed by that corporation to the Board of the Company are hereby authorised and
permitted to take into account the interests of the appointor corporation when exercising their
powers or performing their duties as Directors of the Company, acting together or individually.

2021 Powers of the Board
20.121.1

General powers of the Board

The management and control of the business and affairs of the Company are vested in the
Board, which (in addition to the powers and authorities conferred upon them by these rules) may
exercise all powers and do all things as are within the power of the Company and are not by
these rules or by the Corporations Act directed or required to be exercised or done by the
Company in general meeting.
20.221.2

Power to borrow and guarantee

Without limiting the generality of rule 21.120.1, the Board may exercise all the powers of the
Company to raise or borrow money, may guarantee the debts or obligations of any person and
may enter into any other financing arrangement, in each case in the manner and on the terms it
thinks fit.
20.321.3

Power to give security

Without limiting the generality of rule 21.120.1, the Board may charge any property or business
of the Company or any of its uncalled capital and may issue debentures or give any other security
for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other person, in each case, in the
manner and on the terms it thinks fit.
20.421.4

Power to make Calls

Without limiting the generality of rule 21.120.1, if any uncalled capital of the Company is included
in or charged by any debenture, mortgage or other security, the Board may, by instrument under
the Seal or other appropriate instrument, authorise the person in whose favour the debenture,
mortgage or other security is executed or any other person in trust for him to make Calls on the
Shareholders in respect of that uncalled capital and to sue in the name of the Company or
otherwise for the recovery of moneys becoming due in respect of Calls made and to give valid
receipts for those moneys, and the authority subsists during the continuance of the debenture,
mortgage or other security, notwithstanding any change in the Directors, and is assignable if so
expressed.
20.521.5

Power to issue Securities

Any bonds, debentures or other Securities may be issued with or without the right of or
obligation on the holder thereof to exchange the same in whole or in part of shares in the
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Company at a certain or uncertain time or with any special privileges as to redemption,
surrender, drawings, allotment of shares, attending and voting at general meetings of the
Company, appointment of Directors and otherwise and generally with such rights and options and
upon such conditions in all respects as the Board thinks fit.
20.621.6

Personal liability of officer

If the Board or any member thereof or any officer of the Company becomes personally liable for
the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be
executed any charge or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the persons or person so becoming liable as aforesaid
from any loss in respect of such liability.
20.721.7

Power to require statutory declaration of suppliers

The Board may, by notice in writing served on a Shareholder, require the Shareholder to furnish
a statutory declaration within 14 days of the notice being served, for the purpose of determining
whether each Supply Condition for any relevant Financial Year has been met and/or whether that
Shareholder is an Active Grower. If the Shareholder fails to provide the statutory declaration
requested within the specified period, and the Board is unable to satisfy itself whether the
Shareholder has complied with their Supply Conditions or is an Active Grower, then the Board
may in its absolute discretion make a determination about the subject matter of the request
without further recourse to the Shareholder.
20.821.8

Further enquiries

If the Board wishes to make further enquiries, the Shareholder must use its best endeavours
ensure that it co-operates with all reasonable requests for information made by the Board in
relation to the subject matter of the request.
21.9

Disposal of substantial assets
The Disposal of a Substantial Asset must first be approved by a Directors’ Special Resolution.

2122 Branch register
The Company may cause to be kept a branch register of Shareholders in accordance with, and as
permitted, by the Corporations Act.

2223 The Seal
22.123.1

Execution of cheques and bills

All cheques, bills of exchange and promissory notes are to be signed, drawn, made, accepted or
endorsed (as the case may be) for and on behalf of the Company by two Directors, or by one
Director and the Secretary or some other officer authorised by the Board, or in such other
manner as the Board from time to time determines.
22.223.2

Company Seal is optional

The Company may have a Seal.
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22.323.3

Affixing the Seal

If the Company has a Seal, the Board is to provide for its safe custody and it should only be used
by the authority of the Board. Every instrument to which the Seal is affixed is to be signed by a
Director and countersigned by the Secretary or by a second Director or by another person
appointed by the Board for the purpose. The Board may determine either generally or in any
particular case that a signature may be affixed by a mechanical means specified in the
determination.
22.423.4

Execution of documents without a Seal

The Company may execute a document, including a deed, by having the document signed by:
(a)

two Directors;

(b)

a Director and the Secretary, and

if the Company executes a deed, the document is to be expressed to be executed as a deed and
be executed in accordance with the appropriate procedures set out in rule 23.322.3 or this rule.
22.523.5

Other ways of executing documents

Notwithstanding the provisions of rules 23.322.3 and 23.422.4, any document including a deed,
may also be executed by the Company in any other manner permitted by law.

2324 Minutes
23.124.1

Contents of minutes

The Board must ensure that minutes are duly recorded in any manner it thinks fit and include:
(a)

the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Board and of any Committees;
and

(b)

details of all resolutions and proceedings of general meetings of the Company and of
meetings of the Board and any Committees.

23.224.2

Signing of minutes

The minutes of any meeting of the Board or of any Committee or of the Company, if purporting
to be signed by the Chairman of the meeting or by the Chairman of the next succeeding meeting,
are prima facie evidence of the matters stated in the minutes.

2425 Dividends
24.125.1

Payment of dividend

The Board may from time to time determine that a dividend is payable to the Shareholders. The
dividend is (subject to the rights of, or any restrictions on, the holders of shares created or raised
under any special arrangement as to dividend) payable on all shares in proportion to the amount
of total issue price for the time being paid or credited as paid in respect of the shares, and may
be paid at a rate per annum in respect of a specified period provided that (for the purposes of
this rule) no amount paid on a share in advance of Calls is to be treated as paid on that share.
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24.225.2

Dividend plans

(a)

The Board may establish and maintain one or more dividend plans (including the
establishment of rules) pursuant to which Shareholders may elect with respect to some
or all of their shares (subject to the rules of the relevant plan):
(i)

to reinvest in whole or in part dividends paid or payable or which may become
payable by the Company to the Shareholder in cash by subscribing for shares in
the capital of the Company;

(ii)

to receive a dividend from the Company by way of the allotment of shares paid
up from such account or reserve from which such shares may be issued under
the Corporations Act;

(iii)

that dividends from the Company not be paid and that instead a payment or
distribution other than a dividend be made by the Company;

(iv)

that cash dividends from the Company not be paid and that instead a cash
dividend be received from a related corporation nominated by the Board;

(v)

to participate in a dividend selection plan, including but not limited to a plan
pursuant to which Shareholders may elect to receive a dividend from the
Company or any related corporation which is less in amount but franked to a
greater extent than the ordinary cash dividend that would be payable by the
Company or any related body corporate or to receive a dividend from the
Company or any related body corporate which is greater in amount but franked
to a lesser extent than the ordinary cash dividend that would be payable by the
Company or any related body corporate.

(b)

Pursuant to a dividend plan established in accordance with rule 25.224.2(a) any
Shareholder may elect for a specified period or for a period to be determined by specified
notice (in either case determined by the Board and prescribed in the rules of the plan)
that all or some of the ordinary shares held by that Shareholder and designated by the
Shareholder in accordance with the rules of the plan (Designated Shares) may
participate in the dividend plan. During that period the Designated Shares are entitled to
participate in the dividend plan subject to the rules of the dividend plan.

(c)

In the event of any inconsistency between any dividend plan established in accordance
with rule 25.224.2(a) or rules of any dividend plan and these rules, these rules prevail.

(d)

The Board is authorised to do all things which they consider to be desirable or necessary
for the purpose of implementing every dividend plan established in accordance with
rule 25.224.2(a).

(e)

The Board is authorised to vary the rules of any dividend plan established in accordance
with rule 25.224.2(a) at their discretion and to suspend or terminate any dividend plan at
their discretion. Any dividend plan may also be suspended, terminated or varied by
resolution of a general meeting of the Company.

24.325.3

Interim dividends

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders on account of the next forthcoming
dividend any interim dividend as in its judgment is justified by the financial position of the
Company, subject to the rights of, or any restrictions, on the holders of shares created or raised
under any special arrangement as to dividends.
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24.425.4

Dividends out of profits

No dividend is payable except out of the profits of the Company, and no dividend or other
moneys payable on or in respect of a share carries interest as against the Company. The
declaration of the Board as to the amount of the profits of the Company is conclusive.
24.525.5

Reserves

The Board may, in priority to any dividend, set aside out of the profits of the Company any sums
as it thinks proper as a reserve, which at the discretion of the Board may be applicable for any
purpose to which the profits of the Company may be properly applied, and pending application
may be employed in the business of the Company or be invested in any investments the Board
may from time to time think fit. Any income derived from or accretions to such shares, Securities
or other investments may either be carried to the credit of the reserve fund or reserve funds
represented by such shares, Securities or other investments or be dealt with as profits arising
from the business of the Company.
24.625.6

Distribution otherwise than in cash

When declaring a dividend the Board may:
(a)

direct payment of the dividend wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets or
documents of title and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or debenture stock of
the Company or any other company; and

(b)

determine and announce that each Shareholder entitled to participate in the dividend
may elect that the payment of the dividend be satisfied in respect of all, or a number of
shares less than all of the shares held by the Shareholder by the allotment of paid up
shares in accordance with the plan.

24.725.7

Power to capitalise profits

The Board may resolve that the whole or any portion of any sum forming part of the undivided
profits of the Company or standing to the credit of any reserve or other account and which is
available for distribution, be capitalised and distributed to Shareholders in the same proportions
in which they would be entitled to receive it if distributed by way of dividend or in accordance
with either the terms of issue of any shares or the terms of any plan for the issue of Securities
for the benefit of officers or employees. All or any part of the sum is to be applied on the behalf
by Shareholders either in paying up the amounts for the time being unpaid on any issued shares
held by them, or in paying up in full unissued shares or other Securities of the Company (of an
aggregate amount equal to the amount capitalised) which are to be issued to them accordingly,
or partly in one way or partly in the other.
24.825.8

Appropriation and application of amounts to be capitalised

The Board may specify the manner in which any fractional entitlements and any difficulties
relating to distribution are to be dealt with and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
may specify that fractions are to be disregarded or that any fractional entitlements are to be
increased to the next whole number or that payments in cash in lieu of fractional entitlements be
made. The Board may make all necessary appropriations and applications of the amount to be
capitalised pursuant to rule 25.724.7 and all necessary allotments and issues of fully paid shares
or debentures. Where required, the Board may appoint a person to sign a contract on behalf of
the Shareholders entitled upon a capitalisation to any shares or debentures, which provides for
the issue to them, credited as fully paid of any further shares or debentures or for the payment
by the Company on their behalf of the amounts or any part of the amounts remaining unpaid on
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their existing shares by the application of their respective proportions of the sum resolved to be
capitalised.
24.925.9

Transfer of shares

A transfer of shares registered after the transfer books close for dividend purposes, but before a
dividend is payable, does not pass the right to any dividend fixed for payment before the books
are closed.
24.1025.10

Retention of dividends

The Board may retain the dividends payable on shares which any person is under rules 10.6 or
10.7 entitled to transfer until the person becomes registered as a Shareholder in respect of the
shares or duly transfers them. The Board may also retain any dividends on or in respect of which
(or on or in respect of the shares upon which any such dividend is payable) the Company has a
lien or charge under rule 8.8 and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the Calls,
instalments or sums owing in respect of which the lien or charge exists.
24.1125.11

How dividends are payable

Payment of any dividend may be made in any manner and by any means as determined by the
Board. Without prejudice to any other method of payment which the Board may adopt any
dividend may be paid by cheque or warrant made payable to the Shareholder entitled to the
dividend or in the case of joint holders to the Shareholder whose name stands first in the
Register in respect of the joint holding. Payment of any dividend may be made by sending the
cheque, warrant or other means of payment to the Shareholder entitled to the dividend through
the post to the Shareholder’s Registered Address, and upon posting, every payment of any
dividend, is at the risk of the Shareholder.
24.1225.12

Unclaimed dividends

All unclaimed dividends may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for the benefit of
the Company until claimed or otherwise disposed of according to law.

2526 Dispute resolution procedure
25.126.1

Condition precedent to giving notice to repeal Board determination

If a Shareholder reasonably believes that the Board has exercised its discretion or failed to
exercise its discretion under the rules listed in rules 4.1, 4.2(b), 5.2(e) or 5.3(e) in contravention
of this constitution and the shareholder has been aggrieved or disadvantaged as a result
(Dispute), the aggrieved Shareholder and the Board must use their best endeavours to resolve
the Dispute in the manner set out in this rule.
25.226.2

Notice of Dispute

An aggrieved Shareholder claiming that a Dispute has arisen must notify the Board specifying the
nature of the Dispute (Dispute Notice).
25.326.3

Resolution of Dispute by negotiation

(a)
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(i)

prepare and exchange with the other party, a brief statement setting out its
position on the Dispute and its reasons for adopting that position; and

(ii)

give to the other party any information it may reasonably require to consider the
issues relevant to the Dispute.

(b)

Within ten Business Days after the date the statements are due to be exchanged under
rule 26.3(a)25.3(a), the Board and the aggrieved Shareholder (or their duly appointed
nominees with full authority to settle the Dispute) must meet and use their best
endeavours to resolve the Dispute.

(c)

In the absence of agreement between the parties as to the time and venue for the
meeting, the meeting must take place at the Office of the Company at 9am on the last
Business Day of the time referred to in rule 26.3(b)25.3(b) (Meeting Date).

25.426.4

Resolution of issues by Expert

If the Dispute is not resolved under rule 26.325.3, the Shareholder may during the next 10
Business Days after the Meeting Date give a notice (Expert Determination Notice) to the
Board requiring the dispute to be referred to an Expert in the relevant discipline for
determination.
25.526.5

Who is an Expert?

(a)

In this rule an Expert is a person who having the qualifications set out in rule 26.525.5 is
selected by agreement of the Board and the Shareholder within 10 Business Days after
the Expert Determination Notice is given or failing agreement during that time selected
within the next 10 Business Days by:

(b)

the President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants (New South Wales
Branch) for a Dispute concerning financial matters;

(ii)

the President of the Law Society of New South Wales for a Dispute concerning
legal matters;

(iii)

the President of the Institute of Arbitrators and Mediators Australia for a Dispute
about any other matters.

An Expert must:

25.626.6

(i)

have appropriate and reasonable qualifications as well as commercial and
practical experience in the area of Dispute;

(ii)

be independent of each party;

(iii)

have no interest or duty that conflicts or may conflict with the Expert’s function
as an Expert; and

(iv)

have professional indemnity insurance of an amount reasonable and customary
for a person undertaking the Expert’s activity.

Referring Dispute to the Expert

(a)
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particular matter to be determined as well as all reasonably relevant matters together
with copies of the statements referred to in rule 26.325.3.
(b)

Each party must use its best endeavours to provide the Expert with any information
reasonably required by the Expert.

(c)

Unless the parties agree otherwise, any meeting with the Expert will be held at the Office
of the Company.

25.726.7

Rules applying to Expert

(a)

The Expert must:

(b)

(i)

act as an expert and not as an arbitrator;

(ii)

take into consideration and comply with the rules of this constitution;

(iii)

proceed in any manner he or she thinks appropriate without being bound to
observe the rules of evidence of any jurisdiction but subject to the requirements
of procedural fairness;

(iv)

take into consideration, all documents, information and other material which the
Board or the aggrieved Shareholder give the Expert, including documents,
information and material relating to the facts in the Dispute and to arguments
and submissions upon the matters in dispute;

(v)

not be expected or required to obtain or refer to any other documents,
information or material (with the exception of this Constitution) but may do so if
he or she thinks it is appropriate;

(vi)

use his or her own expertise in forming conclusions and may consult with such
other professionally qualified persons as the Expert thinks fit; and

(vii)

give a decision on the matter in dispute within 30 Business Days from the
acceptance by the Expert of the appointment (or any extended period as the
Board and Shareholders agree).

The Expert may, if requested by either the Board or the Shareholder, amend his or her
determination to correct:

25.826.8

(i)

clerical mistakes;

(ii)

an error arising from an accidental mistake or omission;

(iii)

a material miscalculation of figures or a material mistake in the description of any
person, thing or matter;

(iv)

a defect in form.

Termination of process

If no Expert Determination Notice is given under rule 26.425.4, the Board may by notice in
writing to the aggrieved Shareholder, terminate the dispute resolution process set out in this rule
provided it has complied with this rule.
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25.926.9

Effect of Expert’s determination

(a)

If the Expert rules in favour of the Board on any matters relating to the Dispute, the
decision of the Expert in respect to those matters will be binding on the aggrieved
Shareholder.

(b)

If the Expert rules in favour of the aggrieved Shareholder on any matters relating to the
Dispute, the decision of the Expert in respect of those matters will be binding on the
Board and:

25.1026.10

(i)

the Board must do all things necessary to reverse its previous resolution so as to
put the aggrieved Shareholder back in the position they would have been had the
Board’s resolution not have be approved in the first instance.

(ii)

any compensation to be paid by the Company to an aggrieved Shareholder for
any loss suffered by the aggrieved Shareholder in connection with the reversal of
any resolution of the Board in accordance with this rule 26.925.9, must be limited
to dividends the aggrieved Shareholder would have been entitled to had the
Board’s resolution not have be approved in the first instance;

(iii)

for the avoidance of any doubt, all resolutions of the Board and the Company
made prior to any resolution reversed under this rule 26.925.9 will remain valid
and binding on the Shareholders and the Company, (with the exception of the
Board’s resolution reversed in accordance with this rule 26.925.9), and all prior
resolutions (with the exception of the Board’s resolution reversed in accordance
with this rule 26.925.9) will be deemed to have been ratified by Shareholders
upon the reversal of any resolution in accordance with this rule 26.925.9; and

(iv)

in the event a resolution of the Directors’ is repealed in accordance with this rule
26.925.9, and as a result a procedural irregularity arises in regard to the approval
of any other earlier resolution passed by the Directors or the Company, then any
other earlier resolution passed by the Directors or the Company will not be
invalidated.

Costs

The Company and the aggrieved Shareholder must:
(a)

bear all their own costs and expenses incurred in the dispute resolution process under
this rule; and

(b)

pay an equal proportion of the Expert’s costs and the costs of the Expert’s advisors
unless the Expert, in its absolute discretion, decides otherwise.

25.1126.11

Confidentiality

An aggrieved Shareholder who is claiming that a Dispute has arisen and the Board in the event a
Dispute Notice is provided must:
(a)
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(b)

take or cause to be taken reasonable precautions necessary to maintain the secrecy and
confidentiality of information (whether written or oral) provided to it by the other party
or Expert in connection with the process set out in this rule 2625.

2627 Notices
26.127.1

Service of notices

A notice may be given by the Company to a Shareholder, or in the case of joint holders to the
Shareholder whose name stands first in the Register, personally, by leaving it at the
Shareholder’s Registered Address or by sending it by prepaid post or facsimile transmission
addressed to the Shareholder’s Registered Address or by sending it to the electronic address (if
any) nominated by the Shareholder. All notices sent by prepaid post to persons whose
Registered Address is not in Australia may be sent by airmail or some other way that ensures
that it will be received quickly.
26.227.2

When notice deemed to be served

Any notice sent by post is deemed to have been served at the expiration of 48 hours after the
envelope containing the notice is posted and, in proving service, it is sufficient to prove that the
envelope containing the notice was properly addressed and posted. Any notice served on a
Shareholder personally or left at the Shareholder’s Registered Address is deemed to have been
served when delivered. Any notice served on a Shareholder by facsimile transmission is deemed
to have been served when the transmission is sent. A facsimile is deemed to be duly sent when
the Company’s facsimile system generates a message confirming successful transmission of the
total number of pages of the notice to the addressee. Any notice served on a Shareholder by
electronic means is deemed to have been served when the electronic message is sent.
26.327.3

Shareholder not known at Registered Address

Where a Shareholder does not have a Registered Address or where the Company has bona fide
reason to believe that a Shareholder is not known at the Shareholders Registered Address, all
future notices are deemed to be given to the Shareholder if the notice is exhibited in the Office
for a period of 48 hours (and is deemed to be duly served at the commencement of that period)
unless and until the Shareholder informs the Company of a registered place of address.
26.427.4

Signature to notice

The signature to any notice to be given by the Company may be written or printed.
26.527.5

Reckoning of period of notice

Where a given number of days’ notice or notice extending over any other period is required to be
given, the day of service is not to be reckoned in the number of days or other period.
26.627.6

Notice to transferor binds transferee

Every person who, by operation of law, transfer or any other means becomes entitled to be
registered as the holder of any shares, is bound by every notice which, prior to the person’s
name and address being entered in the Register in respect of those shares, was duly given to the
person from whom the person derives title to those shares.
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26.727.7

Service on deceased Shareholders

A notice delivered or sent by post to the Registered Address of a Shareholder pursuant to these
rules is (notwithstanding that the Shareholder is then dead and whether or not the Company has
notice of the Shareholder’s death) deemed to have been duly served in respect of any registered
shares, whether held solely or jointly with other persons by the Shareholder, until some other
person is registered in the Shareholder’s place as the holder or joint holder and the service is for
all purposes deemed to be sufficient service of the notice or document on the Shareholder’s
heirs, executors or administrators and all persons (if any) jointly interested with the Shareholder
in the shares.
26.827.8

Persons entitled to notice of general meeting

(a)

Notice of every general meeting is to be given to:

(b)

(i)

each member individually who is entitled to vote at general meetings of the
Company;

(ii)

each Director;

(iii)

each person entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a
member who, but for his death or bankruptcy, would be entitled to receive notice
of the meeting; and

(iv)

the auditor for the time being of the Company.

No other person is entitled to receive a notice of general meetings.

2728 Winding up
27.128.1

Distribution in specie

If the Company is wound up, whether voluntarily or otherwise, the liquidator may divide among
all or any of the contributories as the liquidator thinks fit in specie or in kind any part of the
assets of the Company, and may vest any part of the assets of the Company in trustees upon any
trusts for the benefit of all or any of the contributories as the liquidator thinks fit.
27.228.2

Variation of rights of contributories

If thought expedient, any division may be otherwise than in accordance with the legal rights of
the contributories and, in particular, any class may be given preferential or special rights or may
be excluded altogether or in part, but in case any division otherwise than in accordance with the
legal rights of the contributories is determined, any contributory who would be prejudiced by the
division has a right to dissent and ancillary rights as if the determination were a special resolution
passed pursuant to the law relating to the sale or transfer of the Company’s assets by a liquidator
in a voluntary winding up.
27.328.3

Liability to Calls

If any shares to be divided in accordance with rule 28.127.1 involve a liability to Calls or
otherwise, any person entitled under the division to any of the shares may by notice in writing
within ten Business Days after the passing of the special resolution, direct the liquidator to sell
the person’s proportion and pay the person the net proceeds and the liquidator is required, if
practicable, to act accordingly.
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2829 Indemnity
28.129.1

Indemnity in favour of Directors, Secretary and executive officers

Subject to the Corporations Act and rule 29.228.2, the Company shall indemnify each Director,
Secretary and executive officer to the maximum extent permitted by law, against any Liability
incurred by them by virtue of their holding office as, and acting in the capacity of, Director,
Secretary or executive officer of the Company, other than:
(a)

a Liability owed to the Company or a related body corporate of the Company;

(b)

a Liability for a pecuniary penalty order under section 1317G Corporations Act or a
compensation order under section 1317H Corporations Act;

(c)

a Liability owed to a person other than the Company that did not arise out of conduct in
good faith.

28.229.2

Indemnity for legal costs

The Company shall indemnify each Director, Secretary and executive officer to the maximum
extent permitted by law, against any Liability for legal costs incurred by them in respect of a
Liability incurred by them by virtue of their holding office as, and acting in the capacity of,
Director, Secretary or executive officer of the Company other than for legal costs incurred:
(a)

in defending or resisting proceedings, in which the Director, Secretary or executive officer
is found to have a Liability for which they could not be indemnified under rule 29.128.1;

(b)

in defending or resisting criminal proceedings in which the Director, Secretary or
executive officer is found guilty;

(c)

in defending or resisting proceedings brought by the ASIC or a liquidator for a court order
if the grounds for making the order are found by the court to have been established (but
this rule does not apply to costs incurred in responding to actions taken by the ASIC or a
liquidator as part of an investigation before commencing proceedings for the court
order); or

(d)

in connection with proceedings for relief to the Director, Secretary or executive officer
under the law in which the court denies the relief.

28.329.3

Indemnity for employees

Subject to the Corporations Act and rule 29.428.4, the Company may indemnify an employee,
who is not a Director, Secretary or executive officer of the Company, to the maximum extent
permitted by law, against any Liability incurred by them by virtue of their holding office as, and
acting in the capacity of, an officer of the Company, other than:
(a)

a Liability owed to the Company or a related body corporate of the Company;

(b)

a Liability for a pecuniary penalty order under section 1317G Corporations Act or a
compensation order under section 1317H Corporations Act; or

(c)

a Liability owed to a person other than the Company that did not arise out of conduct in
good faith.
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28.429.4

Indemnity for legal costs of employees

The Company may indemnify an employee other than a Director, Secretary or executive officer to
the maximum extent permitted by law, against any Liability for legal costs incurred in respect of a
Liability as, or by virtue of their holding office as, and acting in the capacity of, an officer of the
Company other than for legal costs incurred:
(a)

in defending or resisting proceedings, in which the officer is found to have a Liability for
which they could not be indemnified under rule 29.328.3;

(b)

in defending or resisting criminal proceedings in which the officer is found guilty;

(c)

in defending or resisting proceedings brought by the ASIC or a liquidator for a court order
if the grounds for making the order are found by the court to have been established (but
this rule 29.428.4 does not apply to costs incurred in responding to actions taken by the
ASIC or a liquidator as part of an investigation before commencing proceedings for the
court order); or

(d)

in connection with proceedings for relief to the officer under the law in which the court
denies the relief.

28.529.5

Proceedings

For the purposes of rules 29.228.2 and 29.428.4, ‘proceedings’ includes the outcomes of the
proceedings and any appeal in relation to the proceedings.
28.629.6

Insurance for the benefit of Directors, Secretary and executive officers

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may pay a premium for a contract insuring a
person who is or has been a Director, Secretary or executive officer of the Company acting in
that capacity against:
(a)

costs and expenses in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, whatever
their outcome; or

(b)

a Liability arising from negligence or other conduct.

28.729.7

Insurance for other officers

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may pay a premium for a contract insuring a
person who is or has been an employee and officer of the Company, acting in that capacity, but
who is not a Director, Secretary or executive officer of the Company against:
(a)

costs and expenses in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, whatever
their outcome; or

(b)

a Liability arising from negligence or other conduct.

28.829.8

When insurance may not be provided by the Company

The Company shall not pay, nor agree to pay, a premium for a contract insuring a person who is
or has been a Director, Secretary or executive officer or an employee who is also an officer of the
Company, against a Liability (other than one for legal costs) arising out of:
(a)

50821916v11

conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company; or

|

Constitution of Macadamia Processing Co Limited

47

(b)

a contravention of section 182 or section 183 Corporations Act.

28.929.9

Definitions for rule 2928

In rule 2928:
Term

Definition

executive officer

means a person who is concerned, or takes part in, the
management of the Company (regardless of the person’s
designation and whether or not the person is a Director of the
Company).

Liability

includes any claim, action, suit, proceeding, investigation, inquiry,
damage, loss, cost or expense.

officer

means a Director or Secretary of the Company and a person:
(a)

who makes, or participates in making, decisions that affect
the whole, or a substantial part, of the business of the
Company;

(b)

who has the capacity to affect significantly the Company’s
financial standing; or

(c)

in accordance with whose instructions or wishes the
members of the Board is accustomed to act (excluding
advice given by the person in the proper performance of
functions attaching to the person’s professional capacity or
their business relationship with the Board or the Company).

2930 Partial takeovers
29.130.1

Definitions for rule 3029

In rule 3029:
Term

Definition

Proportional Takeover
Bid

has the meaning given to that term in section 9 Corporations Act.

Relevant Day

in relation to a Proportional Takeover Bid, means the day that is
14 days before the end of the period during which the offers under
the Proportional Takeover Bid remain open.

29.230.2

Approval of partial takeover bids

(a)

Where offers have been made under a Proportional Takeover Bid in respect of shares in a
class of shares in the Company, the registration of a transfer giving effect to a takeover
contract for the bid is prohibited unless and until a resolution (Approving Resolution)
to approve the Proportional Takeover Bid is passed under this rule.

(b)

A person other than the bidder or an Associate of the bidder who, as at the end of the
day of which the first offer under the Proportional Takeover Bid was made, held shares in
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that class is entitled to vote on an Approving Resolution and, for the purpose of voting, is
entitled to one vote for each of the shares held in that class.
(c)

An Approving Resolution is to be voted on at a meeting of the persons entitled to vote on
the Approving Resolution, convened and conducted by the Company.

(d)

The provisions of these rules that apply in relation to a general meeting of the Company,
apply in relation to a meeting that is convened to vote on an Approving Resolution as if
such a meeting was a general meeting of the Company, with such modifications as the
circumstances require.

(e)

An Approving Resolution that has been voted on under this rule, is taken to have been
passed if the proportion that the number of votes in favour of the resolution bears to the
total number of votes on the resolution is greater than 50%, and otherwise is taken to
have been rejected.

(f)

Where offers have been made under a Proportional Takeover Bid the Board must ensure
that a resolution to approve the Proportional Takeover Bid is voted on under this rule,
before the Relevant Day.

(g)

Were a resolution to approve a Proportional Takeover Bid is voted on under this rule,
then the Company must, on or before the Relevant Day, give to the bidder a notice in
writing stating that a resolution has been voted on and whether the resolution has been
passed, or has been rejected, as the case requires.

(h)

Where, at the end of the day before the Relevant Day, no resolution to approve the
Proportional Takeover Bid has been voted on under this rule, a resolution to approve the
Proportional Takeover Bid under this rule is deemed to have been passed.

(i)

Where a resolution under this rule is rejected:

(j)

50821916v11

(i)

notwithstanding section 652A Corporations Act, all offers under the Proportional
Takeover Bid that have not, as at the end of the Relevant Day, been accepted,
and all offers (accepted offers) under the Proportional Takeover Bid that have
been accepted and from whose acceptance binding contracts have not resulted,
at the end of the Relevant Day, are deemed to be withdrawn at the end of the
Relevant Day;

(ii)

the bidder is, forthwith after the end of the Relevant Day, to return to each
person who has accepted any of the accepted offers any documents that were
sent by the person to the bidder with the acceptance of the offer;

(iii)

the bidder is entitled to rescind, and is required, forthwith after the end of the
Relevant Day, to rescind, each binding contract resulting from the acceptance of
an offer made under the Proportional Takeover Bid; and

(iv)

a person who has accepted an offer made under the Proportional Takeover Bid is
entitled to rescind the contract (if any) resulting from that acceptance.

This rule ceases to have effect on the third anniversary of the later of the date of
adoption or last renewal of this rule.
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3031 Prohibition from listing
30.131.1

Company not to be listed on any stock exchange

The quotation of shares in the Company for sale or purchase at any stock exchange or in any
other public manner is prohibited.
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Dear Directors

Introduction
Macadamia Processing Co Limited (“MPC” or “the Company”) is an Australian agribusiness
focussing on the processing, distribution and marketing of macadamia kernels and Nut-In-Shell
(“NIS”) for the wholesale and retail markets. MPC is the largest macadamia processor in Australia. In
addition to its own processing business, MPC holds a 37% interest in Pacific Gold Macadamias Pty
Ltd (“PGM”), Australia’s second largest macadamia processor and a 50% interest in Macadamia
Marketing International Pty Ltd (“MMI”), the world’s largest marketer of macadamia kernels. The
remaining 50% of MMI is owned by PGM.
PGM operates a macadamia processing facility located in Bundaberg, Queensland. In addition to its
processing operations, PGM owns a retail packaging line that is used for a major Australian
supermarket. All nuts processed by MPC and PGM are currently marketed through MMI. PGM and
MPC have the same CEO and a number of common directors and shareholders.
On or around 6 February 2019, MPC and the shareholders of PGM entered into individual Share
Sale Agreements all interdependent between each other to implement the amalgamation of MPC
and PGM (“the Proposed Transaction”). Set out below is a summary of the key terms of the
Proposed Transaction (refer to section 1 for further details).


The Proposed Transaction will be implemented as a scrip transaction with MPC acquiring 100%
of the issued shares in PGM that it does not already own and PGM will become a wholly owned
subsidiary of MPC (“Merged Group”).



MPC will issue 1 new fully paid ordinary share in MPC for every 5.359 fully paid ordinary shares
in PGM based on the relative forecast net asset values of MPC and PGM as at 31 March 2019.
As a result, MPC will issue 634,415 fully paid ordinary shares (“MPC Shares”) to PGM
Shareholders (other than MPC).



As a result of the Proposed Transaction, MMI will become a wholly owned subsidiary of MPC
and it will continue to exclusively market the nuts processed by MPC and PGM.



In conjunction with the Proposed Transaction, the Company is also seeking Non-Associated
Shareholder approval to implement certain changes to the constitution (interdependent with the
Proposed Transaction).
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PGM’s Shareholders are MPC 37.04%, entities associated with the Zadro Family (“Zadro” or
“Saratoga”)1 37.04%, entities associated with the Costi Family (“Costi”)2 18.52% and entities
associated with the Manera Family (“Manera”) 7.41% (Zadro, Costi and Manera are collectively
referred to as “the Vendors”).
Zadro and Costi are also shareholders of MPC, controlling 27.32% and 10.12% of the issued capital
respectively before the Proposed Transaction. As a result of the common shareholders, MPC and
PGM also have common directors and accordingly they are considered related parties (“Related
Parties”) in accordance with the Corporations Act.
If the Proposed Transaction is implemented, Zadro will increase its shareholding in MPC from
27.32% to 34.43% and Costi from 10.12% to 14.48%3.
The Non-Interested Directors4 of MPC have recommended that MPC Shareholders vote in favour of
all the resolutions to effect the Proposed Transaction and each Non-Interested Director of MPC
intends to vote all MPC Shares held or controlled by them in favour of the Proposed Transaction.

Purpose of the report
The Directors of MPC have engaged Grant Thornton Corporate Finance to prepare an independent
expert’s report stating whether, in its opinion, the Proposed Transaction is fair and reasonable to the
MPC Shareholders not associated with Zadro (“Non-Associated Shareholders”) for the purposes of
Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act and whether or not any financial benefit is provided to
the Related Parties for the purpose of Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act.
Australian Securities Investment Commission (“ASIC”) Regulatory Guide 111 Contents of expert
reports (“RG 111”) requires an independent expert to only conduct one analysis of whether the
transaction is fair and reasonable even if the report has been prepared for reasons other than the
transaction being a related party transaction (e.g. if item 7 of s611 approval is also required). Given
that we consider the fair and reasonable test for control transactions under item 7 of s611 a higher
threshold test compared with the fair and reasonable test for related party transactions, we have only
undertaken our fairness and reasonableness assessment in accordance with item 7 of section 611
of the Corporations Act.
When preparing this IER, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has had regard to RG111 and
Regulatory Guide 112 Independence of experts (“RG 112”). The IER also includes other information
and disclosures as required by ASIC.

It owns 27.32% of MPC and 37.04% of PGM before the Proposed Transaction.
It owns 10.12% of MPC and 18.52% of PGM before the Proposed Transaction.
3 The voting power after the Proposed Transaction will change from 30.9% to 37.8% for the Zadro entity and from 11.5% to 15.9% for the
Costi entity. Refer to Section 6.1.4 for further detail.
4 Refers to Mr. Ford, Mr. Norval, Mr. Leslie and Mr. Costi (Mr. Costi is an interested Director only with respect to resolution 3 - the
acquisition of a relevant interest in voting shares by Saratoga).
1
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Summary of opinion
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has concluded that the Proposed Transaction is NOT FAIR
BUT REASONABLE to the Non-Associated Shareholders.

Fairness Assessment
In accordance with the requirements of RG111, in forming our opinion in relation to the fairness of
the Proposed Transaction to the Non-Associated Shareholders, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance
has compared the value per MPC Share before the Proposed Transaction (on a control basis) to the
assessed value of the Merged Group after the Proposed Transaction (on a minority basis).
The following table summarises our fairness assessment:
Fairness assessment
A$ per share

Section
Reference

Low

High

Value of MPC Shares before the Proposed Transaction (on a control basis)

8

23.69

28.27

Value of the Merged Group (on a minority basis)

9

21.52

25.82

Prem ium/(discount)

(2.17)

(2.44)

Prem ium/(discount) (%)

(9.2%)

(8.6%)

FAIRNESS ASSESSMENT

NOT FAIR

Our assessment of the fair market value per MPC share on a control basis before the Proposed
Transaction is higher than our assessment per Merged Group share on a minority basis after the
Proposed Transaction. Accordingly, we have concluded that the Proposed Transaction is NOT FAIR
to the Non-Associated Shareholders.

Conclusion on the fairness of the Proposed Transaction
Reasonableness Assessment
ASIC RG111 establishes that an offer is reasonable if it is fair. If an offer is not fair, it can still be
reasonable if the advantages of the Proposed Transaction outweigh the disadvantages. In our
reasonableness assessment, we have considered the following advantages, disadvantages and
other factors.
Advantages
Consideration of the Proposed Transaction on a like-for-like basis
In accordance with the requirements of RG111, we have evaluated the fairness of the Proposed
Transaction by comparing the value of MPC before the Proposed Transaction on a 100% basis and
incorporating the application of a premium for control, with the value of the Merged Group on a
minority basis. However, we are of the opinion that Zadro and its associates are not obtaining full
and unfettered control of MPC due to the following:


Non-Associated Shareholders will own circa 66% of the issued shares in the Merged Group.
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MPC and PGM have historically effectively operated as an integrated business with the same
CEO, strategy, payments to growers and marketing of their products.



The current Chairman and CEO of MPC will continue to lead the Merged Group.



Management of MPC is expected to drive and oversee the integration of the two companies.



The current head office of MPC will be the head office of the Merged Group.

In our opinion, the rationale of the Proposed Transaction is to formally combine the operations of the
two businesses to enhance the ability of the Merged Group to withstand the structural changes in the
industry, rather than strictly a change of control of MPC, especially as both companies have a similar
shareholder base.
Accordingly, we believe it is appropriate to also illustrate to the Non-Associated Shareholders a
comparison of the value per MPC share before and after the Proposed Transaction on a like-for-like
basis (i.e. control basis).
Fairness assessment
A$ per share

Section
Reference

Low

High

Value of MPC Shares before the Proposed Transaction (on a control basis)

8

23.69

28.27

Value of the Merged Group (on a control basis)

9

27.98

33.57

Prem ium/(discount)
Prem ium/(discount) (%)

4.29

5.30

18.1%

18.8%

Note: The value of the Merged Group (on a control basis) consists of the equity value (on a control basis) divided by shares outstanding.

As set out in the table above, the Proposed Transaction is value accretive and compelling for the
existing MPC Shareholders subject to the realisation of the anticipated cost synergies arising from
the combination of the two businesses which are included in our valuation assessment of the
Merged Group (refer to section 9.1.5 for further details).
The comparison on a like for like basis also indicates that no financial benefit is provided to the
Related Parties.
Protection of farm values and global relevance
Global macadamia production is expected to double over the next five years, and the majority of that
growth will be derived from outside Australia. To retain its relevance and influential position within
the global industry, MPC must grow further and increase its scale on a global basis. The Proposed
Transaction provides MPC with an avenue to retain its position and influence within the growing
global industry by securing additional nut supply from Queensland, the industry’s fastest growing
domestic region. The acquisition of PGM, an asset that is well known to MPC, represents a low risk
growth path that provides MPC with significant additional scale, with the Merged Group processing
46% of total processed Australian NIS.
There is also a direct relationship between long term stable macadamia prices and the value of the
grower farms. The Proposed Transaction will allow MPC to continue contributing to the setting of
macadamia (NIS) pricing as a result of the economies of scale and the resulting continued relevance
and influential position within the industry.
4

Efficiencies and cost savings resulting in higher profitability
The Proposed Transaction is expected to result in production efficiencies and other cost savings
which will be beneficial for the Shareholders of the Merged Group and is expected to make the
combined business more profitable. MPC has identified a number of initiatives which are expected to
deliver cost savings of at least $1.45 million per annum within three years from completion of the
Proposed Transaction.
These estimates are based on a detailed review of the potential cost saving areas and a robust risk
assessment as to the achievement of those identified cost savings by Management.
Improved operational flexibility
Management will have greater operational flexibility with nuts able to be directed to where they can
be processed most efficiently. This means that issues such as factory breakdowns or planned and
unplanned maintenance can be catered for within the combined group in a more efficient manner.
There is also the opportunity to establish combined facilities such as storage facilities at central
locations that could serve both processors. This sharing of infrastructure is expected to result in
lower costs on a per unit basis.
Tax status of a co-operative
MPC has co-operative tax status allowing access to TCorp5 loans. The loans provide interest and
principal deductibility for tax purposes and are at overall lower cost of capital. With the merger, PGM
is likely to obtain a co-operative tax status which could result in a lower cost of capital.
Disadvantages
Likelihood of receiving a premium for control in the future
As discussed before, the circumstances of the minority shareholders in relation to the opportunity to
receive a premium for control will not change materially before and after the Proposed Transaction.
MPC’s share register is currently dominated by Zadro and Costi controlling 27.32% and 10.12% of
the issued capital respectively before the Proposed Transaction. If the Proposed Transaction is
implemented, Zadro will increase its shareholding in MPC from 27.32% to 34.43% and Costi from
10.12% to 14.48%6.
Accordingly, even before the Proposed Transaction, it is unlikely control of MPC will pass without the
consent of Zadro and Costi.
However, we note that Zadro currently delivers around 36% of the crop processed at MPC and
PGM. This large amount of crop is critical in relation to security of supply and to provide scale to the
business. Consequently, as a result of the Proposed Transaction, Zadro’s interest as shareholder
and key supplier will be further aligned which should be beneficial for the Non-Associated
Shareholders.

TCorp provides funding to NSW eligible clients.
The voting power after the Proposed Transaction will change from 30.9% to 37.8% for the Zadro entity and from 11.5% to 15.9% for the
Costi entity. Refer to Section 6.1.4 for further detail.
5
6
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Increased level of debt
PGM has a higher level of debt than MPC and thus MPC’s debt will increase. Management is
confident that the level of debt post-transaction is within acceptable limits and manageable within
normal budgetary constraints.
Performance of the Merged Group
Historically, MPC has paid an equity dividend to its shareholders whereas PGM has not due to the
lower level of profitability and the higher capital expenditure and working capital investment to
support the stronger growth in the business.
Non-Associated Shareholders share the risk of the Merged Entity not being able to at least deliver
the synergies and efficiencies incorporated into our valuation assessment. A failure to achieve
targeted synergies may have an adverse impact on the operations and financial performance and
position of the Merged Entity and the dividend per share to the equity holders. However, based on
discussions with the future Management Team of the Merged Entity, they believe this risk is limited
and it is materially mitigated by the collaborative and pro-active steps undertaken by all the
stakeholders involved to ensure a smooth integration process upon completion of the Proposed
Transaction.
Transaction costs
Management of MPC estimates that the transaction costs associated with the completion of the
Proposed Transaction will be approximately A$1.0 million. These transaction costs will most likely be
incurred in the second half of fiscal year 2019. These costs include an A$0.45 million forecast for
stamp duty, which are considered a one-off, but will only be payable if the Transaction is approved.
Other factors
Director’s recommendation
As set out in the Notice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum, at the date of this report, the
Non-Interested Directors of MPC have recommended that Non-Associated Shareholders vote in
favour of the Proposed Transaction subject to no superior proposal emerging and the independent
expert concluding and not changing its conclusion that the Proposed Transaction is fair and
reasonable or not fair but reasonable to Non-Associated Shareholders.

Reasonableness conclusion
Based on the qualitative factors identified above, it is our opinion that the Proposed Transaction is
REASONABLE to the Non-Associated Shareholders.

Overall conclusion
After considering the abovementioned quantitative and qualitative factors, Grant Thornton Corporate
Finance has concluded that the Proposed Transaction is NOT FAIR BUT REASONABLE to the
Non-Associated Shareholders in the absence of a superior alternative proposal emerging.
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Other matters
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has prepared a Financial Services Guide in accordance with the
Corporations Act. The Financial Services Guide is set out in the following section.
The decision of whether or not to vote in favour of the Proposed Transaction is a matter for each
Non-Associated Shareholder to decide based on their own views of value of the Company and
expectations about future market conditions, business performance, risk profile and investment
strategy. If MPC Shareholders are in doubt about the action they should take in relation to the
Proposed Transaction, they should seek their own professional advice.
Yours faithfully
GRANT THORNTON CORPORATE FINANCE PTY LTD

ANDREA DE CIAN

JANNAYA JAMES

Director

Director
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14 February 2019

Financial Services Guide
1

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance Pty Ltd

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance carries on a business, and has a registered office, at Level 17, 383
Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance holds Australian Financial
Services Licence No 247140 authorising it to provide financial product advice in relation to securities
and superannuation funds to wholesale and retail clients.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has been engaged by the directors of MPC to provide general
financial product advice in the form of an independent expert’s report in relation to the Proposed
Transaction. This report is included in MPC’s Explanatory Memorandum.
2

Financial Services Guide

This Financial Services Guide (“FSG”) has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act,
2001 and provides important information to help retail clients make a decision as to their use of
general financial product advice in a report, the services we offer, information about us, our dispute
resolution process and how we are remunerated.
3

General financial product advice

In our report we provide general financial product advice. The advice in a report does not take into
account your personal objectives, financial situation or needs.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance does not accept instructions from retail clients. Grant Thornton
Corporate Finance provides no financial services directly to retail clients and receives no remuneration
from retail clients for financial services. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance does not provide any
personal retail financial product advice directly to retail investors nor does it provide market-related
advice directly to retail investors.
4

Remuneration

When providing the Report, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance’s client is the Company. Grant
Thornton Corporate Finance receives its remuneration from the Company. In respect of the Report,
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance will receive from MPC a fee of A$75,000 (plus GST) which is
based on commercial rates, plus reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses for the preparation of the
report. Our directors and employees providing financial services receive an annual salary, a
performance bonus or profit share depending on their level of seniority.
Except for the fees referred to above, no related body corporate of Grant Thornton Corporate Finance,
or any of the directors or employees of Grant Thornton Corporate Finance or any of those related
bodies or any associate receives any other remuneration or other benefit attributable to the
preparation of and provision of this report.
5

Independence

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is required to be independent of MPC and PGM in order to provide
this report. The guidelines for independence in the preparation of independent expert’s reports are set
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out in RG 112 “Independence of experts” issued by ASIC. The following information in relation to the
independence of Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is stated below.
“Grant Thornton Corporate Finance and its related entities do not have at the date of this report, and
have not had within the previous two years, any shareholding in or other relationship with MPC or
PGM (and associated entities) that could reasonably be regarded as capable of affecting its ability to
provide an unbiased opinion in relation the Proposed Transaction.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has no involvement with, or interest in the outcome of the
Proposed Transaction, other than the preparation of this report.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance will receive a fee based on commercial rates for the preparation of
this report. This fee is not contingent on the outcome of the Proposed Transaction. Grant Thornton
Corporate Finance’s out of pocket expenses in relation to the preparation of the report will be
reimbursed. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance will receive no other benefit for the preparation of this
report.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance considers itself to be independent in terms of RG 112
“Independence of experts” issued by the ASIC.”
6

Complaints process

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has an internal complaint handling mechanism and is a member of
the Australian Financial Complaints Authority. All complaints must be in writing and addressed to the
Chief Executive Officer at Grant Thornton Corporate Finance. We will endeavour to resolve all
complaints within 30 days of receiving the complaint. If the complaint has not been satisfactorily dealt
with, the complaint can be referred to the Australian Financial Complaints Authority who can be
contacted at:
Australian Financial Complaints Authority Limited
GPO Box 3
Melbourne, VIC 3001
Telephone: 1800 931 678
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is only responsible for this report and FSG. Complaints or
questions about the General Meeting should not be directed to Grant Thornton Corporate Finance.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance will not respond in any way that might involve any provision of
financial product advice to any retail investor.
7

Compensation arrangements

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has professional indemnity insurance cover under its professional
indemnity insurance policy. This policy meets the compensation arrangement requirements of section
912B of the Corporations Act, 2001.
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1
1.1

Outline of the Proposed Transaction
Key terms of the Proposed Transaction

The Proposed Transaction will take place by way of the acquisition of 100% of the issued shares in PGM
that are not already owned by MPC, by issuing new MPC shares in exchange for PGM shares. As part of
the Proposed Transaction, MMI will become a wholly owned subsidiary of MPC.
The exchange ratio has been agreed at 1 MPC Share for every 5.359 PGM shares based on the forecast
net asset value per share of MPC and PGM as at 31 March 2019. As a result, a total of 634,415 new MPC
shares will be issued upon completion of the Proposed Transaction.
The Proposed Transaction is subject to a number of conditions, including but not limited to the following:


Approval of all necessary regulatory authorities. We have been instructed that as at the date of the
Explanatory Memorandum, the Company has received confirmation from the Australian Competition
and Consumer Commission that it has no objection to the Proposed Transaction.



MPC Shareholders approval of the following matters which are all interdependent between each
other:

1.2

o

Change of MPC Ordinary Shareholder Class Rights.

o

Amendment of the MPC Constitution.

o

Approval of the Proposed Transaction for the purposes of Chapter 2E of the Corporations

o

Approval of the issue of the new MPC Shares for the purposes of item 7 of section 611 of the

o

The Vendors entering into a standard Supply Agreement with MPC.

Act.

Corporations Act.

Change to MPC Constitution and Shareholders class right

Subject to the Proposed Transaction being implemented, MPC will undertake the following amendments to
the Constitution:


Director Appointment Rights – Each shareholder with entities controlling 11% or more is entitled to
appoint one board representative, with a further board representative for each additional 11% (up to a
maximum of 3 board members). Any increase in the maximum number of directors must be approved
by a Special Resolution of directors. As a result, Zadro will be able to appoint 3 out of seven Directors
following completion of the Proposed Transaction. Costi will be able to appoint 1 out of seven
Directors following completion of the Proposed Transaction.



Maximum Shareholding – Increase the maximum shareholding limit from 30% to 45%.



Disposal of a substantial asset – The disposal of an asset representing more than 20% of net equity
must be approved by a Special Resolution of directors.
11



First right of refusal – Major shareholders who have board representation are to provide the other
shareholders with a first right of refusal to acquire their shares, on the same terms offered by a bona
fide third party, should they wish to dispose of them.
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2
2.1

Purpose and scope of the report
Purpose

Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act
Section 606 of the Corporations Act prohibits the acquisition of a relevant interest in the issued voting
shares of a company if the acquisition results in the person’s voting power in the company increasing from
either below 20% to more than 20%, or from a starting point between 20% and 90%, without making an
offer to all shareholders of the company.
Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act allows the Non-Associated Shareholders to waive this
prohibition by passing a resolution at a general meeting. Regulatory Guide 74 “Acquisitions agreed to by
shareholders” (“RG 74”) and RG 111 issued by ASIC set out the view of ASIC on the operation of Item 7 of
Section 611 of the Corporations Act.
RG 74 requires that shareholders approving a resolution pursuant to Section 623 of the Corporations Act
(the predecessor to Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act) be provided with a comprehensive
analysis of the proposal, including whether or not the proposal is fair and reasonable to the non-associated
shareholders. The directors may satisfy their obligations to provide such an analysis by either:



Commissioning an independent expert’s report; or
Undertaking a detailed examination of the proposal themselves and preparing a report for the NonAssociated Shareholders.

If the Proposed Transaction completes, Zadro will increase its shareholding in MPC from 27.32% to
34.43% and Costi from 10.12% to 14.48%7. Accordingly, the Directors of MPC have engaged Grant
Thornton Corporate Finance to prepare an independent expert’s report stating whether, in its opinion, the
issue of MPC Shares to Zadro as a result of the Proposed Transaction is fair and reasonable to the NonAssociated Shareholders for the purposes of Item 7 of Section 611 of the Corporations Act.
Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act
In addition, Zadro and Costi are considered Related Parties to MPC as they have common directors.
Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act regulates the provision of ‘financial benefits’ to Related Parties of a
public company. Section 208 of the Corporations Act provides that, for the Company to give a ‘financial
benefit’ to a Related Party of the Company, the Company must obtain the approval of Shareholders which
needs to be accompanied by an Independent Expert’s Report forming an opinion on the financial benefit.
Accordingly, the Directors have requested Grant Thornton Corporate Finance to prepare an independent
expert’s report stating, whether in its opinion the issue of MPC Shares to Zadro and Costi represents the
giving of a financial benefit in accordance with Chapter 2E of the Corporations Act.

7 The voting power after the Proposed Transaction will change from 30.9% to 37.8% for the Zadro entity and from 11.5% to 15.9% for the Costi
entity. Refer to Section 6.1.4 for further detail.
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2.2

Basis of assessment

In preparing our report, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has had regard to the Regulatory Guides
issued by ASIC, particularly RG 111, which states that an issue of shares requiring approval under Item 7
of Section 611 of the Corporations Act should be analysed as if it were a takeover bid. Accordingly, we
have assessed the Proposed Transaction with reference to Section 640 of the Corporations Act.
RG 111 states that:


An offer is considered fair if the value of the offer price or consideration is equal to or greater than the
value of the securities that are the subject of the offer. The comparison should be made assuming
100% ownership of the target company irrespective of whether the consideration offered is scrip or
cash and without consideration of the percentage holding of the offeror or its associates in the target
company.



An offer is considered reasonable if it is fair. If the offer is not fair it may still be reasonable after
considering other significant factors which justify the acceptance of the offer in the absence of a
higher bid. ASIC has identified the following factors which an expert might consider when determining
whether an offer is reasonable:


The offeror’s existing entitlement, if any, in the shares of the target company.



Other significant shareholding blocks in the target company.



The liquidity of the market in the target company’s securities.



Taxation losses, cash flow or other benefits through achieving 100% ownership of the target
company.



Any special value of the target company to the offeror, such as particular technology and the
potential to write off outstanding loans from the target company.



The likely market price if the offer is unsuccessful.



The value to an alternative offeror and likelihood of an alternative offer being made.

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has determined whether the Proposed Transaction is fair to the NonAssociated Shareholders by comparing the fair market value of MPC Shares before the Proposed
Transaction on a 100% control basis with the fair market value of the Merged Group Shares after the
Proposed Transaction on a minority basis.
In considering whether the Proposed Transaction is reasonable to the MPC Shareholders, we have
considered a number of factors, including:


Whether the Proposed Transaction is fair.



The implications to MPC and the PGM Shareholders if the Proposed Transaction is not approved.
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Other likely advantages and disadvantages associated with the Proposed Transaction as required by
RG111.



Other costs and risks associated with the Proposed Transaction that could potentially affect the NonAssociated Shareholders.

RG111 requires an independent expert to only conduct one analysis of whether the transaction is fair and
reasonable even if the report has been prepared for reasons other than the transaction being a related
party transaction (e.g. if item 7 of s611 approval is also required). Given that we consider the fair and
reasonable test for control transactions under item 7 of s611 a higher threshold test compared with the fair
and reasonable test for related party transactions, we have only undertaken our fairness and
reasonableness assessment in accordance with item 7 of section 611.

2.3

Independence

Prior to accepting this engagement, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance (a 100% subsidiary of Grant
Thornton Australia Limited) considered its independence with respect to the Proposed Transaction with
reference to RG112 issued by ASIC.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has no involvement with, or interest in, the outcome of the approval of
the Proposed Transaction other than that of an independent expert. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is
entitled to receive a fee based on commercial rates and including reimbursement of out-of-pocket
expenses for the preparation of this report.
Except for these fees, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance will not be entitled to any other pecuniary or
other benefit, whether direct or indirect, in connection with the issuing of this report. The payment of this
fee is in no way contingent upon the success or failure of the Proposed Transaction.
In our opinion, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance is independent of MPC, PGM and its Directors and all
other relevant parties of the Proposed Transaction.

2.4

Consent and other matters

Our report is to be read in conjunction with the Notice of Ordinary Meeting and Notice of Extraordinary
General Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum dated on or around 22 February 2019 in which this report
is included, and is prepared for the exclusive purpose of assisting Non-Associated Shareholders in their
consideration of the Proposed Transaction. This report should not be used for any other purpose.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance consents to the issue of this report in its form and context and consents
to its inclusion in the Notice of Ordinary Meeting and Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting and
Explanatory Memorandum.
This report constitutes general financial product advice only and in undertaking our assessment, we have
considered the likely impact of the Proposed Transaction to Non-Associated Shareholders as a whole. We
have not considered the potential impact of the Proposed Transaction on individual MPC Shareholders.
Individual shareholders have different financial circumstances and it is neither practicable nor possible to
consider the implications of the Proposed Transaction on individual shareholders.
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The decision of whether or not to approve the Proposed Transaction is a matter for each MPC shareholder
based on their views on the value of MPC and expectations about future market conditions, together with
MPC’s performance, risk profile and investment strategy. If MPC Shareholders are in doubt about the
action they should take in relation to the Proposed Transaction, they should seek their own professional
advice.

2.5

Compliance with APES 225 Valuation Services

This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the professional standard APES
225 Valuation Services (“v3”) as issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board. In
accordance with the requirements of APES 225, we advise that this assignment is a Valuation
Engagement as defined by that standard as follows:
“An Engagement or Assignment to perform a Valuation and provide a Valuation Report where the Member
is free to employ the Valuation Approaches, Valuation Methods, and Valuation Procedures that a
reasonable and informed third party would perform taking into consideration all the specific facts and
circumstances of the Engagement or Assignment available to the Member at that time.”
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3
3.1

Industry overview
Introduction

The macadamia nut is a hard-shelled seed, consisting of an edible white kernel, derived from
the evergreen Macadamia trees native to Australia. Between the months of February and
August, mature nuts fall to the ground and are harvested by growers. The two main products
derived from macadamias are NIS and kernel products. Despite being increasingly popular
because of perceived health benefits, macadamias represent just a minor portion8 of world tree
nut consumption.
Global macadamia consumption is on the rise as macadamias are increasingly popular in
countries such as China, Japan and Germany. An upward trend in global macadamia
production can also be observed in both established growing countries such as South Africa
and Australia as well as in emerging regions such as China.
Australia is home to more than 750 macadamia growers and 7.3 million trees on 25,000
hectares, with the Bundaberg and the Northern Rivers regions, along the eastern seaboard of
Queensland and New South Wales, producing 85% of Australian crop. Bundaberg is the
second largest and fastest growing region in terms of macadamia plantings. We have set out
below an overview of key macadamia growing regions and their contribution to Australia’s
annual crop production9.
Australian macadamia production by growing region for 2017

6%

5%

3% 1%

41%

44%
Bundaberg
Gympie
Nambucca

Northern Rivers
Glasshouse Mountains
Margaret River

Source: Australian Macadamia Society, 2018

3.2

Australian macadamia production

Australia is the leading producer of raw macadamia NIS and kernels contributing almost 30%
of the world macadamia production. The Australian macadamia industry continues to grow with
farm-gate value10 more than doubling to $285 million since 2013, translating to around $700

8 International Nut Council 2017/18: macadamias only represent less than 1% of global tree nut consumption. Almonds, cashews, walnuts and
pistachios account for more than 90% of global tree nut consumption as of 2016.
9 Australian Macadamia Society, 2018.
10 Farm gate value is the market value of macadamias minus the selling costs. The farm gate value is usually lower than the retail price due to
storage, transport, marketing costs as well as additional profit margins of retailers.
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million in retail value. The industry has a strong export focus with approximately 70% of total
Australian crop production currently exported11.
The graph below illustrates historical domestic macadamia production. Crop production has
grown steadily since 2013 with a record crop in 2018 of 52,900 tonnes NIS12, driven largely by
productivity improvements such as integrated orchard management and better soil and tree
health resulting in higher yields. Severe weather conditions impacted the 2017 Australian
macadamia crop, decreasing production by circa 12% from the prior year.
Australia’s macadamia production (NIS) and average price
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NIS production 10% moisture
NIS average price, 10% moisture, 33% SKR
Source: Australian Macadamia Handlers Association (“AMHA”), Management, GTCF analysis
Notes: (1) Based on NIS production volume based on shell receipts supplied by the AMHA, which represents 90% of total production in Australia.
(2) 2018 price ($5.60) based on 2018 season MPC’s final NIS price prepared by Management. (3) 2019 Production forecast based on
Management estimates. (4) SKR refers to Sound Kernel Recovery, which is the amount of kernel recovered after cracking.

Macadamias thrive in a subtropical climate without a dry season. Therefore the level of annual
rainfall can significantly affect crop production as macadamias require substantial amounts of
water. More extreme weather events such as floods and droughts represent a serious threat to
the industry as they reduce nut production. Weather conditions ultimately determine the total
produce and thus the total amount of NIS received by macadamia processors.
On a global level, South Africa’s latest 2018 crop forecast is 52.4 Mtpa13, which is broadly
comparable to Australia’s 2018 crop forecast. This is a significant improvement on the previous
two season’s crops, which were severely impacted by a drought period. China has an
estimated 200,000 hectares under production14, which will lead to a further increase in supply
in a few years as their macadamia plantings mature and reach production.
The price of macadamias is the result of several factors. It depends primarily on noncontrollable variables, such as climate, government policies, exchanges rates and global

Australian Macadamia Society, 2018.
Australian Macadamia Society, 2018: 52,900 tonnes in shell at 10% moisture (49,300 tonnes in shell at 3.5% moisture).
13 Macadamias South Africa NPC (SAMAC), 27th September 2018: NIS basis with 1.5% kernel moisture content.
14 Australian Macadamia Society, 2018.
11
12
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supply and demand. If nut prices are high, macadamia processors will have to purchase supply
at higher prices. Processors are not always able to pass on this price increase to their clients,
which will have an impact on the processors’ profitability. More vertically integrated processors
will be less exposed to price changes. Macadamia prices may ease in the coming years as a
result of the increase in supply, depending on the ability to open new markets.

3.3

Demand for Australian macadamia nuts

Australian macadamias are mainly sold as kernels domestically and internationally, with kernel
sales representing approximately 75% of total Australian sales15. Kernels are processed for
snack food lines and as ingredients used in confectionery, cereals, ice cream and bakery
products. Below we have identified several drivers of demand for macadamias.


Health consciousness – The high nutritional profile of macadamias has increased
consumer interest in recent years, despite high price points and availability of cheaper tree
nut product alternatives. Consumption is rising as a result of increased interest in healthy
foods, an increase in awareness of the health benefits of eating tree nuts, as well as the
versatility of nuts (sweet, savoury and snacks). Rising health consciousness and growing
incomes in Asia and the Middle East are forecast to benefit the industry. The rising middle
class in countries such as India and China is also projected to boost demand for Australian
tree nuts in general, and macadamias specially16.



Exchange rates – the value of the Australian dollar against its largest trading partners can
influence the price competitiveness of Australian macadamia exports. A depreciation of the
Australian dollar enhances the price competitiveness of domestic produce in international
markets.



International markets and trade tensions – the industry engages in a high level of
international trade as macadamias only grow in certain climatic regions. Exports are
expected to further grow over the next five years (Australia exported c. 62% to 71% of
Australian macadamias produced over the period 2014 to 2018). At the moment, there are
escalating trade tensions between the United States and China, which may have an
adverse effect on international trade. China introduced additional tariffs on tree nuts from
the United States, including macadamias, which may create an opportunity for the
Australian industry to expand exports to China. Until 2018, there was also a 24% tariff
imposed on Australian macadamia nuts exported to China. However, the new ChinaAustralia Free Trade Agreement facilitated the complete removal of this tariff over the next
five years.

The graph below illustrates historical kernel sales segmented by geographical destination.
Domestic kernel sales rose significantly by 16% in 2018, with 60% of kernels used by the
snack industry. The domestic market and Asia represented 78% of total kernel sales.

15
16

Australian Macadamia Society, 2018.
IBISWorld, Tree Nut Growing In Australia, 2018.
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Australian historical kernel sales – geographical segmentation
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Source: Australian Macadamia Handlers Association, GTCF analysis.
Note: It should be noted that kernel sales to China are artificially low as macadamias are primarily exported to China in NIS.

3.4

Competitive landscape

The macadamia nut processing industry is competitive and has undergone significant
consolidation over the last few years, with many companies increasingly becoming vertically
integrated to increase control over supply and horizontally integrated to foster economies of
scale. In the graph below, we have provided an indicative overview of Australia’s largest
macadamia processing companies.
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Australian macadamia processing companies
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Processing activity
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Source: GTCF analysis
Note (1): Market share is based on 2018 Australian crop production of 52,900 tonnes. Market share of MPC and PGM is estimated based on the
estimated crop production as of March 2019. (2) We have not been able to estimate market share for Nutworks, Macadamia Exports Australia,
Nambucca Macnuts and Pacific Farms. We have excluded Stahmann Farms as it mainly focuses on production of pecans. (3) We note that
Macadamias Direct report a 5,000 tonnes capacity, which does not necessarily mean production. (4) Macadamias Australia harvests 2,000 tonnes
of NIS with their proprietary processing facility. There could be double counting in the estimated processing capacity of Suncoast Gold
Macadamias as they also appear to be processing on behalf of Macadamias Australia.
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In terms of marketing of the macadamias processed, MMI’s main competitor is Green & Gold
Macadamias, one of the largest marketers of processed macadamias in the world. Green &
Gold Macadamias is owned by international macadamia processors including domestic
processors Stahmann Farms Enterprises Pty Ltd17 and Suncoast Gold Macadamias.
We note that large agribusinesses such as Select Harvest, Olam and Webster are more
focused on producing and processing almonds and walnuts in Australia. Competition for MPC
and PGM originates primarily from South African and to a lesser extent Kenyan and Hawaiian
processors. China is also growing significantly as well. Australia currently exports almost all of
its NIS products to China. However, Chinese macadamia NIS production is forecast at nearly
20,000 Mt in 2018/19, double that of the previous year, with plantings estimated at nearly
200,000 hectares notwithstanding the lower expected crop quality and yield. This might result
in reduced Chinese demand for Australian macadamia nuts. Other smaller growing countries
include Brazil, Vietnam, Costa Rica, Guatemala, Tanzania and Malawi.
The South African processing industry is reliant on the Chinese market, as the country primarily
sells a higher percentage of their crop as in-shell due to its limited cracking capacity. However,
Green Nut Farms Company18 recently claimed to have built the world’s largest macadamia
processing facility in South Africa.
Future industry growth will depend on the ability of the Australian macadamia industry to
remain at the forefront of world production. Australian farms and processors have high product
standards with demonstrated capacity to produce consistently superior quality macadamia
nuts. The industry will need to continuously invest to maintain that position.

Stahmann Farms Enterprises Pty Ltd is Australia’s largest producers of pecans.
At an earlier stage, they entered into a joint venture with Suncoast Gold to form Green & Gold Macadamias, which was later joined by Stahmann
Farms Enterprises.

17
18
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4
4.1

Profile of MPC
Business overview

MPC was established in 1983 when several macadamia growers decided to take control of
production and marketing. It initially started with a small processing plant near Lismore. Soon
MPC became the largest macadamia processing company in Australia and the second largest
in the world. At the time it processed 3,000 tonnes of NIS and 890 tonnes of kernel with
revenues of circa A$12 million. In the early 2000’s, the Company invested heavily in factory
expansion and upgrades. In 2004, MPC processed 12,800 tonnes of NIS and 2,700 tonnes of
kernel with revenues of approximately A$56.6 million.
In 2011, MPC established a presence in Bundaberg (Queensland) through acquiring an
interest in PGM and at the same time established a joint venture, MMI, with PGM. In 2012, a
new state-of-the-art factory in Bundaberg was completed for PGM. Three years later, MPC
became the first macadamia processor in the world to successfully install the pasteuriser
technology19, adding to the level of food safety in its processing operations. In 2017, MPC
acquired Agrimac’s macadamia plant, equipment and brands. MPC is still located near Lismore
in the New South Wales’ Northern Rivers Region. The region is known for its quality land,
subtropical climate with dry season and relatively stable seasonal conditions, suitable for
horticultural production of macadamia trees.
MPC is currently the largest macadamia processor in Australia, processing approximately
12,000 tonnes of NIS annually, or close to 25% of Australia’s annual macadamia crop. It is
wholly owned by macadamia growers. The Company owns 50% of MMI and 37% of PGM,
Australia’s second largest processor who owns the remaining interest in MMI.
The Company sells primarily wholesale products, such as macadamia kernels (c. 88% of total
sales20), NIS (c. 10% of total sales), and shells, paste and oils. The macadamia kernel is used
in various market segments including ingredients for chocolates, ice cream, snacks, biscuits,
cakes and more. MPC also provides a range of retail products including packets of raw
macadamias kernel, dry roasted and honey roasted macadamias.
NIS deliveries are received from March to October from circa 340 macadamia growers located
in the Bundaberg region in Queensland and the Northern Rivers and Nambucca regions of
New South Wales. Processing occurs from late March to November. Purchase agreements are
signed initially and NIS pricing is provided to growers at the beginning of each season to
ensure supply.
Products are processed by means of weighing, drying, cracking, sorting, sizing, grading and
pasteurising and are possibly further processed (i.e. dicing, salting or roasting) before being
packaged and stored in cool storage facilities. Processing takes place at the Lismore facility,
which is currently being upgraded to increase the limited NIS drying capacity to improve
efficiencies and expand processing2122. The facility employs approximately 180 staff during

System that uses heat and steam to treat the kernels to reduce microorganisms that may cause food-borne illness.
PGM Financials March 2019, November 2018.
21 Rejected kernels are pressed for oil and sold depending on quality, with the oil processing done offsite in Kingaroy.
22 Significant capital expenditures were spent on drying and processing equipment with processing capacity to be extended to 17,000 tonnes.
19
20
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peak season and 60 staff in off season. The total property consists of 5.76 hectares which
includes a 2.50 hectare processing facility as well as support facilities.
MPC received on average 11,500 tonnes NIS per annum based on the past 4 years and is
projected to receive 13,500 tonnes of NIS for the 2020 season23. The facility currently has a
processing capacity of 15,000 tonnes per annum, with processing capacity expected to
gradually increase to 20,000 tonnes per annum over the next 2 to 5 years. Below we have
summarised historical and forecast production.
MPC’s production summary
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Sources: Management, GTCF analysis
Note: Each year ends on 31 March.

Products are supplied both domestically as well as internationally, with c. 70% of kernel
production exported to Asia, the United States and the European Union. NIS products are
predominantly sold to customers in China.
Business model
MPC is wholly owned by growers. Therefore we consider the Company to a large extent vertically
integrated. The growers supply macadamia produce24 to MPC which processes it into kernels and sells
them to MMI which in turn markets and distributes the kernel products. MMI distributes its profits back to
MPC and PGM25 who in turn distribute a portion of its profits back to growers through NIS supply pricing
increases and dividend payments. Growers sign NIS supply agreements which specify the following key
points:


The grower agrees to sell to MPC the specified NIS produced from the date of the agreement and
MPC agrees to purchase the specified NIS product from the date of the agreement.



Each year MPC will pay to the grower the average selling price per kilogram obtained by MPC for the
finished product after deducting all reasonable expenses and provisions. The payment made to the

Starting March 2019.
Also referred to as NIS.
25 MMI distributes its profits back to MPC as well as PGM, based on their quantity of kernels supplied.
23
24

23

grower will be the price contained in the official price list and payment schedule circulated from time to
time by MPC during the relevant period.
MPC can reject product that does not conform to the minimum standard conditions set out at the



beginning of each season.
MPC also has a supply agreement in place with MMI which specifies the following key points:
Prices are set at the beginning of the season for four different qualities of macadamia kernels.



MPC has an obligation to sell all its kernels, NIS and oil to MMI based on an agreed upon production



and supply forecast.
The net revenue from the sale of kernels by MMI is distributed to MPC in accordance with the



quantity, grade and size of kernel generated and supplied to MMI from its processing plant.
MMI is to oversee all logistics which includes organising contracts with freight companies, resolving



issues and collecting contact details.
MPC is a heavily seasonal business. Macadamia harvesting begins at the end of January and
NIS processing commences in late March and continues through to the end of November. The
business starts selling macadamia kernels in April to May, but inventory levels typically peak in
July26 and subside as processing is reduced and sales ramp up to the end of the fiscal year in
March.
MMI is a macadamia marketing and distribution company, and is the sole purchaser of MPC’s
kernel product. MMI is 50% owned by MPC and 50% owned by PGM, and distributes its profits
back to each entity based on quantity of kernels supplied. MMI does not earn any substantial
profit with kernel pricing set slightly above breakeven after incurring transportation costs and
labour expenses relating to the marketing and distribution process. Additionally MMI’s foremost
assets and liabilities are accounts receivable and accounts payable based on the sale of
macadamia kernels and NIS to customers.

4.2

Financial information

The MPC financial information section, consisting of financial performance, financial position
and cash flows is provided on a parent company basis. It accounts for MPC’s investment in
PGM and MMI at cost on the balance sheet and does not include its proportionate share of
earnings from PGM and MMI on the income statement as these have been separately
considered in our valuation assessment.

4.2.1

Financial performance

The following table summarises MPC’s audited statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period FY15 to FY18, as well as the current year to date.

26

Inventory levels peak later for larger crops.
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Statements of financial performance - MPC - parent

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

A$ '000

Audited

Audited

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Revenue

59,381

71,285

75,261

85,273

41,607

(45,058)

(55,579)

(60,148)

(67,486)

(29,493)
(5,586)

Cost of sales
Employee benefits expenses

(7,508)

(7,127)

(8,089)

(8,885)

Gross profit

6,815

8,579

7,023

8,902

6,529

Gross margin

11.5%

12.0%

9.3%

10.4%

15.7%

Operating expenses

(2,026)

(3,532)

(3,586)

(3,618)

(4,285)

EBITDA

3,283

4,993

3,405

4,617

4,502

EBITDA margin

5.5%

7.0%

4.5%

5.4%

10.8%

Depreciation & Amortisation

(941)

(1,017)

(1,007)

(1,218)

(648)

EBIT

2,342

3,976

2,398

3,399

3,854

EBIT margin

3.9%

5.6%

3.2%

4.0%

9.3%

205

220

(113)

116

24

Net interest (expense) / revenue and other expenses

(689)

(412)

(312)

(267)

(244)

Net profit before tax

1,858

3,784

1,973

3,248

3,634

233

(599)

(144)

(1,003)

(1,148)

Net profit / (loss)

2,091

3,185

1,828

2,244

2,486

Net profit margin

3.5%

4.5%

2.4%

2.6%

6.0%

Other non-operating income

Tax expense

Source: Audited financial accounts FY15-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Note: net profit before tax excludes share of net profits of associates and joint ventures as reported on parent level

We note the following in relation to the above financial statements over the observed period:


Revenues have consistently increased from FY15 to FY18 driven by increased in volumes of nuts
processed. FY18 revenue growth is largely driven by price increases. MPC generated revenue of
A$41.6 million for H1FY19, with revenue expectations for the full FY19 year expected to significantly
exceed FY18 as the majority of sales are yet to occur. We note that given MMI is predominantly a
pass-through entity, the revenue of MPC corresponds substantially to the revenue of MMI for the
share of the products supplied by MPC to MMI.



The raw materials and consumables (also referred to as cost of sales) is mainly in relation to the
purchase of macadamias from the growers. Prices paid to the growers have increased over the
historical period from FY15 to FY18. The gross margin was negatively impacted in FY17 by lower
volume processed and lower quality of the NIS.



Employee benefits have increased by 13.5% in FY17 and 9.9% in FY18 as labour has been added
and wages paid to employees continue to rise over time. This increase in labour costs is driven by
processing more kernels, as opposed to raw NIS products, seasonal quality variations of the supplied
product as well as additional procedures completed to improve the quality of the kernel.

According to Management there are no material normalisations in the abovementioned time period for
one-off or non-recurring items.
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4.2.2

Financial position

The following table summarises MPC’s audited statement of financial position, on an unconsolidated
parent level, for the period FY15 to FY18, as well as the current year to date. The financial position below
is based on the parent-entity accounts so as not to distort the financial position of MPC for its investments
in PGM and MMI.
Statements of financial position - parent
A$ '000

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Audited

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

271

4,052

425

192

832

Trade and other receivables

6,390

2,920

6,035

11,007

6,661

Inventories

7,936

9,583

11,249

11,875

48,901

312

-

-

-

-

61

116

95

83

298

14,970

16,671

17,804

23,157

56,691

2,010

2,010

2,010

2,010

2,010

-

-

400

300

300

10,441

11,083

10,392

11,099

11,869

Current tax receivable
Other assets
Total current assets
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

454

429

501

621

563

Total non-current assets

12,905

13,522

13,304

14,030

14,742

Total assets

27,875

30,194

31,108

37,187

71,433

Trade and other payables

3,597

5,104

2,678

4,836

24,696

Borrowings

1,900

303

3,850

3,995

12,900
943

Liabilities

Deferred revenue

787

884

1,041

943

1,195

1,130

1,176

1,425

828

-

423

4

682

1,103

Total current liabilities

7,480

7,844

8,749

11,881

40,470

Borrowings

1,797

1,212

-

1,475

4,645

94

70

64

57

57

1,891

1,282

64

1,532

4,702

Short-term provisions
Current tax payable

Long-term provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

9,370

9,127

8,813

13,413

45,173

18,505

21,067

22,295

23,774

26,260

Source: Audited financial accounts FY15-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

MPC is a highly seasonal business with significant variation in its cash, receivables, inventories, payables
and borrowings throughout the year. Early in its fiscal year, in April, the business starts to purchase
inventory as the macadamia harvest season begins. This requires MPC to draw borrowings as inventory
levels peak in June and July. As processing is completed and sales are made the borrowings are paid
down over the remainder of the year and inventory levels subside from August to February.


Trade receivables: The balance as of 30 September 2018 is A$6.7 million, which is 39.5% lower than
the balance as of 31 March 2018. This is due to an unusually large month of kernel sales occurring in
the month of March 2018, which typically occurs earlier in the year, increasing the trade receivables
balance. The balance as of 30 September 2018 is 10.4% higher than the closing balance in FY17.
Trade receivables are increasing as sales of processed macadamias are ramping up in the second
half of the fiscal year.
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Inventories: Inventories usually increase at the September month end as the Company nears
completion of processing and has significant stockpiles of product before the sales of the kernels
ramp up in the second half of the fiscal year.



Financial asset investments: MPC owns 50% of the joint venture in MMI, a marketing and sale entity
for its macadamia products. As discussed before, MMI is a pass-through entity and the net assets are
immaterial as at 30 September 2018 as the sale of the kernels is largely undertaken in the second half
of the year. MPC also owns 37% of PGM which is accounted for under both the equity as well as the
cost method. As we disclose the financials on a parent-level basis, we have disclosed the investment
in PGM and MMI on a cost basis, showing the initial investment in PGM of A$2.0 million and in MMI at
A$10,000.



Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”): PPE is largely consistent over the historical period with a 30
September 2018 balance of A$11.9 million which is the value of the processing assets and land and
building that MPC operates in. MPC has begun to add additional processing equipment during the
year to increase production capacity which is expected to continue over the next 5 years.



Trade payables and other payables: Trade payables and other payables consist of trade and NIS
creditors in the amount of A$24.7 million. The driver for the increased trade payables balance as of 30
September 2018 is the increased NIS creditors balance which is paid to NIS creditors in instalments
until fully paid in December 2018.



Short-term provisions: Short term provisions consist of provisions for dividends and employee benefits
relating to accruals for annual leave and long service leave. The balance as of 30 September 2018 is
A$0.8 million.



Interest-bearing liabilities: as summarised below:
Net Debt

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Reviewed

Current borrowings - bank loans

3,995

12,900

Non-current borrowings - New South Wales Treasury Access Finance Loan

1,475

4,645

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

(192)

(832)

Net (cash) Debt of MPC

5,278

16,713

A$ '000

Source: Auditor reviewed financial Report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Note: We have not relied on the debt position as of 30 September 2018 for valuation purposes, as the debt position would be particularly
high compared to the rest of the year with working capital borrowing facilities being extensively drawn upon. Instead we have calculated an
average pro-forma net debt position, excluding the seasonal borrowings. These loans are not used to buy long-term assets or investments
but rather provide working capital to cover a company’s short-term operational needs (i.e. paying NIS creditors in advance).

In relation to MPC’s interest bearing liabilities, we note the following:


The bank loan is seasonal in nature as it typically is paid down by 31 March, when kernel sales
are completed. This is shown in the decreased borrowings balance as at 31 March 2018 of A$4.0
million and 31 March 2017 of A$3.9 million. MPC draws on seasonal working capital debt facilities
to pay growers for the produce they deliver. When the Company sells processed products these
loans are gradually repaid.



The non-current loan balance of A$4.7 million is a NSW Treasury or TCorp access loan with a
facility limit of A$5.1 million.
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4.2.3

Cash flows

The following table summarises the MPC’s audited statement of cash flows for the period FY15 to FY18,
as well as the current year to date.
Statements of cash flow
A$ '000

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Audited

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Finance costs

59,017

74,780

71,994

80,869

50,276

(49,805)

(65,860)

(76,105)

(79,527)

(59,385)

5

15

16

17

4

(689)

(412)

(312)

(267)

(244)

Income tax (paid) or refunded

(252)

161

(636)

(445)

(669)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

8,276

8,685

(5,043)

646

(10,018)

Payments for property, plant and equipment

(1,906)

(2,224)

(317)

(1,925)

(1,417)

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(1,906)

(2,224)

(317)

(1,925)

(1,417)

(6,401)

(2,182)

2,335

1,620

12,075

(288)

(498)

(603)

(574)

-

(6,689)

(2,680)

1,732

1,046

12,075

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Net draw-down (repayment) of borrowings
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(319)

3,781

(3,627)

(232)

639

Cash and cash equivalents start of financial year

590

271

4,052

425

192

Cash and cash equivalents at year end

271

4,052

425

192

832

Source: Audited financial accounts FY15-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

We note the following in relation to the above cash flow statements over the observed period:


The negative cash flows from operating activities in FY17 was largely due to the quality of crop and a
reduction in receipts due to the timing of payments. In YTD FY19, due to the cyclical nature of the
business, MPC has paid a significant portion of suppliers for macadamia NIS deliveries, but has yet to
collect receipts from customers for kernel sales as the majority of sales are completed in the second
half of FY19.



Given the substantial growth achieved by the business over the last few years, the investment in
working capital has adversely affected the generation of large operating cash flows.



Capital expenditures were A$1.9 million in FY18 primarily consisting of sustaining capital expenditures
for processing equipment. In YTD FY19 a portion of the capital expenditure is related to the
expansionary capital to increase production capacity as MPC plans to increase production capabilities
to 17,000 tonnes per annum.
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4.3

Share capital structure

The share capital of the Company is divided into class A shares, ordinary shares and redeemable
preference shares. Please refer to MPC’s constitution for all rights of the different classes of shares.


The holders of class A shares will, amongst other rights, not be entitled to participate in any dividends
declared by the Board and are not able to cast a vote held at the general meeting of the Company.



The holders of ordinary shares will, amongst other rights, be entitled to participate in any dividends
declared and are able to cast a vote at the general meeting of the Company.



The holders of preference shares will, amongst other rights, be entitled to participate in any dividends
declared, but are not able to cast a vote at the general meeting of the Company.

As at September 2018, MPC had 1,922,938 ordinary shares, 252,069 class A shares and 66 preferred
shares on issue.

4.3.1

Top shareholders

The following table sets out the significant shareholders of MPC:
Shareholder structure before Proposed Transaction

MPC
Number of shares

% MPC total

Saratoga (or related entity) shares

594,180

27.32%

Costi shares

220,196

10.12%

Others (growers)

1,360,631

62.56%

Total number of MPC ordinary and class A outstanding shares

2,175,007

100.0%

252,069

11.6%

1,922,938

88.4%

Class A shares
Ordinary shares

Source: Management
Note: 93% of MPC shareholders deliver nut to MPC.

4.3.2

NIS pricing and dividend policy

As MPC is owned by growers, the NIS pricing and dividend policy focuses on returning profits
to the farmers. This is done in two ways; through setting notional prices for NIS deliveries with
farmers at the beginning of each season and providing an additional price increase near the
end of the year to distribute a portion of extra earnings generated above the initial forecast, and
through dividend payments. MPC tends to set NIS notional pricing at the beginning of the
season in the Australian market. The additional price paid towards the end of the season is
typically adjusted to ensure that MPC is a competitive pricing provider to its growers.
The purchase price of the products is based on the volume and quality of NIS provided to
MPC, while the dividend payments are based on the proportion of equity ownership. While the
largest growers, who provide most of the supply, tend to be significant shareholders, not all
growers are shareholders. The following table sets out the last five years of notional prices set,
additional payments and dividend distributions.
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Fiscal Year

Notional Price

Additional Payment

Final Price

A$/kg

A$/kg

A$/kg

Dividend per share $A

FY2014

2.90

0.15

3.05

0.25

FY2015

3.50

0.15

3.65

0.15

FY2016

4.70

0.30

5.00

0.25

FY2017

5.20

0.30

5.50

0.30

FY2018

5.20

0.30

5.50

0.30

FY2019

5.20

0.40

5.60

0.40

Sources: Management, GTCF analysis
Note: Dividends are paid in the year following their declaration.
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5
5.1

Profile of PGM
Business overview

PGM was established at its current site in 2011. The Company is located in the Bundaberg
region in Queensland, situated 300 kilometres north of Brisbane close to developed logistical
hubs and major transport routes including Bundaberg Airport. PGM is the second largest
macadamia nut processor in Australia, processing close to 20% of Australia’s annual
macadamia crop. PGM’s major shareholder MPC holds an interest of 37.0%. The Company
markets its products through their 50% MMI joint venture with MPC.
The Company sells wholesale products, including kernel macadamias (c. 80% of total sales27),
NIS (c. 16% of total sales), and shells, paste and oils. The Company also has a retail
packaging line, which is used for a major Australian supermarket. NIS deliveries are received
from February to October from local macadamia growers. Similarly to MPC, purchase
agreements are signed initially and pricing is provided to growers at the beginning of each
season between macadamia nut growers and PGM to ensure supply.
Processing takes place at the processing facility near Bundaberg, which is currently being
upgraded with capital expended on pasteurising equipment28 and cracking equipment. There
are also plans to expand the limited cool storage capacity in the coming years. The facility
employs 25 full-time staff while seasonal staff peaks at approximately 120 staff. Total property
consists of 6.25 hectares and includes a 3.90 hectare irrigated macadamia orchard that is
currently being operated by the major PGM shareholder (37%) and grower Saratoga
Holdings29. Saratoga Holdings is owned by the Zadro family under executive leadership of
Peter Zadro. Saratoga Holdings also provides seasonal loans to the business.
Products are supplied both domestically as well as internationally, exporting to Asia, the United
States and the European Union. NIS products are predominantly sold to customers in China.
PGM processed on average 10,000 tonnes per annum over the past 4 years and is projected
to process approximately 12,000 tonnes for the 2020 season. PGM was impacted by climatic
events in 2017, with NIS production decreasing to 9,370 tonnes in FY2018 from 10,301 tonnes
in FY2017. The facility currently has a capacity of 15,000 tonnes per annum. Below we have
summarised the historical production.

PGM Financial Forecast for the year ended 31 March 2019 as of November 2018.
Significant capital expenditures have been incurred on pasteurising (Napasol) equipment, which is due to be introduced for the 2019 season.
29 Zadro solely operates the orchard with nil lease income provided.
27
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PGM’s production summary
14,000
11,531

12,000

10,301

Production (tonnes)

10,000

8,894

8,000
6,000

12,000

9,370

6,855
4,376

4,574

2013

2014

4,000
2,000
0

2015
NIS received

2016

2017

2018

2019F

2020F

Average ('16 to '19F) 10,024 tonnes

Sources: Management, GTCF analysis
Note: Each year ends on 31 March.

5.2

Financial information

5.2.1

Financial performance

The following table summarises PGM’s audited statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period FY17 to FY18, as well as the current year to date.
Statements of financial performance - PGM

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

A$ '000

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Revenue

74,950

75,605

40,064

EBITDA

4,101

4,923

2,473

EBITDA margin

5.5%

6.5%

6.2%

Source: Audited financial accounts FY17-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

We note the following in relation to the financial statements over the observed period:


The revenue over the historical period for PGM has increased consistently to FY18, with expectations
for further revenue growth in FY19. Revenue growth has been driven by additional processing
capability as well as rising macadamia prices. Half year results indicated revenue of A$40.1 million
with expectations to surpass FY18 revenue for the full year.



Prices paid to suppliers have increased over the historical period from FY17 to FY18, but as PGM has
been able to sell macadamia kernels at rising prices, the gross margin has improved from FY16 to
FY18. PGM pays to its shareholders the same price that is paid to MPC’s growers.



Employee benefits have increased by 10% in FY17 and 14% in FY18 as labour has been added and
wages paid to employees continue to rise over time. This increase in labour costs is driven by
processing more kernels, as opposed to raw NIS products, seasonal quality variations of the supplied
product as well as additional procedures completed to improve the quality of the kernel.
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According to Management there is one material normalisation in the abovementioned time period, as such
we have provided the details of the non-recurring one-off item below:
Reconciliation to Statutory EBITDA

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

4,101

4,923

3,057

-

-

584

4,101

4,923

2,473

A$ '000
Normalised EBITDA
Non-recurring one-off items1
Statutory EBITDA

In FY19 PGM has incurred one-off compensation payments relating to a quality issue for circa A$0.6
million.

5.2.2

Financial position

The table below summarises PGM’s audited statements of financial position for the period FY17 to FY18,
as well as the current year to date.
Statements of financial position - PGM

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Total current assets

13,627

21,314

50,335

Total non-current assets

13,994

14,105

14,046

Total assets

27,621

35,419

64,381

11,032

18,136

47,424

6,548

5,151

4,281

Total liabilities

17,580

23,287

51,705

Net assets

10,040

12,132

12,677

A$ '000
Assets

Liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Source: Audited financial accounts FY17-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

PGM has a similar seasonality to MPC. We note the following in relation to PGM’s balance sheet as at 30
September 2018:


Working capital: the seasonality for trade receivables, inventory and trade payables at 30 September
2018 is the same discussed in section 4.2.2 for MPC



Equity-accounted investments: PGM’s 50% interest in MMI is accounted under the equity method of
accounting.



Property, plant and equipment: PPE is consistent over the historical period with a balance of A$12.0
to A$14.0 million which is the value of the processing assets and building facility that PGM operates
in.
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Interest-bearing liabilities: as summarised below:

Net Debt - PGM

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Reviewed

Amount due to Saratoga Holdings

1,900

13,400

Bank loan secured

6,681

13,985

Lease liabilities

118

1,584

Loan from shareholders

250

250

8,950

29,219

A$ '000

Current borrowings
Amount due to Saratoga Holdings

2,400

2,400

Bank loan secured

1,665

1,002

Loan from shareholders

750

750

Non-current borrowings

4,815

4,152

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

(287)

(231)

13,478

33,140

Net (cash) Debt of PGM

Source: Audited financial accounts FY18, auditor reviewed financial report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Note: We have not relied on the debt position as of 30 September 2018 for valuation purposes, as the debt position would be particularly high
compared to the rest of the year with working capital borrowing facilities being extensively drawn upon. Instead we have calculated an average
pro-forma net debt position, excluding the seasonal borrowings. These loans are not used to buy long-term assets or investments but rather
provide working capital to cover a company’s short-term operational needs (i.e. paying NIS creditors in advance).

In relation to PGM’s interest bearing liabilities, we note the following:


Total borrowings from Saratoga Holdings increased from A$4.3 million as of 31 March 2018 to
A$11.5 million as of 30 September 2018. The seasonal funding historically provided by
Saratoga Holdings is now provided by NAB.



The majority of the current borrowings from bank loans balance is from NAB in the amount of
A$13.9 million. The NAB loan is seasonal in nature as it is typically paid down by 31 March,
when kernel sales are completed.



The remaining current borrowings is equipment financing in the amount of A$1.5 million and a
loan from shareholders in the amount of A$0.3 million.



The non-current borrowings is from NAB in the amount of A$1.0 million for capital assets and
A$750,000 in shareholder loans.



PGM has borrowed funds from NAB to fund capital expansion as the factory will need to
increase its processing capacity to meet the growing production from macadamia orchards in
the region.

5.2.3

Cash flows

The following table summarises PGM’s audited statement of cash flows for the period FY17 to FY18, as
well as the current year to date.
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Statements of cash flow
A$ '000

FY17

FY18

H1FY19

Audited

Audited

Reviewed

Net cash inflow from operating activities

(942)

1,063

(18,735)

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(2,772)

(1,549)

(1,023)

3,894

360

19,702

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

180

(127)

(56)

Cash and cash equivalents start of financial year

234

414

287

Cash and cash equivalents at year end

414

287

231

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

Source: Audited financial accounts FY17-FY18, year-to-date account from the auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

We note the following in relation to the above cash flow statements over the observed period:


The cash flow from operating activities primarily consists of receipts from customers and payments
made to suppliers. The variance in net cash flows over the period from FY17 to FY18 can be
explained by the timing of receipts and payments in the fiscal year. In YTD FY19, due to the cyclical
nature of the business, PGM has paid a significant portion of suppliers for macadamia NIS deliveries,
but has yet to collect receipts from customers for kernel sales, as the majority of sales are completed
in the second half of FY19.



Capital expenditures in FY17 and FY18 were A$2.8 million and A$1.6 million respectively primarily
spent on expansionary capital expenditures as PGM has invested in additional processing equipment
to be able to increase processing capacity. Additionally in YTD FY19 a portion of the capital spend is
related to expansionary capital for pasteurising equipment.

5.3

Share capital structure

The capital of the Company is divided into the following share classes: ordinary shares, class A shares,
class B shares, class C shares, class D shares and class J redeemable preference shares. However, no
other type of classes, other than ordinary shares, are currently on issue. Please refer to PGM’s constitution
for a full overview of the different rights attached to the various classes of shares. As at September 2018,
PGM had 5,400,000 ordinary shares on issue.

5.3.1

Top shareholders

The following table sets out the significant shareholders of PGM:
Shareholder structure before Proposed Transaction

PGM
Number of shares

% PGM total

Saratoga (or related entity) shares

2,000,000

37.04%

Costi shares

1,000,000

18.52%

Manera

400,000

7.41%

MPC

2,000,000

37.04%

Total number of PGM ordinary outstanding shares

5,400,000

100.0%

Source: Management
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5.3.2

NIS pricing and dividend policy

PGM follows the same NIS pricing model as MPC, with an initial price set early in the fiscal year and an
increase adjustment that follows later in the year. We note that this adjustment has been paid to all
shareholders, but not to all non-shareholder deliverers. This results in both PGM and MPC paying their
shareholders the same price per kg for NIS, however PGM does not distribute dividends to its
shareholders. Please see section 4.3.2 for NIS pricing over the historical period.
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6

Profile of the Merged Group

6.1

Overview

On completion of the Proposed Transaction, the Merged Group will comprise the following:


MPC and PGM’s combined Australian macadamia processing businesses, having strategically located
processing facilities in New South Wales as well as in the fastest growing domestic macadamia
region, Queensland. PGM has a similar processing operation to MPC however PGM has the benefit of
a retail packaging line that is used for a major Australian supermarket.



The Merged Group will consist of a total property of c.12 hectares in both New South Wales and
Queensland, 4.5 hectares of processing facilities in Lismore and Bundaberg, 3.9 hectares of surplus
land in Bundaberg and 3.3 hectares of support facilities in Lismore. The surplus land is currently being
operated by the major PGM shareholder (37%) and grower Saratoga Holdings. Going forward this
land might be used for expansion of current processing facilities.



MPC will significantly grow its asset base, with PGM becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of MPC.
MPC will also acquire the remaining 50% of the issued capital in MMI from PGM, and as such MMI will
also be a wholly owned subsidiary of MPC upon completion of the Proposed Transaction. MMI will
continue to market nuts from both processors.



This Proposed Transaction provides MPC with an avenue to retain its position and influence within the
growing global industry by securing additional nut supply from Queensland as well as providing
additional scale allowing it to continue to influence the orderly marketing and sale of a material portion
of global macadamia crop. This will assist in providing long term, stable and competitive macadamia
prices.



In addition, identified production efficiencies and synergies will most likely deliver lower operating
costs and result in a more profitable Merged Group going forward. Management will also have
improved operational flexibility with nuts directed to where they can be processed most efficiently. A
summary of the potential synergies expected to be realised by the Merged Group is detailed in
Section 9.3.5.

We have set out below the FY18 and FY19 revenue, EBITDA and net assets contribution of MPC and
PGM to the Merged Group (excluding synergies).
FY18 contributions Merged Group
MMI
5%

PGM
45%

FY18
Revenues
A$169.6m

MMI
2%

MMI
1%

MPC
50%

PGM
51%

FY18
EBITDA
A$9.6m

MPC
48%

PGM
34%

FY18
Net Assets
A$34.5m

MPC
64%

Note: based on normalised figures
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FY19 estimated contributions Merged Group

FY19
Revenues

MMI
2%

MMI
1%

MMI
15%
MPC
44%

PGM
39%

PGM
41%

PGM
33%

FY19
EBITDA
MPC
60%

FY19
Net Assets
MPC
65%

Note: based on normalised figures

6.2

Directors and Management

If the Proposed Transaction is completed, two additional directors representing entities associated with the
Zadro Family will be nominated and are expected to join the Board of MPC. Christopher Robert Ford will
continue as Chairman and Mr Larry McHugh will continue as Chief Executive Officer of the Merged Group.
Mr. McHugh is the current Chief Executive Officer of MPC, PGM and MMI.

6.3

Pro-forma balance sheet

The pro forma balance sheet of the Merged Group prepared by Management of MPC is set out below.
Management has made the following adjustments to arrive at the pro forma balance of sheet of the
Merged Group as of 30 September 2018:


Trade and other receivables: This is an adjustment of c. A$14.3 million which includes the elimination
for MPC and PGM's receivables from MMI.



Financial assets: This is an adjustment of c. A$2.0 million which represents the investment in PGM
(37%) and MMI (50%) on a cost basis method. This is excluded because the pro forma balance sheet
is on a combined basis, including the results of PGM and MMI.



Deferred revenue, creditors and accrued expenses: This is the offset to the first adjustment,
representing the reduction in payables to MMI.

Please refer to section 4.11 of the Explanatory Memorandum for further details of the assumptions
adopted.
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Combined statements of financial position

FY19 MPC

FY19 PGM

FY19 MMI

FY19 Adj

H1FY19

A$ '000

Actual, Sept

Actual, Sept

Actual, Sept

Actual, Sept

Reviewed

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories

832

231

2,537

6,661

7,688

17,619

(14,349)

17,619

3,600

48,901

42,182

-

-

91,083

Financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

Current tax receivable

-

-

-

-

-

298

235

306

-

839

56,691

50,335

20,462

(14,349)

113,140

2,010

-

-

(2,010)

-

-

-

-

-

-

300

-

-

-

300

11,869

14,046

61

-

25,976

-

-

-

-

-

563

-

83

-

646

Total non-current assets

14,742

14,046

145

(2,010)

26,922

Total assets

71,433

64,381

20,607

(16,359)

140,062

Other current assets
Total current assets
Financial assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets - software
Deferred tax assets

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (NIS creditors)

24,696

17,036

-

Borrowings

12,900

29,219

-

-

943

768

17,975

(14,349)

5,337

-

-

3,890

-

3,890
1,009

Deferred revenue, creditors and accrued expenses
Other financial liabilities (FEC's)
Short-term provisions
Current tax payable
Total current liabilities
Trade and other payables

41,732
42,119

828

168

12

-

1,103

233

262

-

1,598

40,470

47,424

22,139

(14,349)

95,684

-

-

-

-

-

4,645

4,152

-

-

8,797

Deferred tax liabilities

-

99

-

-

99

Long-term provisions

57

30

-

-

87

-

-

-

-

-

Borrowings

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

4,702

4,281

-

-

8,983

Total liabilities

45,173

51,705

22,139

(14,349)

104,668

Net assets

26,260

12,677

(1,532)

(2,010)

35,395

6.3.1

Net debt position

The pro-forma net debt of the Merged Group is estimated at A$47.3 million as outlined in the table below.
Net Debt

FY18

H1FY19

A$ '000

Audited

Reviewed

Current borrowings - bank loans

12,945

42,119

Non-current borrowings - New South Wales Treasury Access Finance Loan and bank loans

5,890

8,797

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

(2,203)

(3,600)

Net (cash) Debt of Merged Group

16,631

47,316

Source: Management

However, due to seasonality of the business, there is a high degree of variation in the (net) debt balance.
We have not relied on the debt position as of 30 September 2018 (latest actuals) for valuation purposes,
as the debt position would be particularly high compared to the rest of the year with working capital
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borrowing facilities being extensively drawn upon. Instead we have calculated an average pro-forma net
debt position, excluding the seasonal borrowings. We consider those seasonal borrowings as working
capital loans that are used to finance a company’s daily operations.

6.3.2

Dividend policy

The merged entity is expected to issue dividends to the existing ordinary shareholders of MPC, but not to
class A shareholders, consistent with the current Constitution of MPC.

6.4

Shareholding

Set out below is the expected shareholding structure of the Merged Group:
Shareholder structure after Proposed Transaction

Merged Group
Number of shares

% Merged
total

Saratoga (or related entity) shares

967,365

34.43%

Costi shares

406,789

14.48%

74,637

2.66%

Others (growers)

1,360,631

48.43%

Total number of Merged Group's ordinary and class A outstanding shares

2,809,422

100.0%

Manera

Source: Management

Set out below is the shareholding structure of the Zadro and Costi entities, with a breakdown of the
percentage of share ownership and voting power before and after the Proposed Transaction:
Zadro shareholding structure

Number of shares

% of shares

% of voting power

Zadro before Proposed Transaction

594,181

27.3%

30.9%

New shares issued

373,185

Zadro after Proposed Transaction

967,366

34.4%

37.8%

Note: The number of shares in the table above includes ordinary shares, class A and preferred outstanding shares.
Source: Management

Costi shareholding structure

Number of shares

% of shares

% of voting power

Costi before Proposed Transaction

220,196

10.1%

11.5%

New shares issued

186,593

Costi after Proposed Transaction

406,789

14.5%

15.9%

Note: The number of shares in the table above includes ordinary shares, class A and preferred outstanding shares.
Source: Management
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7
7.1

Valuation methodologies
Introduction

As part of assessing whether or not the Proposed Transaction is fair to the MPC Shareholders, Grant
Thornton Corporate Finance has compared:


Fair market value of MPC Shares before the Proposed Transaction on a control basis.



Fair market value of MPC Shares after the Proposed Transaction on a minority basis.

In each case, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has assessed value using the concept of fair market
value. Fair market value is commonly defined as:
“the price that would be negotiated in an open and unrestricted market between a knowledgeable, willing
but not anxious buyer and a knowledgeable, willing but not anxious seller acting at arm’s length.”
Fair market value excludes any special value. Special value is the value that may accrue to a particular
purchaser. In a competitive bidding situation, potential purchasers may be prepared to pay part, or all, of
the special value that they expect to realise from the acquisition to the seller.

7.2

Valuation methodologies

RG111 outlines the appropriate methodologies that a valuer should generally consider when valuing
assets or securities for the purposes of, amongst other things, share buy-backs, selective capital
reductions, schemes of arrangement, takeovers and prospectuses. These include:


The discounted cash flow method and the estimated realisable value of any surplus assets (“DCF
Method”).



The application of earnings multiples (appropriate to the business or industry in which the entity
operates) to the estimated future maintainable earnings or cash flows of the entity, added to the
estimated realisable value of any surplus assets (“FME Method”).



The amount available for distribution to security holders on an orderly realisation of assets (“NAV
Method”).



The quoted price for listed securities, when there is a liquid and active market and allowing for the fact
that the quoted price may not reflect their value (“Quoted Security Price Method”).



Any recent genuine offers received by the target for any business units or assets as a basis for
valuation of those business units or assets.

Further details on these methodologies are set out in Appendix A to this report. Each of these
methodologies is appropriate in certain circumstances.
RG111 does not prescribe any above methodologies as the method(s) that an expert should use in
preparing their report. The decision as to which methodology to use lies with the expert based on the
expert’s skill and judgement and after considering the unique circumstances of the entity or asset being
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valued. In general, an expert would have regard to valuation theory, the accepted and most common
market practice in valuing the entity or asset in question and the availability of relevant information.

7.3

Selected valuation methods

7.3.1

Valuation assessment of MPC on a control basis

In our assessment of the fair value of MPC before the Proposed Transaction, Grant Thornton Corporate
Finance has relied on two valuation methodologies as outlined below:


FME Method: Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has selected the EBITDA capitalisation approach to
assess the fair market value of MPC. We are of the opinion that EBITDA is an appropriate benchmark
to assess the fair market value of MPC as it is not affected by tax planning and accounting policies.
However, in our assessment of the appropriate multiple, we have also considered where MPC and the
comparable companies are in a similar capital expenditure cycle given that the (macadamia)
processing industry is capital intensive with large depreciation charges. We believe that the FME
method is appropriate to value MPC due to the following:
-

EBITDA is a frequently used valuation metric to assess the value of a company irrespective of the
differences in earnings caused by varying capital structures and depreciation and amortisation
policies. As such EBITDA multiples for industrial companies are widely accepted valuation
benchmarks.

-

MPC and PGM are mature businesses with leading positions in their markets and a history of
profitability which is expected to continue in the future.

-

Availability of transactional evidence and listed comparable companies for the calculation and
analysis of implied EBITDA multiples.

-

Investment analysts and other market commentators typically adopt EBITDA metrics to assess
the value of these processing companies.

The EBITDA capitalisation approach involves the following key processes:
-

Selecting an appropriate level of EBITDA, having regard to the historical and budgeted operating
results after adjusting for non-recurring items of income and expenditure, and other known factors
likely to affect the future operating performance of the business.

-

Determining appropriate EV/EBITDA multiples having regard to the trading multiples of
comparable companies and comparable transaction evidence, and the specific circumstances of
the company in question.



Net Asset Approach: we have adopted this asset based approach as cross check to our primary
valuation methodology. This valuation approach is not unusual for capital intensive businesses such
as MPC and PGM. For going-concern companies, the estimated value of the business may be higher
than selling its individual assets, as it does not take into account the goodwill and intangible assets.
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We note that we have not applied the DCF Method in the valuation of MPC and PGM due to the following:



MPC has only provided us with a high-level projections for FY19.
The business has been affected by volatility in the past few years and accordingly we considered it
difficult to forecast with a reasonable degree of certainty earnings and cash flows in the long-term.



In addition, performance is contingent on the processing capability which on itself depends on the
produce received. The forecasts would be subject to a high degree of variation as it is difficult to
forecast future produce which is dependent on external factors such as climatic conditions.

7.3.2

Valuation assessment of the Merged Group on a minority basis

In our valuation assessment of the Merged Group, we have adopted the FME Method as primary and the
Net Asset Approach as cross check as outlined in Section 7.3.1. In our valuation assessment of the
Merged Group, we have also taken into account the fair market value of the identified synergies expected
to be realised by the Merged Group.
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8

Valuation assessment MPC Shares before the Proposed Transaction

8.1

FME Method

Set out below is our valuation assessment of MPC based on the capitalisation of maintainable earnings.
FME Method - valuation summary
A$ '000 (except where stated otherwise)

Section
Reference

Low

High

Assessed maintainable EBITDA

8.1.1

5,000

5,500

Assessed EBITDA Multiple (on a control basis)

8.1.2

Enterprise value (control basis)

8.0x

8.5x

40,000

46,750

Add: Investment in PGM

8.1.3

10,154

12,321

Less: Average net debt over FY19 forecast

8.1.4

(4,000)

(4,000)

46,154

55,070

1,948

1,948

23.69

28.27

Equity value (control basis)
Number of adjusted ordinary shares ('000s) (fully diluted)
Value per share (control basis) (A$ per Share)

8.1.1

8.1.5

Assessed maintainable EBITDA of MPC

The maintainable EBITDA adopted for our valuation is an exercise of judgement that takes into
consideration the following factors:



Historical financial performance of MPC from FY15 to FY18, as discussed in more detail in section 4.
FY19 forecast. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has considered the FY19 forecast for the purpose
of our valuation assessment, however in accordance with the requirements of RG111, we have not
disclosed it in our report as they do not meet the requirements for presentation of prospective financial
information as set out in ASIC RG170. In addition, the FY19 projections contain commercially
sensitive information. In accordance with the requirement of RG111, we have undertaken a critical
analysis of the FY19 forecast before relying on them for the purpose of our valuation assessment.
Specifically, we have performed the following analysis:
-

Conducted high level checks, including limited procedures in relation to mathematical
accuracy.

-

Relied on YTD financial performance up to the end of November (8 months actuals). We note
that most of the costs of the business are incurred in the first part of the financial year.

-

Performed a broad review, critical analysis and benchmarking with the historical performance
of MPC and current trends in the industry.

-

We have held discussions and interviews with the Management of MPC and its advisor.

-

Reviewed key industry risks, growth prospects and general economic outlook.

Our assessment of the maintainable EBITDA of MPC is summarised in the table below which also
provides a benchmark with the historical underlying earnings.
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Future maintainable underlying EBITDA
A$ '000 (except where stated otherwise)

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

Revenue

59,381

71,285

75,261

85,273

Revenue growth

37.6%

20.0%

5.6%

13.3%

Underlying EBITDA

3,283

4,993

3,405

4,617

Underlying EBITDA margin

5.5%

7.0%

4.5%

5.4%

5,000

to

5,500

Grant Thornton adopted Maintainable EBITDA

In our assessment of the future maintainable EBITDA for MPC, we have considered the following key
factors:
MPC’s financial performance increased over FY15 to FY18: revenue has increased over the historical
period from A$59.4 million in FY15 to A$85.3 million in FY18. EBITDA has remained relatively consistent
over the historical period as the business increased pricing paid to suppliers to return profits to growers.
EBITDA is expected to increase in the forecast period and we have taken this into consideration in
assessing our future maintainable earnings. However, at the same time, we have considered the cyclicality
of the industry in which MPC operates and accordingly, we have also considered the average EBITDA
generated over the long term.
Macadamia prices are high, but the future is uncertain: macadamia sale prices have increased from
A$21.70 per kg in FY16 to A$24.70 per kg in FY19, impacting MPC favourably. However, due to the
increase in supply from Australia, South Africa and China the price forecasts of macadamias are uncertain
and prices may reduce.
Processing capacity planned to increase over the next two to five years: MPC is planning to increase its
processing capacity from 15,000 tonnes to 20,000 tonnes in the next few years through additional capital
expenditures on additional equipment. This will increase the volume of macadamias that MPC can process
and in turn its total revenue and EBITDA. However, we have not taken the increased capacity directly into
account in our valuation assessment.
NIS sales to China have decreased in H1FY19: The direct NIS sales to China by MPC have decreased as
of 30 September 2018. Based on discussions with Management, direct NIS sales have decreased as there
is negative sentiment from China about importing NIS as macadamia prices have been high, the Chinese
crop is growing and the Chinese economy is slowing. The future of the direct NIS sales is uncertain as
China will either increase purchases from overseas countries like Australia30, or will continue to rely on its
domestic NIS production. Management has taken a conservative forecast on the direct NIS for the
remainder of FY19.
Vertically integrated, with long term supply: Most of the growers and suppliers of NIS to MPC are also the
major shareholders of the Company. Based on this notion, they have an incentive to continue supplying
MPC to ensure increased pricing and dividend distributions. This will lead to stable long-term NIS supply to
MPC, which reduces the risk of variability in operational profitability due to sufficient volumes for MPC.
Exposure to weather and natural disasters: As the growers are located in one key region, MPC has an
increased risk of weather and natural disaster impact on NIS crop levels, which will impact their supply and
China and Australia are expected to execute their China-Australia Free Trade Agreement which will most likely see the removal, over five years
starting early calendar year 2019, of this 24% Chinese tariff on Australian macadamia nuts.

30
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production levels. In 2017 climatic events negatively impacted crops and reduced supply of NIS, also
reducing production of kernels. As a natural hedge pricing typically increases when there are supply
shortfalls, resulting in a reduced impact on MPC profitability.
Based on the above discussions and a review of the information available, we have assessed a
maintainable EBITDA of between A$5.0 million and A$5.5 million which is mainly based on the long-term
average EBITDA and the FY19 projections.

8.1.2

EBITDA multiple

The selection of the appropriate EBITDA multiples to apply are a matter of judgement and involve
consideration of a number of factors including:


The stability and quality of earnings.



The quality of the management and the likely continuity of management.



The nature and size of the business.



The financial structure of the company and gearing level.



Future prospects of the business.



Cyclical nature of the industry.



The extent to which a premium for control is appropriate.



The asset backing of the underlying business of the company and the quality of the assets.

For the purpose of assessing an appropriate multiple range to value MPC, we have had regard to:


The trading multiples of listed comparable companies which have been attributed by share market
investors.



The multiples implied by recent transactions involving comparable companies.

46

Trading multiples
The following table presents historical and projected EBITDA multiples for a number of listed companies
operating in similar industries given the lack of directly comparable listed peers.

Company

Country

Market

Enterprise

Cap

Value

LTM

Enterprise Value / EBITDA
FY2018

FY2019

FY2020

A$ million

A$ million

Actual

Projected

Projected

Projected

Agriculture processing
Select Harv ests Limited

Australia

John B. Sanfilippo & Son, Inc.

United States

Borges Agricultural & Industrial Nuts, S.A.Spain
Olam International Limited

Singapore

559

617

NA

11.9

10.0

9.1

1,063

1,154

12.9

12.3

11.9

11.4

146

222

20.1

17.3

NA

NA

5,977

15,524

11.1

NA

NA

NA

Wine processing
Australian Vintage Ltd

Australia

139

216

9.3

9.1

8.3

6.9

Delegat Group Limited

New Zealand

927

1,195

13.2

14.0

12.6

11.6

Foley Family Wines Limited

New Zealand

76

92

13.5

14.0

NA

NA

Seafood processing
Huon Aquaculture Group Limited

Australia

414

495

8.4

6.9

6.3

5.5

Tassal Group Limited

Australia

778

896

7.9

9.0

7.7

6.9

Sanford Limited

New Zealand

595

755

9.9

9.4

8.7

8.0

New Zealand King Salmon Inv estments Limited
New Zealand

279

276

NA

11.1

9.7

7.5
8.8

Dairy & Cheese processing
Bega Cheese Limited

Australia

1,076

1,321

12.5

12.0

10.5

Sy nlait Milk Limited

New Zealand

1,604

1,712

13.2

13.0

11.3

8.9

Fonterra Co-operativ e Group Limited

New Zealand

7,281

13,541

11.1

9.8

NA

NA

Inghams Group Limited

Australia

1,738

1,738

9.0

8.3

8.0

7.6

Tegel Group Holdings Limited

New Zealand

413

542

8.2

8.1

8.4

NA

Capilano Honey Limited

Australia

198

209

13.0

12.9

NA

NA

FFI Holdings Limited

Australia

42

43

10.1

10.8

8.5

7.3

Ridley Corporation Limited

Australia

431

479

10.0

8.7

8.0

7.7

Average

11.4x

11.0x

9.3x

8.3x

Median

11.1x

10.9x

8.6x

7.7x

Meat processing

Other processing

Source:
Globaland
and GTCF
GTCF analysis
Source:S&P
CapitalIQ
analy sis
Notes: (1) Market capitalisation as of 1 February 2019. (2) Forecast based on consensus median of all recent broker forecasts, with the exception
of Tegel which uses a forecast as adopted by independent expert Korda Mentha. (3) NA – Not Available.

A brief description of the selected comparable companies is set out in Appendix B.
In relation to the comparability of the above assessed multiples, we note the following key considerations:


We have considered listed companies in Australia and New Zealand and several foreign companies
operating in the agriculture processing industry. We note that the processing companies operating in
various industries not necessarily related to the nut processing industry, but we still consider them
comparable in terms of operations.
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We acknowledge that certain companies will be less comparable due to their geographical presence,
size, operations, vertical integration, financial performance, valuable brands, product offering, industry
characteristics, and position in the respective company lifecycle and growth prospects. Nevertheless,
the trading multiples still provide a suitable reference point for our selected EBITDA multiple range
and direction evidence.



Companies with strong historical financial performance, high growth prospects, large economies of
scale, valuable brands, high degree of vertical integration, or diversification in terms of geographical
presence and product offering, typically tend to trade at higher multiples.



In our view, the Australian and New Zealand based companies are generally considered more
comparable as they are exposed to similar growth drivers, cost structure, client pool, policy changes,
tax/corporate law regime and logistical challenges to MPC.



The EV/EBITDA multiples presented above reflect the value of the underlying companies on a
minority basis and do not include a premium for control.



We consider the seafood processing industry quite comparable to the macadamia processing
industry. This due to similar industry characteristics, such as its control over supply31, high product
prices, growth prospects, increasing level of consumption (i.e. from China) due to dietary habits and
health trends, high levels of global trade and supply-side clustering in certain regions. The industry is
also heavily dependent on external factors such as climatic conditions and disease outbreaks.



The dairy and cheese processing industry is comparable to the extent that companies are often
farmer owned and they operate in an industry which is export focused, based in high rainfall coastal
regions and reliant upon input prices and external factors such climatic conditions. Milk prices have
been on the rise as well due to a global rebalance in supply, notwithstanding the continued increase in
feed prices and low production levels. The dairy industry is significantly larger than the macadamia
industry. In addition, we note that the above mentioned dairy and cheese processing companies are
significantly larger in size.



We consider the meat processing industry less comparable because of the industry growth prospects
are perceived as less favourable. These companies tend to trade at lower multiples.



Companies such as Bega Cheese, Capilano Honey, Tegel and several wine companies have
significant retail divisions with valuable brands. These companies tend to trade at higher multiples.



John B. Sanfillippo & Son Inc. is quite comparable in terms of product and operations. However, the
company is significantly larger, has a more diversified product offering and the company serves
different sales channels including retailers under valuable brands. Profitability is also larger and more
stable over time. Borges Industrial Nuts is also comparable in terms of products and operations, but
recent profitability is depressed resulting in distorted and high valuation multiples.



Overall, whilst none of the peer companies are perfectly comparable to MPC, we believe the selected
comparable companies as a whole provides a good level of guidance for the multiples applicable to
MPC.

Most Australian and New Zealand seafood processing companies engage in farming, harvesting, fishing, processing and marketing of seafood.
The farming or fishing allows seafood processing companies with some control over supply. There are to certain extent vertically integrated.

31
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Based on the comments above, we note the following about MPC:


MPC’s growth is significant with a 5-year historical revenue CAGR of 12.8% from 2015 until 2018 with
profitability being rather stable in this time period. MPC’s historical average EBITDA margin is
approximately 6%, which is considerably lower than the average (c. 12.5%) or median (c. 10%) of the
comparable companies.



MPC operates in a growing industry with the macadamia industry anticipated to continue performing
strongly over the next few years on the back of increasing macadamia consumption. It does operate in
a competitive industry, which is dependent on weather, political and economic conditions.



MPC is currently the largest macadamia processor in Australia, processing close to 25% of Australia’s
annual macadamia crop, and one of the largest processors in the world. Due to its size, it benefits
from economies of scale which is expected to continue going forward.



MPC does not own any valuable retail brands. It primarily sells wholesale products and the retail sales
are limited.



MPC does not own any macadamia orchards and is not involved in the business of growing
macadamias. However, MPC is wholly owned by growers and is able to secure supply of macadamias
as well as able to set prices through its investment in MMI. Therefore, we consider MPC to a certain
extent vertically integrated, despite not owning any macadamia orchards.



MPC’s operates in a global product market. Notwithstanding strong domestic consumption of
macadamia kernels, international trade is increasingly important in the macadamia processing
industry.
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Transaction multiple
We have also considered in the table below historical transactions in the food processing industry:

Date
Target Company
Dairy m anufacturing and processing
Jul-18

Koroit dairy processing facility of Saputo
Dairy Australia Pty Ltd.

Bidder Company

Bega Cheese Limited

Enterprise

Rev

EBITDA

EBIT

Stake

Value

Multiple

Multiple

Multiple

(%)

(A$'m)

(Times)

(Times)

(Times)

100%

250

1.0

NA

NA

Jun-18

St Dav id Dairy Pty Ltd

Longtable Group Limited

100%

15

2.7

9.0

NA

Oct-17

Murray Goulburn Co-Operativ e Co. Limited

Saputo Dairy Australia Pty Ltd.

100%

1,310

0.5

13.1

32.0

Fiv e AM Life Pty Ltd

PZ Cussons Plc

100%

52

2.6

15.2

NA

88%

600

NA

15.0

NA

Chirise Capital (hong Kong) Ltd

100%

70

0.4

NA

NA

Bounty Fresh Food, Inc.

100%

571

0.9

8.1

11.4

100%

387

NA

9.4

10.2

Aug-14
Feb-14
Dec-13

Warrnambool Cheese and Butter Factory
Company Holdings Limited
United Dairy Products Pty Ltd.

Saputo Inc.

Meat manufacturing and processing
Apr-18

Tegel Group Holdings Limited

Oct-16

S. Kidman & Co Ltd

Nov -14

P & M Quality Smallgoods Pty Ltd

JBS Australia Pty Limited

100%

1,450

0.9

9.7

NA

May -16

Patties Foods Limited

PEP Serv ices Pty Ltd

100%

307

1.2

9.4

12.7

100%

201

1.5

12.5

14.0

Hancock Prospecting Pty Ltd; Shanghai
CRED Real Estate Stock Co., Ltd.

Other
Aug-18

Capilano Honey Limited

Feb-18

Birch and Waite Food Pty Ltd

Jan-18

Darrell Lea Confectionery Co. Pty . Ltd.

Nov -17

Peanut Company of Australia Limited

ROC Capital Pty Ltd & Wattle Hill RHC
Fund 1
Blue Sky Priv ate Equity Ltd

80%

63

1.6

13.4

20.8

200

2.5

NA

NA

100%

35

0.7

8.1

14.1

n.a.

1,000

2.0

NA

NA

Quadrant Priv ate Equity Pty Limited;
Quadrant Priv ate Equity No. 6
Bega Cheese Limited
Temasek Holdings (Priv ate) Limited;

Oct-17

Real Pet Food Company

New Hope Group Co., Ltd.; Beijing
Hosen Inv estment Magement, LLP;

Jan-17

Allied Mills Australia Pty Limited

Pacific Equity Partners

100%

455

0.9

10.5

17.4

Apr-16

Botanical Food Company Pty Ltd.

McCormick & Company , Incorporated

100%

150

2.1

12.0

NA

May -15

Real Pet Food Company

100%

410

NA

8.2

NA

Mar-14

Harv ey Fresh (1994) Ltd.

Parmalat Australia Pty Ltd

100%

81

0.6

7.4

NA

Goodman Fielder Limited (nka:Goodman

First Pacific Company Limited; Wilmar

Fielder Pty Limited)

Intertiol Limited

90%

1,851

0.8

7.3

10.0

Average

1.4

10.5

15.8

Median

1.0

9.5

14.0

Apr-14

Quadrant Priv ate Equity Pty Limited;
Quadrant Priv ate Equity No. 4

Source: S&P Global and GTCF analysis

We note the following:



We have only considered control transactions in Australia and New Zealand.
The implied transaction multiples may incorporate various levels of control premium and special
values paid for by the acquirers. In particular, the multiples may reflect synergies paid which are
unique to the acquirers. The multiples may include special value, such as revenue or cost synergies
that only accrue to the specific buyer, leading to a higher multiple being paid.



Several transactions reflect acquisitions of publicly-listed targets with a high level of liquidity in the
company’s stock.
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The transactions observed took place over a longer historical time period. Economic and market
factors, including competition dynamics and commodity prices may be materially different from those
current as at the date of this report. These factors may influence the amounts paid by the acquirers for
these businesses.



The transaction multiples are calculated based on the historical EBITDA of the acquired companies. In
general, forecast profitability is higher resulting in lower forecast valuation multiples.



Companies may have a different financial outlook and growth prospects at time of the acquisition.

Multiple conclusion
Based on the above analysis and below comments, we have selected an EBITDA multiple of between 8.0
and 8.5 times on a control basis for our valuation assessment of MPC mainly based on the following:


Trading EBITDA multiples with a median FY19 trading multiple of 8.6 times on a minority basis,
however several of the comparable companies are significantly larger than MPC.



Historical transaction multiples with a median of 9.5 times on a control basis. We considered that
forecast valuation multiples are generally lower, multiples may reflect a certain degree of special value
and synergies accruing to a specific buyer, some transactions have occurred in different more
buoyant economic conditions and several of these transactions represent acquisitions of large
publicly-listed companies with enhanced liquidity in the company’s respective shares.



Bega Cheese acquired a peanut processing company for c. 8.0 times on a control basis. We note this
(peanut) processing company operates at a smaller scale though. Bounty Fresh Food Inc. recently
acquired meat processor Tegel for c. 8.1 times on a control basis. We note that the meat processing
industry has less favourable prospects, but Tegel was a large publicly-listed company at the time with
valuable retail brands.

8.1.3

Investment in associates and joint venture

MPC owns 37% of PGM, however the EBITDA assessed in section 8.1.1 does not include the pro-rata
contribution from PGM which accordingly has been considered separately.
The valuation of PGM was completed using a FME approach based on the following assumptions:


Assessed maintainable underlying EBITDA between A$4.5 million and A$5.0 million as discussed
further in section 9.1.2.



As PGM is macadamia processing business with similar size and the same marketing and distribution
channel, the same EBITDA multiple range has been applied as for MPC.



We have also added 3.9 hectares of surplus land, currently operated by one of the growers32,
assessed at a value of c. A$180,000.

32

The entities associated with the Zadro Family. This entity is permitted to farm the area at nil rent, so there are no lease payments to normalise.
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Net debt has been calculated based on the average net debt in FY19 forecast, excluding the seasonal
borrowings which are considered part of working capital, resulting in net debt of A$5.5 million.



We have applied to our valuation assessment on a control basis a minority discount of 10% to take
into account that we are valuing a 37% interest in PGM. The low-level of minority discount takes into
account the fact that MPC is substantially able to control PGM based on the common CEO (who is
also the CEO of MMI), several common shareholders and the 50/50 joint venture in MMI.

We have set-out in the table below a summary of our valuation assessment of the 37% interest in PGM.
FME Method - valuation summary
A$ '000 (except where stated otherwise)

Section
Reference

Low

High

Assessed maintainable EBITDA

9.1.2

4,500

5,000

Assessed EBITDA Multiple (on a control basis)

8.1.3

8.0x

8.5x

36,000

42,500

Enterprise value (control basis)
Add: Surplus land

8.1.3

0.18

0.18

Less: Average net debt over FY19 forecast

8.1.3

(5,537)

(5,537)

30,463

36,963

Equity value (control basis)
Minority discount

10%

10%

Equity value (minority basis)

27,417

33,267

MPC's allocated portion (37%) of equity value (minority basis)

10,154

12,321

8.1.3

50% interest in MMI
MPC has a 50% joint venture interest with PGM in MMI, which is accounted for in its audited financial
statements under both the equity and cost method. MMI is substantially a pass-through entity with no or
immaterial assets and profitability. Accordingly, the 50% interest in MMI is already reflected in our
valuation assessment of MPC and PGM.

8.1.4

Adjusted net debt position

As at 30 September 2018, MPC had a net debt position of A$16.7 million. However, we note that MPC is a
seasonal business and during the year the net debt increase materially between May and December to
fund the NIS purchasing in the lead-up to sale of the processed macadamia kernels from October to
March. However this is a seasonal movement that is working capital in nature rather than a reflection of
the average net debt during the year. Based on discussions with the Management of MPC and a review of
the information available, we are of the opinion that the net debt balance should remove the working
capital seasonal loan component and be averaged over the year. Accordingly, we have adopted the
average net debt position of FY19 in the amount of A$4.00 million in our valuation assessment.

8.1.5

Number of shares

MPC has the following securities on issue:


1,922,938 ordinary shares which entitle the holder to participate in any dividends declared and to cast
a vote for ordinary and extra-ordinary resolutions.



252,069 A-class shares which do not carry any dividend rights and they can only cast a vote for extraordinary resolutions. Given that they are not entitled to receive dividends and they cannot vote for
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ordinary resolutions, the value of the A-class shares is limited and we have weighted the total number
of A-class shares at 10% of an ordinary share to calculate the value per share of MPC.


66 preference shares which are entitled to receive dividends and they can only cast a vote for extraordinary resolutions. The total value of the 66 preference shares is negligible and accordingly we have
disregarded them for the purpose of our valuation assessment33.

Accordingly, in our valuation assessment, we have considered a total number of shares of 1,948,84534 as
set out in the MPC share structure summary below:
MPC share structure

MPC

Section

Number of shares

Reference
Ordinary shares outstanding

1,922,938

A

Class A shares outstanding

252,069

GT assessed weighting of class A shares into ordinary shares

10%

Value of class A shares as ordinary shares
Total adjusted number of ordinary shares

8.2

25,207

B

1,948,145

C=A+B

Net Asset Approach

We have calculated the net asset value per share as of 30 September 2018. We have adjusted MPC’s
reported net assets for the following:


Market value of MPC’s 37% interest in PGM.



Replacement value of MPC’s fixed assets based on the value in use methodology as assessed by an
independent valuer3536.

We have set out below a summary of our valuation assessment. For a full overview, please refer to
Appendix D.
Fair v alue adjustments - MPC

Section
Reference

A$ '000
Net asset value as of 30 September 2018

Low

High

Appx. D

26,260

26,260

Appx. D

(2,010)

(2,010)

Appx. D

3,845

4,700

Appx. D

4,911

6,002

33,006

34,952

Fair market v alue adjustments:
Less: Cost based of inv estment in PGM and MMI
Plus: Net asset v alue of

inv estments 1

Plus: Property plant and equipment (related to MPC)2
Adjusted net asset value as of 30 September 2018

Source: Audited financial accounts FY15-FY18 and auditor reviewed report for the half-year ended 30 September 2018, CBRE Valuation Reports
Note: (1) related to 37% fair value adjustments PGM and 50% of MMI; (2) adjusted to replacement value of fixed assets based on the value in use
as assessed by independent valuer CBRE.

If the average dividend per share over the last 5 years of $0.28 per share is capitalised at a discount rate of 9.5% (assessed cost of equity of
12% less perpetual growth rate of 2.5%), the value per preference shares is $2.95 which given a total value of circa $200 when multiplied for the
total preference shares on issue.
34 1,922,938 ordinary shares plus 10% of the 252,069 preference shares.
35 CBRE Valuation Report MPC Page 4, dated 16 August 2018: MPC’s market value in use A$ 17,325,000
36 CBRE Valuation Report PGM Page 4, dated 16 August 2018: PGM’s market value in use A$ 16,500,000
33
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As outlined above, the equity value under the net assets methodology is significantly lower than the equity
value based on the FME methodology. We are of the opinion that this is not unreasonable considering that
the net assets do not reflect the value of the goodwill and other intangible assets of MPC which we believe
are substantial due to the following:


Vertically integrated business: MPC is a vertically integrated business from the growers providing NIS
supply, to the processing of NIS into kernels, through to sale and marketing of final products using the
MMI joint venture. MMI is the world’s largest macadamia marketing company.



Premium price setting: MPC is the largest macadamia processor in Australia and due to its economies
of scale is able to set premium pricing in the market of NIS purchased from farmers.



Strong supplier relationships: The growers of MPC’s NIS supply are also the shareholders of the
company. This ensures that all incentives are aligned and that MPC will continue to have long-term
stable supply of NIS for future processing and sale.



Best in class efficiency and technology: MPC is able to complete the processing of NIS more
efficiently and with a high level of safety, using top quality equipment and industry knowledge. MPC
uses world-first pasteurisation equipment for macadamia processing.
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9

Valuation assessment Merged Group after the Proposed Transaction

In this section of the report, we have estimated the fair market value of the Merged Group after the
Proposed Transaction on a minority basis. In assessing the fair market value of the Merged Group, Grant
Thornton Corporate Finance has aggregated the following:


The market value of the combined operations of MPC and PGM on a stand-alone basis (excluding
synergies).



Value of expected synergies to be realised as a result of the Proposed Transaction.



Other adjustments as set out in the pro-forma balance sheet of the Merged Group.

9.1

FME Method

Set out below is our valuation assessment of the Merged Group based on the capitalisation of
maintainable earnings.
FME Method - valuation summary
A$ '000 (except where stated otherwise)

Section
Reference

Low

High

Assessed maintainable EBITDA

9.1.2

9,500

10,500

Assessed EBITDA Multiple (on a control basis)

9.1.3

Enterprise value (control basis)

8.0x

8.5x

76,000

89,250

Add: Surplus land

9.1.4

0.18

0.18

Add: Net present value of synergies

9.1.5

5,791

6,986

Less: Average net debt over FY19 forecast

9.1.6

(9,538)

(9,538)

72,253

86,698

Equity value (control basis)
Minority discount

9.1.7

Equity value (minority basis)
Number of outstanding shares ('000s) (fully diluted)

9.1.8

Value per share (minority basis) (A$ per Share)

9.1.1

(23% )

(23% )

55,579

66,691

2,583

2,583

21.52

25.82

Maintainable EBITDA of the Merged Group

The following table summarises the maintainable EBITDA of the Merged Group:
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Future maintainable underlying EBITDA
A$ '000 (except where stated otherwise)
Revenue Merged Group1

FY15

FY16

FY17

FY18

111,225

146,534

168,863

169,574

n/a

31.7%

15.2%

0.4%

3,283

4,993

3,405

4,617

5,000

to

5,500

Revenue growth Merged Group
Underlying EBITDA MPC
Grant Thornton adopted Maintainable EBITDA MPC
Underlying EBITDA PGM
Grant Thornton adopted Maintainable EBITDA PGM

4,101

4,923

4,500

to

5,000
9,641

Underlying EBITDA Merged Group1

5,957

8,790

7,617

Underlying EBITDA margin Merged Group

5.4%

6.0%

4.5%

5.7%

9,500

to

10,500

Grant Thornton adopted Maintainable EBITDA Merged Group
Note: (1)
(1) Merged
Merged Group
and EBITDA
EBITDA includes
MMI.
Note:
Group Revenue
revenue and
includescontribution
contributionfrom
from
MMI.

9.1.2

Assessed maintainable EBITDA

When considering the FME of the Merged Group, we have aggregated the assessed maintainable EBITDA
for MPC as set out in Section 8.1.1, and the assessed future maintainable EBITDA for PGM on a standalone basis. In the assessment of the future maintainable EBITDA of PGM, we have had regard to the
following:


Historical financial performance of PGM from FY17 to FY18, as discussed in more detail in Section 5.



FY19 forecast for PGM.



YTD financial performance.



Key industry risks, growth prospects and general economic outlook.

In our assessment of the future maintainable EBITDA for PGM, we have considered the following key
factors:


PGM has experienced significant revenue growth to FY18: PGM only began operating in 2011 and
has grown processing capacity and revenues significantly over the historical period. Based on
management’s projections the business is expecting further growth in FY19. Additionally PGM is
located in the Bundaberg region in Queensland which is identified as the fastest growing region in
tonnes of macadamia produced, producing 41% of all NIS in 2017.



Exposure to weather and natural disasters: PGM is highly susceptible to weather and natural
disasters, which will likely have an impact on NIS crop levels. The supply and production levels and
quality of crop can be significantly reduced for a season, as had occurred in the 2017 season due to
climatic events. As a natural hedge pricing typically increases when there are supply shortfalls,
resulting in a reduced impact on PGM profitability.



Main supplier is local and owner: PGM is vertically integrated with the main grower, Zadro associated
entities, which ensures the business will have constant NIS supply. This reduces the risk of variability
in revenues and EBITDA for PGM.
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Based on the above discussions and a review of the information available, we have assessed a
maintainable EBITDA for PGM between A$4.5 million and A$5.0 million.

9.1.3

EBITDA multiple

In our valuation of the Merged Group we have adopted the same EBITDA multiple range selected for MPC
before the Proposed Transaction of between 8.0x and 8.5x on a control basis given that the operations of
the two companies are similar even if PGM has lower EBITDA, but is a higher growth business. In addition,
we note that whilst it would not be unreasonable to expect the market to re-rate the EBITDA multiple of the
Merged Group compared with MPC on a stand-alone basis given the larger size, enhanced market
positioning and economies of scale, we are of the opinion that these upsides are already captured
separately in our assessment of the synergies.

9.1.4

Surplus land

As set out in Section 6.1, we have added the 4 hectares of surplus land, currently leased to one of the
growers37, assessed at a value of circa A$180,000 to the enterprise value of the business.

9.1.5

Valuation of potential synergies

As set out in the Explanatory Memorandum, the Merged Group should be in a position to realise significant
synergies and cost savings by combining the operations of MPC and PGM. As discussed in the
Explanatory Memorandum, the Merged Group is expected to realise A$1.45 million of annual pre-tax
synergies by combining the operations of MPC and PGM. The synergies and cost savings are expected to
be realised over the next three year period. A brief summary of the potential synergies expected to be
realised by the Merged Group are outlined below:


Production costs: There is a variance in kernel production costs between the two facilities and it is
believed that with knowledge sharing and improvement in efficiencies, savings in production cost will
be fully realised over a three year period.



Reduction in board number: PGM and MPC each have individual board composition, but as the
companies merge the headcount for the combined board will be decreased.



Freight and storage costs: PGM currently uses offsite storage for a portion of its NIS, while MPC
occasionally has additional storage which remains unused throughout the year. Additionally due to the
timing of harvest in Queensland, PGM has additional NIS earlier in the year, while NSW harvests later
and does not receive NIS until later. Based on the size and timing of storage of NIS for both PGM and
MPC, there is an opportunity for load sharing between the two facilities which will result in cost
savings.



Other savings: other cost savings expected to be realised by the greater scale of the Merged Group.

In accordance with the requirements of RG111, we have undertaken a detailed review of the synergies
estimates and underlying assumptions and we have concluded that they are reasonable to be adopted for
the purpose of our valuation. In particular, we note the following:

37

The entities associated with the Zadro Family. This entity is permitted to farm the area at nil rent, so there are no lease payments to normalise.
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We have only included in our valuation assessment those synergies which we consider low risk of
achievement and in accordance with market best practice.



It is expected that the most significant costs savings will be realised over a period of three years which
appears reasonable.



In our opinion and based on a review of the information available, other operational and financial
benefits are expected to arise as a result of the combination of MPC and PGM which are not
immediately quantifiable and have not been included by Management in the estimated potential
synergies.

The Company has also estimated cash implementation and transaction costs to be incurred in FY19,
which have been estimated at approximately A$1.0 million in total. These costs have been included in the
calculation of the net present value of the synergies.
We have assessed the net present value of future benefits arising from the synergies at an assessed
discount rate in the range of 12% and 14%.
Based on the above we have assessed the net present value of the synergies to be in the range of A$5.79
million to A$6.99 million. We note that the EBITDA multiple on a control basis implied in our assessment of
the synergies is between 4.0x and 4.8x which is significantly lower than the EBITDA multiple between 8.0x
and 8.5x adopted to value the existing business of MPC and PGM and it reflects the higher risk attached to
the synergies.
We note that the assessed value of the Merged Group between A$21.52 and A$25.82 per share is
sensitive to the value of the synergies expected to be realised through the Proposed Transaction.
Whilst, we are of the opinion that the synergies assessed are reasonable, we are conscious that this is a
subjective assessment and alternative views could credibly be adopted in relation to amount of synergies.
Accordingly, we have set out in the table below a sensitivity analysis of the value per share of the Merged
Group following the Proposed Transaction in conjunction with different levels of pre-tax synergies between
A$0.73 million and A$2.00 million.
Full synergies achieved per annum (pre-tax) A$'0001

Sensitivity analysis - value of the Merged Group
A$ per share
Merged Group - Low

727

909

20.44

20.71

1,091

1,272

1,454

1,636

1,818

1,999

20.98

21.25

21.52

21.79

22.06

22.33

Merged Group - High
24.56
24.88
25.19
25.51
25.82
26.14
26.46
Note: (1)
(1) Synergies
Synergies per
and
terminal
value
period
where
the majority
of the of
value
the synergies
is created.
Note:
perannum
annumachieved
achievedin inFY22
FY22
and
terminal
value
period
where
the majority
the of
value
of the synergies
is created.

26.77

Whilst Grant Thornton Corporate Finance believes that the annualised pre-tax synergies of A$1.45 million
are reasonable and appropriate to be adopted for the purpose of our valuation, we note that actual results
may be different from those projected as events and circumstances often do not occur as expected and
those differences may be material.

9.1.6

Adjusted net debt position

Assessed at A$9.54 million based on the net debt of MPC (A$4.00 million – refer to Section 8.1.4 for
details) and the net debt of PGM (A$5.54 million – refer to Section 8.1.3 for details).
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9.1.7

Minority discount

Evidence from Grant Thornton Corporate Finance’s and other Australian studies indicates that the
premium for control on successful takeovers has typically been in the range of 20% to 40% in Australia.
Please refer to Appendix C for our premium for control study in Australia.
The minority discount is the inverse of the premium for control38. In our valuation assessment of the
Merged Group on a minority basis, we have applied a minority discount of 23% which the inverse of a
premium for control of 30%.

9.1.8

Shares

The Merged Group will have a total of 2,582,559 shares including 634,415 new shares issued based on
the share exchange ratio of 5.359. The table below sets out a summary of the share structure
MPC share structure

MPC

Section

Number of shares

Reference
Ordinary shares outstanding

1,922,938

A

Class A shares outstanding

252,069

GT assessed w eighting of class A shares into ordinary shares

10%

Value of class A shares as ordinary shares

25,207

B

Total adjusted num ber of ordinary shares

1,948,145

C=A+B

PGM share structure

PGM
Number of shares

Ordinary shares outstanding (less MPC ow ned ordinary shares outstanding)

3,400,000

Share ex change ratio

5.36

New MPC shares issued

634,415

D

Merged Group share structure

Merged Group
Number of shares

Total adjusted num ber of ordinary shares Merged Group

9.2

2,582,559

=C+D

Net Asset Approach

The table below sets out a summary of our valuation assessment of the Merged Group utilising the Net
Asset Approach. For a full overview, please refer to Appendix E.
Consolidated net asset value - MPC - Merged Group
A$ '000
Adjusted net asset value as of 30 Sept 2018
Net present value synergies
Adjusted net asset value including synergies (control basis)
Minority discount
Adjusted net asset value including synergies (minority basis)

Section
Reference
Appx. E
9.1.5

FY19 Sept
Low
43,305

FY19 Sept
High
43,305

5,791

6,986

49,096

50,291

(23% )

(23% )

37,766

38,686

The key underlying assumptions adopted in our Net Asset Approach are outlined below:

38

Minority interest discount = 1-(1/1+control premium)
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The adjusted net asset value of the Merged Group incorporates the fair market value of the fixed
assets of MPC39 and PGM40 as further described in Section 8.2.
The net present value of the synergies, net of transactions costs in the amount of $5.79 million to
$6.99 million has been added to the net assets as this value uplift is not incorporated into the
balance sheets of the two businesses.



A minority discount of 23% as further described in Section 9.1.7.

Similarly to MPC, as outlined above, the equity value under the net assets methodology is significantly
lower than the equity value based on the FME methodology. We are of the opinion that this is not
unreasonable considering that the net assets do not reflect the value of the goodwill and other intangible
assets of the Merged Group which we believe are substantial as discussed in section 8.2.

39
40

CBRE Valuation Report MPC Page 4, dated 16 August 2018: MPC’s market value in use A$ 17,325,000
CBRE Valuation Report PGM Page 4, dated 16 August 2018: PGM’s market value in use A$ 16,500,000
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10 Sources of information, disclaimer and consents
10.1 Sources of information
In preparing this report Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has used various sources of information,
including, amongst others:
 MPC and PGM websites.
 CBRE Valuation Reports for MPC and PGM.
 Shareholder presentation.
 Audited financial statements of MPC, PGM and MMI for FY16 to FY18 and FY19 forecast.
 Minutes of AGM/Board meetings for MPC and PGM from the past 6 months.
 Finance reports/management accounts from the past 6 months.
 Management reports for the last 6 months before the announcement of the Proposed Transaction.
 Monthly accounts for PGM, MPC and MMI for FY16 to FY19.
 Overview of potential synergies.
 S&P Global.
 IBISWorld reports OD5544 and other industry sources.
 Various industry reports.
 Other financial and legal documents.
 Other publicly available information.
In preparing this report, Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has also held discussions with, and obtained
information from, Management of MPC and its advisers.

10.2 Limitations and reliance on information
This report and opinion is based on economic, market and other conditions prevailing at the date of this
report. Such conditions can change significantly over relatively short periods of time.
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has prepared this report on the basis of financial and other information
provided by the Company, and publicly available information. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has
considered and relied upon this information. Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has no reason to believe
that any information supplied was false or that any material information has been withheld. Grant Thornton
Corporate Finance has evaluated the information provided by the Company through inquiry, analysis and
review, and nothing has come to our attention to indicate the information provided was materially
misstated or would not afford reasonable grounds upon which to base our report. Nothing in this report
should be taken to imply that Grant Thornton Corporate Finance has audited any information supplied to
us, or has in any way carried out an audit on the books of accounts or other records of the Company.
This report has been prepared to assist the Directors of MPC in advising the MPC Shareholders in relation
to the Proposed Transaction. This report should not be used for any other purpose. In particular, it is not
intended that this report should be used for any purpose other than as an expression of Grant Thornton
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Corporate Finance’s opinion as to whether the Proposed Transaction is in the best interest of MPC
Shareholders.
MPC has indemnified Grant Thornton Corporate Finance, its affiliated companies and their respective
officers and employees, who may be involved in or in any way associated with the performance of services
contemplated by our engagement letter, against any and all losses, claims, damages and liabilities arising
out of or related to the performance of those services whether by reason of their negligence or otherwise,
excepting gross negligence and wilful misconduct, and which arise from reliance on information provided
by the Company, which the Company knew or should have known to be false and/or reliance on
information, which was material information the Company had in its possession and which the Company
knew or should have known to be material and which did not provide to Grant Thornton Corporate
Finance. The Company will reimburse any indemnified party for all expenses (including without limitation,
legal expenses) on a full indemnity basis as they are incurred.

10.3 Consents
Grant Thornton Corporate Finance consents to the issuing of this report in the form and context in which it
is included in the Explanatory Memorandum to be sent to MPC Shareholders. Neither the whole nor part of
this report nor any reference thereto may be included in or with or attached to any other document,
resolution, letter or statement without the prior written consent of Grant Thornton Corporate Finance as to
the form and context in which it appears.
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Appendix A – Valuation methodologies
Capitalisation of future maintainable earnings
The capitalisation of future maintainable earnings multiplied by appropriate earnings multiple is a suitable
valuation method for businesses that are expected to trade profitably into the foreseeable future.
Maintainable earnings are the assessed sustainable profits that can be derived by a company’s business
and excludes any abnormal or “one off” profits or losses.
This approach involves a review of the multiples at which shares in listed companies in the same industry
sector trade on the share market. These multiples give an indication of the price payable by portfolio
investors for the acquisition of a parcel shareholding in the company.
Discounted future cash flows
An analysis of the net present value of forecast cash flows or DCF is a valuation technique based on the
premise that the value of the business is the present value of its future cash flows. This technique is
particularly suited to a business with a finite life. In applying this method, the expected level of future cash
flows are discounted by an appropriate discount rate based on the weighted average cost of capital. The
cost of equity capital, being a component of the WACC, is estimated using the Capital Asset Pricing
Model.
Predicting future cash flows is a complex exercise requiring assumptions as to the future direction of the
company, growth rates, operating and capital expenditure and numerous other factors. An application of
this method generally requires cash flow forecasts for a minimum of five years.
Orderly realisation of assets
The amount that would be distributed to shareholders on an orderly realisation of assets is based on the
assumption that a company is liquidated with the funds realised from the sale of its assets, after payment
of all liabilities, including realisation costs and taxation charges that arise, being distributed to
shareholders.
Market value of quoted securities
Market value is the price per issued share as quoted on the ASX or other recognised securities exchange.
The share market price would, prima facie, constitute the market value of the shares of a publicly traded
company, although such market price usually reflects the price paid for a minority holding or small parcel
of shares, and does not reflect the market value offering control to the acquirer.
Comparable market transactions
The comparable transactions method is the value of similar assets established through comparative
transactions to which is added the realisable value of surplus assets. The comparable transactions method
uses similar or comparative transactions to establish a value for the current transaction.
Comparable transactions methodology involves applying multiples extracted from the market transaction
price of similar assets to the equivalent assets and earnings of the company. The risk attached to this
valuation methodology is that in many cases, the relevant transactions contain features that are unique to
that transaction and it is often difficult to establish sufficient detail of all the material factors that contributed
to the transaction price.
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Appendix B – Comparable companies trading multiples

Company

Business description

Select Harvest
Limited

Select Harvests Limited engages in processing, packaging, marketing, and distributing edible nuts, dried fruits, seeds, and
a range of natural health foods in Australia. The company operates through Almond Division and Food Division segments.
It also grows, processes, and sells almonds to the food industry from company owned and leased almond orchards; and
provides a range of management services to external owners of almond orchards, including orchard development, tree
supply, farm management, and land and irrigation infrastructure rental, as well as markets and sells almonds on behalf of
external investors. In addition, the company offers health snacks and muesli; and holds a portfolio of approximately 4,000
hectares of company owned, leased, and joint venture almond orchards. It also exports its products to India and China, as
well as rest of Asia, Europe, and the Middle East. The company offers its products to retailers, distributors, and industrial
users under the Lucky, Sunsol, NuVitality, and Soland brands in the retail markets, as well as the Renshaw and Allinga
Farms brands in the wholesale and industrial markets. The company is headquartered in Thomastown, Australia.

John B.
Sanfilippo & Son,
Inc.

John B. Sanfilippo & Son, Inc., together with its subsidiary, JBSS Ventures, LLC, processes and distributes tree nuts and
peanuts in the United States. The company offers raw and processed nuts, including almonds, pecans, peanuts, black
walnuts, English walnuts, cashews, macadamia nuts, pistachios, pine nuts, Brazil nuts, and filberts in various styles and
seasonings. It also offers peanut butter in various sizes and varieties; snack and trail mixes, salad toppings, snacks, snack
bites, dried fruit, and chocolate and yogurt coated products; baking ingredients; bulk food products; sunflower kernels,
pepitas, almond and cashew butter, candy and confections, corn snacks, sesame sticks, and other sesame snack
products; and various toppings for ice cream and yogurt. In addition, the company operates a retail store. The company
provides its products under the Fisher, Orchard Valley Harvest, Squirrel Brand, Southern Style Nuts, and Sunshine Country
brands, as well as under various private brands. It serves retailers and wholesalers, and commercial ingredient and
contract packaging customers through a network of independent brokers, distributors, and suppliers. John B. Sanfilippo &
Son, Inc. was founded in 1959 and is headquartered in Elgin, Illinois.

Borges
Agricultural &
Industrial Nuts,
S.A.

Borges Agricultural & Industrial Nuts, S.A. engages in the growing, processing, and business to business selling of nuts
and dried fruits Spain and internationally. It offers nuts, such as peanuts, almonds, pistachios, walnuts, hazelnuts, cashew
nuts, pecans, macadamia nuts, pine nuts, tiger nuts, and others; seeds that include sunflower and pumpkin seeds; dried
fruits, such as dried apricots, dates, prunes, coconut, papaya, pineapple, cranberries and raisins, and others; and
microwave popcorns that include salad, buttered popcorn, sweet popcorn, and cheesy popcorn products. Borges
Agricultural & Industrial Nuts, S.A. was founded in 1896 and is based in Reus, Spain.

Olam
International
Limited

Olam International Limited engages in sourcing, processing, packaging, and merchandising of agricultural products
worldwide. It operates in five segments: Edible Nuts, Spices and Vegetable Ingredients; Confectionery and Beverage
Ingredients; Industrial Raw Materials, Ag Logistics and Infrastructure; Food Staples and Packaged Foods; and Commodity
Financial Services. The Edible Nuts, Spices and Vegetable Ingredients segment offers cashew, peanuts, almonds,
hazelnuts, pistachios, walnuts, and sesame, as well as beans, including pulses, lentils, and peas. It also provides spices
and vegetable ingredients, such as pepper, onion, garlic, capsicum, and tomato, as well as chilies, cumin, curry powder,
paprika, turmeric, and other spices. The Confectionery and Beverage Ingredients segment offers cocoa and coffee
products. The Industrial Raw Materials, Ag Logistics and Infrastructure segment provides cotton, wood products, rubber,
and fertilizers. It is also involved in the operation of Gabon special economic zone comprising ports and infrastructure
facilities. The Food Staples and Packaged Foods segment offers rice, sugar and sweeteners, grains and animal feed,
edible oils, and dairy and packaged foods. The Commodity Financial Services segment provides risk management, marketmaking, volatility and asset management, and trade and structured finance services. The company was founded in 1989
and is headquartered in Singapore.

Australian
Vintage Ltd

Australian Vintage Ltd produces, packages, markets, and distributes wine. The company operates through
Australasia/North America Packaged, UK/Europe, Cellar Door, Australasia/North America Bulk Wine and Processing, and
Vineyards segments. It offers wine under the Miranda, Nepenthe, McGuigan Wines, Tempus Two, and Passion Pop
brands. The company also owns, operates, manages, and maintains vineyards; and provides packaged and bulk wines, as
well as offers concentrate and winery processing services. Australian Vintage Ltd sells its products through retail,
wholesale, and distributor channels, as well as through regional outlets. The company is headquartered in Balmain,
Australia.

Delegat Group
Limited

Delegat Group Limited produces, markets, distributes, and sells wine. The company markets and sells its products
primarily under the Oyster Bay and Barossa Valley Estate brands, as well as under the Delegat name to retailers and
distributors in the United Kingdom, Ireland, and rest of Europe; and the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand,
and the Asia Pacific. It also provides brand marketing services. The company was formerly known as Delegat’s Group
Limited and changed its name to Delegat Group Limited in July 2014. Delegat Group Limited was founded in 1947 and is
based in Auckland, New Zealand. Delegat Group Limited is a subsidiary of Delegat Share Protection Trust.

Foley Family
Wines Limited

Foley Family Wines Limited, an integrated wine company, produces, markets, and sells wines in New Zealand. It offers
wines under the Grove Mill, Vavasour, Clifford Bay, Dashwood, Goldwater, and Te Kairanga brands. The company also
exports its products. Foley Family Wines Limited is headquartered in Blenheim, New Zealand. Foley Family Wines Limited
is a subsidiary of Foley Family Wines Holdings, New Zealand Limited.
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Huon
Aquaculture
Group Limited

Huon Aquaculture Group Limited, together with its subsidiaries, hatches, farms, processes, markets, and sells Atlantic
salmon and ocean trout in Australia. It also exports its products internationally. The company was founded in 1986 and is
headquartered in Dover, Australia. Huon Aquaculture Group Limited is a subsidiary of Surveyors Investments Pty Ltd.

Tassal Group
Limited

Tassal Group Limited, together with its subsidiaries, engages in the hatching, farming, processing, marketing, and sale of
Atlantic salmon in Australia. The company offers fresh deli, fresh salmon, smoked salmon, and canned salmon. It also
procures, processes, markets, and sells other seafood species. The company provides its products under the Tassal,
Superior Gold, Tasmanian Smokehouse, and De Costi Seafoods brands through retail and wholesale channels. The
company also exports its products. Tassal Group Limited was founded in 1986 and is headquartered in Hobart, Australia.

Sanford Limited

Sanford Limited engages in farming, harvesting, processing, storing, and marketing seafood products. It operates through
Wildcatch and Aquaculture segments. The company catches and processes inshore and deep water fish species, as well
as farms, harvests, and processes mussels and salmon, as well as oyster. It also provides auction, wharf, and research
services; and retails and wholesales seafood. The company operates in New Zealand and Australia; Europe; North
America; Japan, China, Hong Kong, South Korea, and the rest of Asia; Africa; the Middle East; the Pacific; and
internationally. Sanford Limited was founded in 1881 and is headquartered in Auckland, New Zealand.

New Zealand
King Salmon
Investments
Limited

New Zealand King Salmon Investments Limited engages in farming, processing, and selling premium salmon products. It
operates through three segments: New Zealand Retail, New Zealand Foodservice, and Export. It offers whole fresh fish,
pre-cut fillets, portions, and wood roasted and cold smoked products. The company sells its products to chefs, retailers,
and wholesalers under the Ora King, Regal, Southern Ocean, Big Catch Salmon Burley, and Omega Plus brands. It serves
customers in New Zealand, North America, Australia, Japan, Europe, and internationally. The company was incorporated in
2008 and is headquartered in Nelson, New Zealand. New Zealand King Salmon Investments Limited is a subsidiary of
Oregon Group Limited.

Bega Cheese
Limited

Bega Cheese Limited engages in receiving, processing, manufacturing, and distributing dairy and other food-related
products primarily in Australia. The company operates in two segments, Bega Cheese and Tatura Milk. The Bega Cheese
segment manufactures, packages, and sells natural cheese, processed cheese, powders, butter, and branded food
products. The Tatura Milk segment manufactures, packages, and sells cream cheese, commodity powders, butter, and
nutritional powders. The company also operates as a contract packer of natural cheddar and processed cheddar cheese
products for corporations. In addition, it is involved in contract packaging for private proprietary brands, supermarket house
brands, and QSR raw material inputs, as well as products for other dairy companies into their brands. The company also
exports its products to approximately 40 countries across the Middle East, Southeast Asia, North Asia, Central and South
America, and the Pacific Islands. Bega Cheese Limited was founded in 1899 and is headquartered in Bega, Australia.

Synlait Milk
Limited

Synlait Milk Limited manufactures and sells dairy products in China, rest of Asia, the Middle East, Africa, New Zealand,
Australia, and rest of world. It provides nutritional products, including infant and adult nutritional powders; ingredients
comprising whole milk powders, skim milk powders, and anhydrous milk fat; and specialty products, such as lactoferrin.
The company was founded in 2005 and is based in Rakaia, New Zealand.

Fonterra Cooperative Group
Limited

Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited, together with its subsidiaries, collects, manufactures, and sells milk and milk-derived
products. It operates through Ingredients, Consumer and Foodservice, and China Farms segments. The company offers
bulk and specialty dairy products, including milk powders, dairy fats, cheese, and proteins for food producers and
distributors in approximately 140 countries. It also operates 70 Farm Source rural retail stores; and engages in farming of
fresh milk. In addition, the company offers branded consumer products, such as powders, yoghurts, milk, butter, and
cheese; and branded products and solutions for commercial kitchens comprising bakery butter, culinary creams, and
cheeses. It provides its products primarily under the Anchor, Anmum, Anlene, NZMP, De Winkel, Fresh 'n Fruity, Kapiti,
Mainland, Mammoth, Perfect Italiano, Piako, Primo, Symbio, and Tip Top brands. The company has operations in New
Zealand, China, rest of Asia, Australia, the United States, Europe, Latin America, and internationally. Fonterra Co-operative
Group Limited was founded in 2001 and is based in Auckland, New Zealand.

Inghams Group
Limited

Inghams Group Limited, together with its subsidiaries, produces and sells poultry products in Australia and New Zealand. It
offers chicken and turkey products; and stock feed for poultry, pig, dairy, and equine industries. The company was founded
in 1918 and is based in North Ryde, Australia.

Tegel Group
Holdings Limited

Tegel Foods Limited, a poultry producer, breeds, hatches, processes, markets, and distributes poultry products across the
North and South Islands. The company offers fresh and frozen chicken, including meal maker shredded roast chicken,
meal maker smoked chicken, meal maker sliced roast chicken, Kebabs, shredded Italian herb chicken, sweet chilli
shredded chicken, shredded roast chicken, honey cured smoked chicken rashers, honey roast sliced turkey, original
smoked chicken rashers, and chicken luncheons; and hot cooked chicken, sausages, and turkey products. It serves
supermarkets and other retail outlets, as well as foodservice customers. The company was incorporated in 1960 and is
based in Auckland, New Zealand. Tegel Foods Limited operates as a subsidiary of Ross Group Enterprises Limited.

Capilano Honey
Limited

Capilano Honey Limited packs and sells honey under the Capilano brand in Australia and internationally. It also exports its
products. The company was founded in 1953 and is headquartered in Richlands, Australia. As of December 5, 2018,
Capilano Honey Limited was taken private.
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FFI Holdings
Limited

FFI Holdings Limited, a food processing company, engages in the processing, manufacture, packaging, and distribution of
food products in Australia. The company operates through Bakery, Smallgoods, and Investment Property segments. It
offers bakers' jams and fruit fillings for use in bakery products, including donuts, tarts, sponge cakes, and various post bake
applications; fruit mince for use in tarts and slices; patisserie fillings, spreads, and glazes; fresh diced Apple; chocolate and
confectionery products; cake icings, toppings, and decoration items; ice creams and desserts; and bacon and other
processed meat products. The company also provides ready to roll icing and popcorn snack foods for the retail market
under the Nemar, Golden Popcorn, and Orchard Icing brand names. In addition, it processes and packages a range of
products for the home cooking market sector under the Prepact and Snowflake brands; and provides contract packing
services for third party brands. Further, the company owns industrial and commercial property for investment purposes. It
serves bakers and pastry cooks, and supermarkets, as well as ice cream and dairy, confectionery, chocolate, and food
services industries. The company was founded in 1979 and is headquartered in Jandakot, Australia.

Ridley
Corporation
Limited

Ridley Corporation Limited, together with its subsidiaries, provides animal nutrition solutions in Australasia. It operates
through two segments, AgriProducts and Property. The company provides its animal nutrition solutions to food producers in
dairy, poultry, pig, aquaculture, sheep, and beef industries; laboratory animals in the research sector; and the equine and
canine markets in the recreational sector. Its animal meals include meat and bone meal, poultry meal, hydrolysed feather
meal, blood meal, fish meal, and animal fats. The company offers its products primarily under the Barastoc, Rumevite,
Cobber, and Primo brands. It is also involved in the sale of residual properties. The company was founded in 1987 and is
headquartered in Melbourne, Australia.

Source: S&P Global, Bloomberg
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Appendix C – Premium for control study
Evidence from studies indicates that premium for control on successful takeovers has frequently been in
the range of 20% to 40% in Australia, and that the premium vary significantly for each transaction.
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Appendix D – Net Asset Approach MPC before the Proposed Transaction
Statements of financial position

FY16

FY17

FY18

FY19

Audited

Audited

Audited

Audited YTD

Adjustment

YTD, rev .

Cash and cash equiv alents

4,052

425

192

832

-

832

Trade and other receiv ables

2,920

6,035

11,007

6,661

-

6,661

Inv entories

9,583

11,249

11,875

48,901

-

48,901

A$ '000

FY19

Assets

Current tax receiv able
Other assets
Total current assets
Financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

-

116

95

83

298

-

298

16,671

17,804

23,157

56,691

-

56,691

2,010

2,010

2,010

2,010

(2,010)

-

4,272

4,272

Equity -accounted inv estments
Trade and other receiv ables

-

400

300

300

-

300

11,083

10,392

11,099

11,869

5,456

17,325

429

501

621

563

Total non-current assets

13,522

13,304

14,030

14,742

7,719

22,460

Total assets

30,194

31,108

37,187

71,433

7,719

79,152

5,104

2,678

4,836

24,696

-

24,696

303

3,850

3,995

12,900

-

12,900
943

Property , plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

563

Liabilities
Trade and other pay ables
Borrow ings
Deferred rev enue

884

1,041

943

943

-

1,130

1,176

1,425

828

-

828

423

4

682

1,103

-

1,103

Total current liabilities

7,844

8,749

11,881

40,470

-

40,470

Borrow ings

1,212

-

1,475

4,645

-

4,645

70

64

57

57

-

57

Total non-current liabilities

1,282

64

1,532

4,702

-

4,702

Total liabilities

9,127

8,813

13,413

45,173

-

45,173

21,067

22,295

23,774

26,260

7,719

33,979

Short-term prov isions
Current tax pay able

Long-term prov isions

Net assets
Fair value adjustments - MPC

Section
Reference

A$ '000
Net asset value as of 30 September 2018

Low

High

Appx. D

26,260

26,260

Appx. D

(2,010)

(2,010)

Appx. D

3,845

4,700

Fair market value adjustments:
Less: Cost based of investment in PGM and MMI
1

Plus: Net asset value of investments

Plus: Property plant and equipment (related to MPC)

2

Adjusted net asset value as of 30 September 2018

Appx. D

4,911

6,002

33,006

34,952

Note: (1) Related to 37% fair value adjustments of PGM and 50% of MMI. (2) Adjusted to replacement value of fixed assets based on the value in
use methodology as assessed by independent valuer CBRE.
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Appendix E – Net Asset Approach Merged Group after the Proposed
Transaction
Combined statements of financial position

H1FY19

A$ '000

Reviewed

H1FY19

H1FY19

Adjustments Adj. Merged Group

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3,600

-

3,600

Trade and other receivables

17,619

-

17,619

Inventories

91,083

91,083

-

Financial assets

-

-

-

Current tax receivable

-

-

-

839

-

839

113,140

-

113,140

Other current assets
Total current assets
Financial assets

-

-

-

Investments accounted for using the equity method

-

-

-

Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets - software
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

300

-

300

25,976

7,911

33,886

-

-

-

646

-

646

26,922

7,911

34,833

140,062

7,911

147,973

-

-

-

Trade and other payables (NIS creditors)

41,732

-

41,732

Borrowings

42,119

-

42,119

Deferred revenue, creditors and accrued expenses

5,337

-

5,337

Other financial liabilities (FEC's)

3,890

-

3,890

Short-term provisions

1,009

-

1,009

Current tax payable

1,598

-

1,598

95,684

-

95,684

Total assets
Liabilities

Total current liabilities
Trade and other payables

-

-

-

8,797

-

8,797

Deferred tax liabilities

99

-

99

Long-term provisions

87

-

87

-

-

-

8,983

-

8,983

104,668

-

104,668

35,395

7,911

43,305

Borrowings

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Consolidated net asset value - MPC - Merged Group
A$ '000
Adjusted net asset value as of 30 Sept 2018
Net present value synergies
Adjusted net asset value including synergies (control basis)
Minority discount
Adjusted net asset value including synergies (minority basis)

Section
Reference
Appx. E
9.1.5

FY19 Sept
Low
43,305

FY19 Sept
High
43,305

5,791

6,986

49,096

50,291

(23% )

(23% )

37,766

38,686
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Appendix F – Glossary
A$ or $

Australian Dollar

ABV

Asset Based Valuation

AGM

Annual general meeting

AMHA

Australian Macadamia Handlers Association

ASIC

Australian Securities and Investment Commission

ASX

Australian Securities Exchange

CAGR

Compounded Annual Growth Rate

CAPM

Capital Asset Pricing Model

Company, the

Macadamia Processing Co Limited

Corporations Act

Corporations Act 2001

Costi Family

Entities associated with the Costi Family

DCF

Discounted Cash Flow

DCF Method

The discounted cash flow method and the estimated realisable value
of any surplus assets

Directors, the

The Directors of the Company

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

EV

Enterprise Value

Explanatory Memorandum

Explanatory Memorandum issued by Macadamia Processing Co
Limited
Foreign Investment Review Board

FIRB
FME Method

The application of earnings multiples (appropriate to the business or
industry in which the entity operates) to the estimated future
maintainable earnings or cash flows of the entity, added to the
estimated realisable value of any surplus assets

FSG

Financial Services Guide

FYXX

Financial year ended 30 June 20XX

GTAL

Grant Thornton Australia Limited

GTCF, Grant Thornton, or Grant
Thornton Corporate Finance

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance Pty Ltd

Independent Expert

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance Pty Ltd

Management, the

Management of Macadamia Processing Co Limited

Manera Family

Entities associated with the Manera Family

MBV

Market based valuation

Merged Group

The combined entity including MPC, PGM and MMI.

MMI

Macadamia Marketing International Pty Ltd

MPC or the Company

Macadamia Processing Co Limited
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MPC Shares

MPC will issue 1 new fully paid ordinary share in MPC for every 5.359
fully paid ordinary shares in PGM based on the relative net asset
values of MPC and PGM as at 31 March 2019. As a result, MPC will
issue up to a maximum of 634,415 fully paid ordinary shares

MPC Shareholders

Shareholders of Macadamia Processing Co Limited

Mt

Million tonnes

Mtpa

Million tonnes per annum

NAB

National Australian Bank

NAV Method or Net Asset Approach

The amount available for distribution to security holders on an orderly
realisation of assets.

NIS

Nut-in-Shell

Non-Associated Shareholders

Shareholders not associated with Zadro related entities

Non-Interested Directors

Refers to Mr. Ford, Mr. Norval and Mr. Leslie in respect of resolution 2
and 3, and Mr. Costi with respect to resolution 3. Please refer to
Explanatory Memorandum for more information on both resolutions.
Non-Interested Directors are particular directors that abstain from
voting or making a recommendation in relation to resolutions for which
they are interested in the outcome.

NPAT

Net profit after tax

NPV

Net Present Value

NSW

New South Wales

pa

Per annum

PGM

Pacific Gold Macadamias Pty Ltd

PPE

Property, Plant and Equipment

Proposed Transaction, the

The Proposed Transaction, by means of a scrip transaction, whereby
MPC will acquire 100% of the issued shares in PGM that it does not
already own and PGM will become a wholly owned subsidiary of MPC

Quoted Security Price Method

The quoted price for listed securities, when there is a liquid and active
market and allowing for the fact that the quoted price may not reflect
their value

Related Parties

Entities associated with the Zadro and Costi Family

Report, the

Independent Review Report prepared by Grant Thornton Corporate
Finance

RG 111

Regulatory Guide 74: "Acquisitions agreed to by shareholders"
published by ASIC

RG 111

Regulatory Guide 111: "Content of Expert Report" published by ASIC

RG 112

Regulatory Guide 112: "Independence of experts" published by ASIC

Shareholders, the

The holders of fully paid ordinary shares in the Company

Special Resolution

Special Resolutions are needed for certain changes as defined in the
Corporations Act, such as changing the constitution. For a Special
Resolution to pass, at least 75% of the votes cast must be in favour.

t

Tonne

the Vendors

Entities associated with the Zadro, Costi and Manera Family
71

US$

United States Dollar

V3

Professional standards (version 3) on valuations engagements guided
by APES 225 Valuation Services issued by Accounting Professional &
Ethical Standards Board

VWAP

Volume weighted average price

WACC

Weighted Average Cost of Capital

We, us, our

Grant Thornton Corporate Finance Pty Ltd

Zadro Family

Entities associated with the Zadro Family
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Annexure C
Auditor reviewed MPC 30 September 2018 financial statements

Macadamia Processing Co Limited
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General Purpose Financial Report
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22 January 2019

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
As lead auditor for the review of the financial report of Macadamia Processing Co Limited for the half year
ended 30 September 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no
contraventions of:
(i)

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and

(ii)

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the review.

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS

G N Sherwood
Partner
Sydney, NSW
Dated: 22 January 2019
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Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Statement of comprehensive income for the half-year ended 30 September 2018

Notes

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
30 Sept 2017
$
$

Continuing operations
2
Revenue
3
Other income
Raw materials, consumables used and changes in inventories
Employee benefits expense
Storage and transport costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other expenses
Finance costs
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity
5, 6
method

41,607,399
23,996
(29,493,147)
(5,585,594)
(364,138)
(648,102)
(1,662,169)
(243,983)

49,073,691
4,291
(36,073,750)
(4,911,249)
(203,728)
(590,400)
(1,925,487)
(112,573)

(79,134)

(2,031,415)

3,555,128

3,229,380

(1,148,064)

(1,578,320)

Profit for the period

2,407,064

1,651,060

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

2,407,064

1,651,060

Profit before income tax expense
Income tax expense

There was no other comprehensive income for the period under review.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
5

Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2018

Notes

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
30 Mar 2018
$
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other assets
Total current assets

831,528
6,660,832
48,900,946
298,146
56,691,452

192,287
11,007,004
11,875,400
82,634
23,157,325

4,551,187
300,000
11,868,532
562,992
17,282,711

4,630,321
300,000
11,099,227
620,778
16,650,326

73,974,163

39,807,651

7
8

24,696,467
12,900,000
942,925
828,154
1,102,890
40,470,436

4,836,234
3,995,000
942,925
1,424,981
681,848
11,880,988

8

4,645,000
57,343
4,702,343

1,475,000
57,343
1,532,343

Total liabilities

45,172,779

13,413,331

Net assets

28,801,384

26,394,320

Equity
Issued capital
Retained earnings

4,404,013
24,397,371

4,404,013
21,990,307

Total equity

28,801,384

26,394,320

Non-current assets
Financial assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

4

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred revenue
Short-term provisions
Current tax payable
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Long-term provisions
Total non-current liabilities

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Statement of changes in equity for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Preference
shares
$

Consolidated
Balance at 1 April 2017

33

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Total comprehensive income for the period

-

Balance at 30 Sept 2017

33

Balance at 1 April 2018

56

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Total comprehensive income for the period

-

Balance at 30 Sept 2018

56

Ordinary and
A class shares
$
4,403,957

Retained
earnings
$

Total
$

19,754,198

24,158,188

1,651,060
1,651,060

1,651,060
1,651,060

4,403,957

21,405,258

25,809,248

4,403,957

21,990,307

26,394,320

2,407,064
2,407,064

2,407,064
2,407,064

24,397,371

28,801,384

-

4,403,957

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Statement of cash flows for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Finance costs
Income tax paid
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities

30 Sept 2017
$

50,275,765
(59,384,518)
3,620
(243,983)
(669,236)
(10,018,352)

53,656,310
(52,181,289)
4,291
(112,573)
(338,203)
1,028,536

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(1,417,407)
(1,417,407)

(403,127)
(403,127)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net draw-down / (repayment) of borrowings
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities

12,075,000
12,075,000

(800,000)
(800,000)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

639,241

(174,591)

Cash at beginning of the period

192,287

424,620

Cash at end of the period

831,528

250,029

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Notes to the financial statements for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
1 Statement of significant accounting policies
These general purpose financial statements for the interim half-year reporting period ended 30 September 2018 have been
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 134 'Interim Financial Reporting' and the Corporations
Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. Compliance with AASB 134 ensures compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 'Interim Financial Reporting'.
These general purpose financial statements do not include all the notes of the type normally included in annual financial
statements. Accordingly, these financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the annual report for the year ended
31 March 2018.
The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and corresponding interim
reporting period, except for the policies stated below.
a)

Seasonality of operations
The Company’s segment is subject to seasonal fluctuations as with any annual crop. In particular, the harvesting of
macadamia nuts occur primarily from March to October each year and processing from April through to January. The
Company attempts to minimise the seasonal impact by managing inventories to meet demand during this period. Inventories
are then sold down during the second half of the year. This reflects the key selling period for the macadamia products. The
result for the half year is therefore not an accurate indication of the results expected for the second half of the year.
The 2018 season has also seen the Company decrease nut-in-shell sales and increase kernel sales. This has a timing effect
with the former occurring earlier in the season than kernel sales. As a result, revenues for the six months to 30 September
2018 are down on the corresponding period for 2017, however this should be offset by increased sales in the second half.

b)

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.
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Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Notes to the financial statements for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
30 Sept 2017
$
$

2 Revenue
Sale of goods
Contract processing

41,330,797
276,602
41,607,399

48,906,499
167,192
49,073,691

3,620
20,376
23,996

4,291
4,291

3 Other income
Interest
Reversal of overprovision of dividends

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
31 March 2018
$
$

4 Investments accounted for using the equity method
4,551,187
4,551,187

Investments in associates (note 5)
Investments in joint venture (note 6)

4,385,057
245,263
4,630,321

5 Investments in associates
Macadamia Processing Co Limited has a 37% interest in the associate entity Pacific Gold Macadamias Pty Ltd, incorporated in
Australia, which is involved in processing macadamia products.
The Group accounts for its interest in the associate by applying the equity method of accounting.
Consolidated
2018
2017
$
$
Group share of associate's opening net assets as at 1 April
Share of associate profit for the period ended 30 Sept
Group share of associate's closing net assets as at 30 Sept

4,385,058
166,129
4,551,187

3,646,840
1,621,822
5,268,662

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
31 March 2018
$
$

Balance comprises:
Investment at cost
Cumulative share of profits

2,000,000
2,551,187
4,551,187

10

2,000,000
2,385,057
4,385,057

Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Notes to the financial statements for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
6 Joint venture
Macadamia Processing Co Limited has a 50% interest in the joint venture entity Macadamia Marketing International Pty Ltd,
incorporated in Australia, whose principal activity is the sale and marketing of macadamia products.
The Group accounts for its interest in the joint venture by applying the equity method of accounting.
Share of joint venture entity's results and financial position:
Consolidated
2018
2017
$
$
Group share of joint venture's opening net assets as at 1 April
Share of joint venture profit/(loss) for the period ended 30 Sept
Group share of joint venture's closing net assets as at 30 Sept

245,263
(245,263)
-

226,747
409,593
636,340

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
31 March 2018
$
$

Balance comprises:
Investment at cost
Share of profits limited to investment

10,000
(10,000)
-

10,000
235,263
245,263

Consolidated
30 Sept 2018
31 March 2018
$
$

7 Trade and other payables
Current payables - detailed table
Unsecured liabilities
Trade payables
Sundry payables and accrued expenses

24,250,782
445,685
24,696,467

4,486,773
349,461
4,836,234

8 Borrowings
30 Sept 2018
$

CURRENT
Secured liabilities
Bank loans (i)
NON CURRENT
Secured liabilities
New South Wales Treasury Access Finance Loan - Non
Total
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30 Mar 2018
$

12,900,000
12,900,000

3,995,000
3,995,000

4,645,000
4,645,000

1,475,000
1,475,000

Macadamia Processing Co Limited
ABN: 93 002 607 972

Notes to the financial statements for the half-year ended 30 September 2018
9 Events after the balance sheet date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

10 Group details
The registered office and the principal place of business of the Group is:
Macadamia Processing Co Limited
2 Cowlong Road
Alphadale NSW 2480
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22 January 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
MACADAMIA PROCESSING CO LIMITED
Report on the Half-Year Financial Report
We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report of Macadamia Processing Co Limited which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the half-year ended on that
date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the halfyear end or from time to time during the half-year.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Half-Year Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year financial report based on our review. We
conducted our review in accordance with Auditing Standard on Review Engagements ASRE 2410 Review of a
Financial Report Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, in order to state whether, on the basis of
the procedures described, we have become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the financial report
is not in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including: giving a true and fair view of the consolidated
entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2017 and its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and
complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Regulations
2001. As the auditor of Macadamia Processing Co Limited, ASRE 2410 requires that we comply with the ethical
requirements relevant to the audit of the annual financial report.
A review of a half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially
less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and consequently does
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
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Independence
In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of Macadamia Processing Co Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the
time of this auditor's review report.
Conclusion
Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe that
the half-year financial report of Macadamia Processing Co Limited is not in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 including:
(a)

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 September 2018 and of
its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and

(b)

complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and Corporations Regulations
2001.

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS

G N Sherwood
Partner
Sydney, NSW
Dated: 22 January 2019
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Macadamia Processing Co. Limited
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